
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNCIL 
30 SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Council - 30 September 2020



 

 
 

 
Oaklands Road  
Haywards Heath  
West Sussex  
RH16 1SS 

 
Switchboard:  01444 458166 

 
DX 300320 Haywards Heath 1 

www.midsussex.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Working together for a better Mid Sussex 

 
 

 
22 September 2020 

 

Unless a majority of the Council resolve to extend the meeting before 9.00 pm it will 
automatically end at 9.00 pm in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 17.2. 

 
New regulations came into effect on 4 April 2020 to allow Councils to hold meetings 
remotely via electronic means. As such, Council and Committee meetings will occur with 
appropriate Councillors participating via a remote video link, and public access via a live 
stream video through the Mid Sussex District Council’s YouTube channel.  
 
 
To all Members of the Council, 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the MID SUSSEX DISTRICT COUNCIL to be 
held VIA REMOTE VIDEO LINK on WEDNESDAY, 30TH SEPTEMBER, 2020 at 6.00 pm to 
transact the following business: 
 

Yours sincerely, 
 

KATHRYN HALL 
Chief Executive 

 

 

  Pages 
 

1.   Roll Call and Virtual Meeting Explanation. 
 

 

2.   Opening Prayer 
 

 

3.   To receive questions from members of the public pursuant to 
Council Procedure Rule 9. 
 

 

4.   To confirm Minutes of the meeting of Council held on 19 August 
2020. 
 

9 - 16 

5.   To receive declarations of Interest from Members in respect of 
any matter on the Agenda 
 

 

6.   To consider any items that the Chairman of the Council agrees 
to take as urgent business. 
 

 

7.   Chairman's Announcements 
 

 

Council - 30 September 2020

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.youtube.com%2Fchannel%2FUCW9I9y-TZXZs6jOFmOgiPyQ&data=02%7C01%7CLucinda.Joyce%40midsussex.gov.uk%7Cff0a525f3ac1490a65a808d7f294066b%7C248de4f9d13548cca4c8babd7e9e8703%7C0%7C0%7C637244589883714469&sdata=xlpzAC8QpPf5T9JSE0HB08wH%2F2KckWDWT20%2FuqJujpo%3D&reserved=0


 
 

8.   Revised Corporate Plan 2020/21. 
 

17 - 102 

9.   Programme of Meetings 2020/21. 
 

103 - 106 

10.   Proposed Toilet Provision on Lindfield Common. 
 

107 - 124 

11.   Recommendations from Cabinet held on 14 September 2020. 
 

125 - 126 

12.   To receive the Leader's Report 
 

 

13.   Report of Cabinet Members, including questions pursuant to 
Council Procedure Rule 10.1 
 

 

14.   Motions on Notice 
 

 

 MOTION A:  MODERN SLAVERY 

Proposed by:   Cllr Norman Webster  

Seconded by:   Cllr Gary Marsh 

 

Mid Sussex District Council notes that:   

 Though slavery was abolished in the UK in 1833, there 
are more slaves today than ever before in human 
history. 

 Modern Slavery is happening nationwide. Traffickers and 
slave masters use whatever means they have at their 
disposal to coerce, deceive and force individuals into a 
life of abuse, servitude and inhumane treatment. This 
can include sexual and criminal exploitation. 

 Councils have an important role to play in ensuring their 
contracts and supplies don't contribute to modern day 
slavery and exploitation.  

 The council is part of the Sussex Anti-Slavery Network, 
which provides a framework for bringing together all the 
organisations across Sussex who have a part to play in 
the fight against Modern Slavery. 

 The Network is driving efforts to ensure that partners in 
Sussex support medium and long-term plans towards 
the eradication of slavery and exploitation in Sussex.  

 
This Council believes that:   

 Action needs to be taken to raise awareness of modern 
slavery and the fact that it is happening all over the UK. 

 Mid Sussex District Council as part of Local Government 

and as an employer, commissioner and contractor of 

other bodies has a responsibility to take a robust 

approach to slavery and human trafficking.  

This Council resolves to:  

 Adopt a County wide Modern Slavery Pledge for this 

year’s Anti-Slavery Day on the 18th October 2020.  

 Work proactively with national and local government, law 

enforcement agencies, business, the community and 

voluntary sector, faith bodies and our local communities 

 

Council - 30 September 2020



 
 

to:  

- Demonstrate strong leadership for anti-slavery 

initiatives; 

- Raise awareness amongst our staff, associates and the 

people we service on a daily basis; 

- Train our staff to recognise and respond appropriately to 

potential signs of slavery; 

- Share intelligence and information to help detect slavery 

and ensure it cannot take root; 

- Support victims and survivors in our communities; 

- Remove slave-based labour from our supply chains; 

- Contribute to building a prosperous and slavery-free 

economy. 
 

 

MOTION B:  GOVERNMENT PLANNING CONSULTATIONS  

 

Proposed by:    Cllr Simon Hicks 

Seconded by:   Cllr Sue Hatton 

 

This Council notes: 

 

a. The publication by Government of ‘Changes to the 

Current Planning System’ and ‘Planning for the Future’ 

on 6 August 2020. 

b. That the vast majority of planning applications are given 

the go ahead by local authority planning committees, 

with permission granted to around 9 out of 10 

applications. 

c. That research by the Local Government Association has 

said that there are existing planning permissions for 

more than one million homes that have not yet been 

started. 

d. That the LGA has also raised concerns that the 

proposed algorithm that will set housing targets will see 

a disproportionate increase in the South and in rural 

areas of England. 

e. That on 7th September in the House of Commons, 

Andrew Griffith, MP for Arundel and South Downs 

described how the algorithm ignores areas of land that 

are prohibited from development such as National Parks 

and AONBs, forcing unrealistic amounts of development 

to be concentrated in the remaining unprotected land, 

citing Mid Sussex as a district that is especially 

vulnerable in this respect. 

f. The proposals include restructuring of the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and scrapping site specific 

S106 contributions to be replaced by a charge on 

development value above a certain threshold with a 

nationally set one size fits all rate called the 

Council - 30 September 2020



 
 

Infrastructure Levy. 

g. That the proposals only seek affordable housing on 

developments over 40 -units which on the Governments 

own figures could reduce the number of new houses 

from this source by up to 20%,  and for affordable 

housing  provided from the new Infrastructure Levy to 

focus on discounted housing rather than social housing 

for rent. 

 

This Council is concerned that the Planning White Paper – 

Planning for the Future proposals seek to: 

 

h. Introduce a zone-based system, replacing the current 

system where people get two chances to be consulted, 

firstly on development principles and secondly when a 

planning application is submitted.  

i. Reduce or remove the right of residents to object to 

applications near them and grant automatic rights for 

developers to build on land identified as ‘for growth’. 

 

This Council Believes: 

 

j. That whilst not perfect, existing planning procedures, as 

currently administered by the District Council allow for 

local democratic control over future development and 

give local people some say in planning proposals that 

affect them. 

k. That proposals for automatic rights to build in ‘growth’ 

areas, and increased permitted development rights, risk 

unregulated growth and unsustainable communities. 

l. That local communities must be in the driving seat on 

shaping the future of their neighbourhoods, and local 

determination of the planning framework and planning 

applications play an important part in this process. 

m. That the new more prescriptive housing targets are likely 

to mean at least a 35% increase in the target for Mid 

Sussex when the existing target is already challenging 

and will take no account of local constraints such as 

national park boundaries and the viability of 

developments in rural areas and resultant damage to 

biodiversity. 

n. That the proposed 40-50 unit threshold for delivering 

affordable housing will be especially detrimental in 

smaller villages where most new developments are low 

in number, and as a result delivering genuinely 

affordable housing in our communities will become 

harder if these proposals go ahead. 

 

Council - 30 September 2020



 
 

This Council resolves to: 

 

o. Take part in the consultation in the planning proposals, 

and to make representations against the proposals as 

outlined in this motion. 

p. Write to and lobby all three of our Members of 

Parliament, urging them to oppose these proposals and 

to circulate their replies to members. 

q. Highlight its concerns over these proposals with the 

public and encourage participation in the consultation. 

 

 

MOTION C:  REFUGEES  

Proposed by:   Cllr Benedict Dempsey 
Seconded by:   Cllr Lee Gibbs 

Mid Sussex District Council: 

1.  Notes that the issue of refugees and people seeking 
asylum currently has a raised media profile in the UK. 

2.  Acknowledges that the issue of asylum and international 
migration is a highly complex issue without simple 
solutions. 

3.  Recognises that the UK has a proud tradition of providing 
sanctuary to refugees who have been displaced by 
conflict and persecution. 

4. Affirms Mid Sussex's pride in having refugees living as 
part of our communities in the District. 

5.  Emphasises that, notwithstanding differing views, anyone 
engaged in discourse on this issue has a responsibility to 
treat the people involved with dignity, compassion and 
respect. 

 

15.   Questions from Members pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 
10.2 
 

 

 
 
 
To: Members of Council: Councillors C Trumble (Chairman), M Belsey (Vice-Chair), G Allen, J Ash-Edwards, 

R Bates, J Belsey, A Bennett, L Bennett, A Boutrup, P Bradbury, P Brown, H Brunsdon, R Cartwright, 
P Chapman, R Clarke, E Coe-Gunnell White, P Coote, M Cornish, R Cromie, J Dabell, R de Mierre, 
B Dempsey, S Ellis, R Eggleston, A Eves, L Gibbs, I Gibson, S Hatton, J Henwood, S Hicks, S Hillier, 
T Hussain, R Jackson, J Knight, C Laband, Andrew Lea, Anthea Lea, J Llewellyn-Burke, A MacNaughton, 
G Marsh, J Mockford, A Peacock, C Phillips, M Pulfer, R Salisbury, S Smith, A Sparasci, L Stockwell, 

Council - 30 September 2020



 
 

D Sweatman, N Walker, R Webb, N Webster and R Whittaker 
 

 
 

Council - 30 September 2020



 
 

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Council 
held on Wednesday, 19th August, 2020 

from 6.00 pm - 9.27 pm 
 
 

Present: C Trumble (Chairman) 
M Belsey (Vice-Chair) 

 
 

G Allen 
J Ash-Edwards 
R Bates 
J Belsey 
A Bennett 
L Bennett 
A Boutrup 
P Bradbury 
P Brown 
R Cartwright 
P Chapman 
R Clarke 
E Coe-
Gunnell White 
J Dabell 
R de Mierre 
 

B Dempsey 
S Ellis 
R Eggleston 
A Eves 
L Gibbs 
I Gibson 
S Hatton 
J Henwood 
S Hicks 
S Hillier 
T Hussain 
R Jackson 
J Knight 
C Laband 
Andrew Lea 
 

Anthea Lea 
J Llewellyn-Burke 
A MacNaughton 
G Marsh 
A Peacock 
C Phillips 
M Pulfer 
R Salisbury 
S Smith 
A Sparasci 
L Stockwell 
D Sweatman 
R Webb 
N Webster 
R Whittaker 
 

 
Absent: Councillors H Brunsdon, P Coote, M Cornish, R Cromie, 

J Mockford and N Walker 
 
 
 

1. OPENING PRAYER  
 
The opening prayer was read by the Vice-Chairman.  
 

2. ROLL CALL AND VIRTUAL MEETINGS EXPLANATION.  
 
The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting. A roll call of Members present 
was taken. The Head of Regulatory Services provided a virtual meeting explanation. 
 

3. TO RECEIVE QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC PURSUANT TO 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 9.  
 
None. 
 

4. TO CONFIRM MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD ON 22 JULY 
2020.  
 
The minutes of the meeting of Council held on 22 July were agreed as a correct 
record of the meeting.    
 

Council - 30 September 2020 9

Agenda Item 4



 
 

 
 

5. TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FROM MEMBERS IN RESPECT OF 
ANY MATTER ON THE AGENDA  
 
None. 
 

6. TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS THAT THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL AGREES 
TO TAKE AS URGENT BUSINESS.  
 
None. 
 

7. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman noted that Councillor Walker and Councillor Coote were absent due to 
ill health and wished them well. 
 

8. LEISURE CENTRE REOPENING  
 
The Chairman advised Members that they would first debate the recommendations in 
the report.  The exempt report under items 9 and 10 would be debated in closed 
session and any amendments will be taken when they return to the open session. 
 
The Leader moved the item noting the recommendation from the earlier Cabinet 
meeting in support of opening the three leisure centres.  Reopening the leisure 
centres for use by the public and residents of Mid Sussex was an important step.  He 
thanked the residents for their patience whilst the negotiations had been on going 
and stated that it was critical that the Council approve the agreed deal. He confirmed 
the contract, agreed in 2014 based on a Sports England template, had been 
performing well before the start of the pandemic.  The management fee paid by 
Places Leisure made a significant contribution to the Council’s budget, which helped 
to pay for other services.  The Coronavirus Act had invoked a change in law clause 
which was designed to deal with the circumstance of Place Leisure not being able to 
run the leisure centres and was unforeseeable when the contract had been agreed.  
The Council has been required to cover closure costs whilst the centres have been 
closed, to date £1.132m. The figure has been closely scrutinised and was a fair 
reflection of costs incurred. On re-opening, the clause in the contract requires that 
Places Leisure are no better or worse off, as there will be reduced capacity and 
income due to new operational measures and socially distancing guidelines.  The 
financial model provided by Places Leisure has been scrutinised and the forecast is 
as robust as possible, and the Council must agree to underwrite the difference. The 
level of funding will be reconciled at the end of every month and reported through the 
usual governance procedures. The Council will subsidise the centres this year 
through the use of General Reserves. This year the cost is estimated to be £2.5m 
and would not impact on the Revenue Budget.  
 
This was seconded by the Cabinet Member for Environment and Service Delivery 
who reserved his right to speak. 
 
Discussion was held on a number of issues including the risk of long-term subsidy of 
the leisure centres as the future was unknown, payment of the management fee and 
post Covid operational measures in place, the costs of the current closure to the 
Council, the declining use and future use of Clair Hall and the Council recommencing 
operations in the leisure centres. 
 

Council - 30 September 2020 10



 
 

 
 

The Chairman noted that any TUPE matters were not for consideration in the open 
session.  
 
The Leader advised that it was likely that part of the management fee would be  
covered by a Government scheme to support lost income due to the pandemic. The 
scheme will underwrite 75p per £1 for some management fee income.  He confirmed 
that no element for profit had been included in the costs and a small allowance had 
been included for the headquarter costs of Places Leisure.  Clair Hall has always 
been subsidised by the Council, and with the current pandemic it would be unviable 
to operate in line with social distancing guidelines. Removing the hall from the 
contract would reduce costs and allow Places Leisure to concentrate on the leisure 
centres. He commented that post Covid-19 operational measures were for Places 
Leisure to decide and they would need to comply with Government Covid Secure 
guidance and utilise best practice.  He highlighted Appendix A which set out the 
phased reopening, and that risks had been mitigated as much as possible to ensure 
the reopening of the leisure centres and the control mechanisms in place to 
scrutinise the use of General Reserves.   
 
Several members noted the flexibility of the offer achieved by the officers and 
supported the recommendations. Discussion was held on triggering the force 
majeure clause, governance procedures and alternative provision for the users of 
Clair Hall. 
 
The Leader advised that the purpose of the report is to avoid triggering the force 
majeure clause and confirmed that the contract runs initially until 2029. It was not in 
the best interests of the residents of Mid Sussex or the Council to trigger this clause 
as it would delay reopening the centres.  He confirmed that Places Leisure control 
and manage the fee structure and must manage it so it is a commercially viable 
proposition for Mid Sussex residents. He confirmed there is demand from customers 
to use the leisure centres and officers would assist users of Clair Hall to find 
alternative premises. 
 
The Chairman summarised the discussion that the Council has the option to trigger 
the force majeure clause if Places Leisure cannot meet its contractual obligations. 
However, the key focus should be on the reopening of the leisure centres. 
 
A Member stated that the Council’s policy was to reopen the centres quickly and as 
financially viable as possible to allow Mid Sussex to return to a more normal way of 
life.  
 

9. TO CONSIDER WHETHER TO EXCLUDE THE PRESS AND PUBLIC FROM THE 
MEETING DURING CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 100A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
ON THE GROUNDS THAT IT INVOLVES THE LIKELY DISCLOSURE OF EXEMPT 
INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A 
OF THE SAID ACT.  
 
The Chairman advised that the meeting would now be held in a closed session to 
debate the exempt report.  Terry Stanley, Business Unit Leader for Democratic 
Services introduced agenda item 9 to exclude the press and public from the meeting. 
 
The Members continued the debate in the exempt session. 
 
The Chairman took Members to an e-vote.  31 Members voted for, 14 Members 
voted against and there were 2 abstentions.   

Council - 30 September 2020 11



 
 

 
 

 

10. LEISURE CENTRE REOPENING - EXEMPT APPENDIX  
 

11. LEISURE CENTRE REOPENING - RESUMPTION OF OPEN SESSION  
 
The open session resumed at 7.48 pm and the Chairman moved to the three 
proposed amendments. 
 
A tabled amendment (published online) was proposed by Councillor Bates, seeking 
to amend recommendation iv and require the Council to review Government 
guidelines with a view to re-opening Clair Hall, undertake a full review of all 
community facilities local to  Haywards Heath and Burgess Hill to ensure sufficient 
provision for all current and future user groups for the time of the District Plan, and to 
keep Clair Hall available for use until suitable facilitates are made available.  
 
This was seconded by Councillor Eggleston who reserved his right to speak. 
 
Discussion was held on the amendment. during the discussion point of order was 
raised by a Member and he asked the Member to withdraw his comments.  The 
Chairman asked Members to respect other Members’ views.  
 
The Deputy Leader reminded Members that removing Clair Hall from the contract 
would make cost savings and reduce the draw on General Reserves.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Community noted the high usage of the leisure centres and 
their benefit to health and wellbeing.  
 
Councillor Eggleston noted the need for a community building in Haywards Heath, 
and asked for a review, commented on the government guidelines on multi-use 
facilities and stated that other similar facilities in East Grinstead were open. 
   
The Leader confirmed that officers had been working on a Community Building 
Strategy before the pandemic and alternative provision for users would be 
considered. Members asked for a recorded vote. A recorded vote was requested by 
the requisite number of members. The chairman took members to the vote: 
 

 For Against Abstained 

Councillor G Allen    

Councillor Ash-Edwards    

Councillor R Bates    

Councillor J Belsey    

Councillor M Belsey    

Councillor A Bennett    

Councillor L Bennett    

Councillor A Boutrup    

Councillor P Bradbury    

Councillor P Brown    

Councillor R Cartwright    

Councillor P Chapman    

Councillor R Clarke    

Councillor E Coe-Gunnell White    

Councillor J Dabell    

Councillor R De Mierre    

Councillor B Dempsey    

Council - 30 September 2020 12



 
 

 
 

Councillor R Eggleston    

Councillor A Eves    

Councillor S Ellis    

Councillor L Gibbs    

Councillor I Gibson    

Councillor S Hatton    

Councillor J Henwood    

Councillor S Hicks    

Councillor S Hillier    

Councillor T Hussain    

Councillor R Jackson    

Councillor J Knight    

Councillor C Laband    

Councillor Andrew Lea    

Councillor Anthea Lea    

Councillor J Lewellyn-Burke    

Councillor A MacNaughton    

Councillor G Marsh    

Councillor A Peacock    

Councillor C Phillips    

Councillor M Pulfer    

Councillor R Salisbury    

Councillor S Smith    

Councillor A Sparasci    

Councillor L Stockwell    

Councillor D Sweatman    

Councillor C Trumble    

Councillor R Webb    

Councillor N Webster    

Councillor R Whittaker    

 
16 Members voted for, 27 Members voted against, 3 abstained and 1 could 
not be heard.  Therefore, the Chairman announced that the amendment was 
lost.  
 
 A second tabled amendment (published online) was proposed by Councillor 

Hatton, seeking to add another recommendation that officers prepare a 

financial analysis and business case to take the running of the leisure centres 

back in house, a report to come to scrutiny committee by 31 October 2020.    

She expressed concern with Places Leisure ability to pay the management 

fee and asked the Council to look at the viability of bringing the leisure centre 

management in-house.  

The was seconded by Councillor Cartwright who reserved his right to speak. 

Discussion was held on the negotiation of the contract and Places Leisure 

management, and the income derived from the management fee.     

The Cabinet Member for Community confirmed the contract had been agreed 

following a unanimous vote in February 2014.   The Council might incur huge 

costs if it sought to withdraw from this, and the priority was to get the centres 

open.  

Council - 30 September 2020 13



 
 

 
 

Councillor Cartwright as seconder expressed concern over governance 

procedures and stated it was sound business practice to look at alternative 

options.  

The Leader noted it was common practice for local authorities to have leisure 

management contracts as external providers provide an astute service. 

Contracts limit risks and liabilities for the Council and can secure provider 

investment. 

The Chairman took Members to a vote on the amendment. 16 Members voted 
for, 29 Members voted against and 2 abstained.  Therefore, the Chairman 
announced that the amendment was lost. 
 
The Chairman noted the time and proposed a vote to continue the meeting 

beyond 9 pm. A point of order was raised, A Member suggested the proposer 

withdraws the third amendment. Councillor Bennett chose to move the 

amendment. 

The e-vote to continue after 9 pm was carried 45 votes for and 2 against. 

After a 5-minute recess the meeting resumed at 8.55 pm. 

 A third tabled amendment (published online) was proposed by Councillor 

Alison Bennett, seeking that a representative from each of the four political 

parties are included in a separate review as referred to in paragraph 42. She 

supported the opening of the leisure centres but advised that broadening 

cross party discussions was important.  

This was seconded by Councillor Henwood who reserved her right to speak.  

Discussion was held on the Council’s governance procedures, the role of the 

scrutiny committees, the Constitution, and Members representing the 

residents of the District.  

Concern was expressed that the public should see that the Council is fiscally 

responsible and that the usual governance procedure cannot be applied.  

The Leader noted that other councils have made a similar decision using the 

scheme of officer delegation whereas this administration had opted for 

transparency and robust governance, and he pointed to regular reports to the 

Members during the pandemic.  The amendment would create a group which 

had no constitutional basis and the review mechanism already exists.  If there 

are significant changes to the current situation reports will be brought to 

Cabinet and Council. The Leader and Deputy Leader will guide the process 

and a robust governance structure is in place.  

The Chairman took Members to a vote on the amendment. 16 Members voted 
for, 29 Members voted against and 2 abstained.  Therefore, the Chairman 
announced that the amendment was lost. 
 
The Chairman returned to the seconder of the original recommendation.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment and Service Delivery thanked the 
officers for their work over the 3 months of difficult negotiations.  He stated 
that the Council were obliged to work with Places Leisure to open the leisure 
centres.  He noted the wellbeing aspect to reopening the centres and the 

Council - 30 September 2020 14



 
 

 
 

desire to open the centres safely.  He urged Members to accept the 
recommendations.  
 

The Chairman took Members to a vote on the original recommendations. 46 
Members voted for, and 1 abstained.  Therefore, the Chairman announced 
that the amendment was agreed. 

 
RESOLVED 

  
Council agree: 

  
(i) That the negotiated costs associated with the enforced closure of the 

Council’s leisure centres and their reopening as outlined in paragraphs 
31 and 36 and the exempt appendix to this report, are noted; 

(ii) That the mechanism for supporting PL to reopen the leisure centres and 
manage the costs to the tax payer (as outlined in paragraphs 38 to 43) is 
agreed;  

(iii) That the costs to this Council resulting from this unprecedented set of 
circumstances be funded from the General Reserve and reported 
regularly to Members in the usual way; and 

(iv) That the Council agree to remove Clair Hall from the contract with PL 
(paragraphs 48 to 55 refer). 

 
 
 

The meeting finished at 9.27 pm 
 

Chairman 
 

Council - 30 September 2020 15



This page is intentionally left blank



  REVISED CORPORATE PLAN 2020/21 

Purpose of Report 

1. This report recommends revisions to the Council’s Corporate Plan 2020/21 to reflect 
the impact of the Covid-19 crisis. This is necessary because the Council has (and still 
is) undertaking additional duties at the direction of the Government, the crisis has 
markedly changed demand for services, and the Council’s finances and capacity have 
been detrimentally affected.  

2. Consequently, the Council will not be able to undertake the projects and services in the 
way envisaged in February when the Council agreed the Plan. The crisis has been far 
reaching and profound and therefore, not only do we need to accept that the work 
planned for this year will not now be possible in exactly the way originally scoped, but 
also that the implications of the crisis have fundamentally changed the environment in 
which the Council operates. As such revisions to our Corporate Plan are vital.  

3. This report provides: 

 An initial assessment of the impact of Covid-19 on the Council, including an 
overview of the impact to date on the Council’s resources (staff and financial); 

 A review of each of the Council’s corporate priorities with proposed actions in the 
short, medium and longer term; and 

 Recommended revisions to the Council’s financial strategy and plan for 2020/21 
and subsequent years. 

 

 
Recommendations  

4. That the Council considers and agrees: 

(i) The Recovery Plans outlined in Appendices A to C; 

(ii) The advice and suggested changes to the Council’s financial strategy and 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) outlined in Appendix D, specifically the 
use of reserves and revenue savings to help deal with the impact of the 
crisis and asks officers to review the level of these aspects and report to 
the 2021/22 Corporate Plan and Budget process 

(iii) The proposed Governance Review (Appendix E) and its overarching 
principles; 

(iv) The advice about the Council’s Corporate Priority Projects (CCPs) in 
Appendix F; and 

(v) The performance of the Council during the first quarter of this year 
(Appendix G) and proposed changes to performance indicators as outlined 
in Appendix H. 

REPORT OF: All Chief Officers 
Contact Officer: Management Team 

Email: rowan.sky@midsussex.gov.uk Tel: 01444 477423 
Wards Affected: All 
Key Decision: Yes 
Report to: Council 
 Wednesday 30th September 2020 

Council - 30 September 2020 17

Agenda Item 8

mailto:rowan.sky@midsussex.gov.uk


5. In considering the above, the Council will wish to consider the comments of the 
Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance and the Cabinet (the 
minutes of both are appended for ease). 

Context – An Unprecedented Crisis with an Uncertain Outlook 

6. The crisis has been extraordinary and has affected the whole nation in many ways. For 
the current officer team, the last five months has been the most demanding of their 
careers. In a number of speeches, the Secretary of State has paid tribute to the work of 
local government, underlining that staff have been the unsung heroes of the pandemic.  

7. The crisis has precipitated an unprecedented level of joint work between central and 
local government and the latter has had a key role in the wellbeing of communities. 
Good examples are: 

 £10.8 billion of new grants have been paid to 880,000 local businesses; 

 £500m of hardship support has been made available to Council Tax payers; 

 3 million food boxes have been delivered; 

 14,500 rough sleepers have been taken off the streets and into safe 
accommodation and now work has begun to support them into move on 
accommodation; 

 Numerous risk assessments to support the safe reopening of shops, parks, 
playgrounds and other facilities; 

 The co-design of the Test and Trace system and Local Outbreak Plans. 

 
8. Looking ahead, there remain many uncertainties which means this work to revise the 

current Corporate Plan is challenging. The trajectory of the virus is uncertain; a second 
spike and/or local outbreaks remain significant possibilities. To compound this, the 
impact of the crisis on the economy (national and local) remains unclear, though the 
early signs are very worrying. Consequently, further impacts on the Council; the 
services it needs to provide and its finances, remain unclear.  

9. We can only do our best to forecast and keep these assumptions under close review 
during the months ahead. 

Impact on Council Services 

10. Members have been updated on the Council’s response to the pandemic with reports 
to the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance and Cabinet. Local 
Government has been directed by central Government to respond to the crisis and to 
support this an extraordinary volume of advice, guidance and information has been 
produced. This has included over 200 government announcements in the five months 
since March 2020. 

11. To complicate things, this guidance has been subject to repeated revision. So 
responding to the crisis has not only meant officers have had to work at extraordinary 
pace, it also has meant there have been many complications. The overall impact of this 
has been to consume the capacity of officers and, of course has meant overall delivery 
of the Corporate Plan for 2020/21 has been negatively affected. 

12. Full details of these significant additional demands have already been reported to 
Members but are also referred to in the Appendices to this report. 

Council - 30 September 2020 18



13. In spite of these challenges, the Council’s performance when measured against 
Corporate Plan performance indicator targets in the first quarter has been reasonable. 
However, it is very early days and as this report makes clear, there are many 
challenges to come.  

Review of Corporate Priorities to Focus on Recovery 

14. In response to the financial and service challenges which have arisen, officers have 
actively reviewed all aspects of the Council’s 2020/21 Corporate Plan. This report 
contains recommendations for changes. The overriding emphasis is on reframing and 
refocusing the Council’s activities on recovery and continued support for the effects of 
the crisis on Mid Sussex’s communities. 

15. As Members will expect, these changes have been developed using the Council’s 
priorities and are cross cutting.  

16. Appendices A to C outline this work and make specific recommendations for 2020/21 
and beyond. Proposals are for the short, medium and long term. They are all important 
and Members will need to carefully consider them, however some highlights are below:  

Sustainable Economic Growth (Appendix A) 

17. As outlined above, the economic impact of the crisis on this District is far from clear. 
However, we do know that 29% of the Mid Sussex workforce is currently furloughed. In 
addition, work by the ONS suggests that 24% of residents are in jobs that are most ‘at 
risk’ from the impact of the crisis. 

18. Unemployment has already risen from 1.3% to 3.9% and with the end of the furlough 
scheme in view, it is likely this may increase further. 

19. The proposals in Appendix A aim to refocus the Council’s work to support the local 
economy. Members will note the vitally important work on developing a full fibre 
network within the District. The crisis has very vividly highlighted the extremely 
important nature of this area of activity. 

20. The Council has developed a good reputation both within Government and with the 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) for its work in this field. This work is not a statutory 
requirement of local government but is essential in terms of stimulating the market to 
invest. Indeed during the crisis itself, officers have continued to take opportunities when 
they arise to support this work stream. 

21. A few weeks ago, the Government called for bids for capital projects to support 
economic recovery. The Secretary of State gave just one week for bids to be 
developed and submitted. This Council developed its own bid and worked with 
neighbouring councils on complementary bids. Our bid was successful and secured a 
further £3.2m for investment in full fibre spines in the District. This means a total of 
£9.5m will now be invested, enabling over 80kms of fibre to be installed to support 
innovation and business growth. 

22. In addition, Appendix A includes a proposal to refocus the current Economic and 
Community Grants Fund towards activities to support recovery and to supplement the 
Fund with an additional £300k. The aim is that this funding is available to local 
businesses and groups this financial year. The Capital Grants Panel will develop 
criteria for this refocused Fund and make decisions about allocations. 

Council - 30 September 2020 19



23. Appendix A also repeatedly highlights the crucial role the Council’s Planning service 
has in supporting the local economy and there are a number of important 
recommendations reflecting that. 

Strong and Resilient Communities (Appendix B)  

24. The crisis has seen our communities at their best. So many stakeholders and 
individuals have made enormous efforts to support their family, neighbours and friends 
through the challenges. Going forward, Appendix B outlines how this Council can both 
support the communities of Mid Sussex through a refocus of its own services and 
support other agencies with theirs. 

25. All the proposals are very important. Members will see an emphasis on how we work 
with the voluntary sector, how our own facilities (parks, open spaces and leisure 
facilities) can continue to support the wellbeing of our communities and how highly 
sensitive services (like our benefits, communities and housing teams) can refocus their 
efforts in response to the crisis. 

Effective and Responsive Services (Appendix C) 

26. Like all organisations, this Council has experienced a radical change in the way it 
operates and delivers its services as a result of the crisis. There has been very 
significant channel shift in the way the communities of Mid Sussex wish to interact with 
the Council. Our staff have transitioned, very rapidly, to remote working. 

27. The challenge and opportunity is to embed digital approaches and technologies so that 
the Council can meet the expectations of its communities, businesses and other 
national stakeholders. This is not simply to do things digitally but to do things differently 
and to do different things. 

28. As outlined below and in Appendix D, the financial impact of the crisis is considerable 
and means (amongst many things) that we need to reduce revenue spending in order 
to help bring the budget into balance again. Consequently, officers have proposed that 
revenue savings of £1m (profiled over four years, £250k pa) are built into the revised 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).  

29. Appendix C outlines the work planned to contribute to these savings but also the 
tremendous opportunities the radical change in the way the Council works present for 
staff and the services they provide. 

30. The proposals address four key issues. How does the Council: 

(i) Change its operating model and methods of working to benefit from recent 
learning and deliver efficiencies? 

(ii) Become more responsive to its environment, learn, adapt and develop services 
faster as expectations and needs change? 

(iii) Become more efficient and effective in how it delivers services to residents, 
customers and businesses? 

(iv) Deliver the change required while also responding to the financial challenges? 

31. This work is bold and will require sustained effort and capacity from the officer team. In 
addition, external expertise will be needed and consequently a reserve of £300k is 
proposed to kick start this work this financial year.  

Council - 30 September 2020 20



32. In addition, it is worth highlighting the plans to improve the design and delivery of a 
number of the Council’s services in the light of the Covid-19 crisis (both its impact to 
date and its anticipated future effects). This includes the proposal (Appendices C and 
F) concerning the Council’s waste services. Members will recall a pilot of a food waste 
service was planned for this year.  

33. The impact of the crisis on this Council, the County Council and Serco has been 
significant. In addition, social distancing means much of the work planned could not be 
undertaken. However, the positive view the Council had about the introduction of a 
food waste service was very clear and so it is proposed that its introduction, District 
wide, be considered as part of a service redesign and brought forward for consideration 
by Members in the usual way. 

Financial Independence (Appendix D) 

34. As Members already know, the financial impact of the crisis on the Council’s position is 
very significant. Appendix D highlights that the estimated net cost to the Council, to 
date, is £8.3m over the life of the MTFP. 

35. Sadly, this undoes so much of this Council’s careful work over the last 10 years to 
develop its financial independence and resilience. 

36. The leisure contract has presented particular challenges. These have already been 
debated by both Cabinet and Council (19th August 2020), so Members are well aware 
that this is the single biggest financial impact within the Council’s MTFP. 

37. The Government has offered some support during the crisis. Three tranches of funding 
have so far been received, totalling £1.6m. In addition, the Secretary of State 
announced further support for councils like Mid Sussex that have experienced very 
considerable loss of budgeted income. 

38. Officers estimate that this scheme could provide £2.3m of support during the current 
year. This has been taken into account in the £8.3m net costs outlined above; without 
this the financial impact of the crisis on the Council would be considerably worse. 
However, as Appendix D makes clear, the Government’s scheme is only currently in 
place for this financial year, so whilst it is certainly very helpful, there is considerable 
work needed over the next few years to restore the Council’s finances to those it had 
pre-Covid. 

39. The proposed strategy to achieve this is:  

(i) Use of reserves to offset the budget impact in 2020/21;   

(ii) Use of reserves over the following 4 years too but reducing as (it is hoped) 
income recovers; and 

(iii) Revenue savings of £1m over 4 years (see above and Appendix C). 

Governance (Appendix E) 

40. The changes to the Council’s operations as a result of the crisis have of course also 
affected its governance. Appendix E reminds Members about how the Council’s 
governance is structured and operated.  

Council - 30 September 2020 21



41. The very serious financial implications of the crisis and all the work anticipated in 
Appendix C is focused on improving efficiency and agility in the light of reduced 
resources and changing expectations. This process must apply to the Council’s 
governance too.  

42. Consequently, Appendix E recommends an expert, external review is commissioned 
with a view to its findings being considered by Council in time for implementation early 
in 2021/22. All Members will be involved in this work. Some suggested principles to 
guide this review are included in Appendix E. 

Review of Council Priority Projects (CPPs) (Appendix F) 

43. The Council Priority Projects (see current Corporate Plan 2.4, pp4-6) were highlighted 
because they are projects which directly support the Council’s priorities, involve 
multiple services and stakeholders or have additional budget needs.  

44. The CPPs have been reviewed as part of the work outlined in this report. It challenged 
the need and nature of the work given the radically changed landscape, post Covid. It 
has also taken into account the Council’s detrimentally affected financial position. 

45. It is proposed that all the CPPs are retained for the remainder of this year, though 
some adjustments are needed. Full details are included in the Appendix F.  

Council Performance and its measurement (Appendix G) 

46. Appendix G shows the Council’s performance in Quarter 1 (April to June 2020) using 
the existing suite of performance indicators. It is reasonable. 

47. Officers have reviewed the Council’s performance indicators and targets to take into 
account the impact of the pandemic to date and going forward. Adjusted targets are 
proposed where services have been affected by service interruption and operational 
change in response to Government guidance, and where it has been necessary to 
prioritise available capacity in response to new and increased workload.  

48. For some indicators, where the impact of Covid-19 is ongoing and unpredictable, it is 
proposed that performance is monitored but that no specific targets are set. Examples 
of this include the performance indicators for homelessness and use of temporary 
accommodation, where Government directions such as extending the provision of 
temporary accommodation to all homeless households makes the setting of targets 
impractical and unhelpful. 

49. Appendix H identifies the indicators where changes to the targets for 2020/21 are 
proposed with an explanation for each suggested change.  The appendix also confirms 
the great majority of indicators and targets for 2020/21 where no changes are 
considered necessary. 

Next Steps 

50. As Members are aware, revising the Corporate Plan mid-year is unprecedented. 
However, a similar, robust process to that used for our conventional Corporate Plan 
and Budget is underway. The proposals in this report have been considered by the 
Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance on 26th August 2020 and by 
Cabinet on 14th September 2020. 

Council - 30 September 2020 22



Financial Implications 

51. The Council sets its service and financial plans and Council Tax levels each year. This 
report is required because of the exceptional circumstances being faced by the Council 
as a result of the Covid crisis. It provides advice to Members on how the Council might 
respond to the challenges it faces. Appendix D contains detailed advice on the impact 
of the crisis on the Council’s finances.  

52. If agreed by Council, the content of the Revised Corporate Plan will be rolled into work 
to prepare the 2021/22 Corporate Plan and Budget as well as its primary focus, which 
is to provide a framework for work during the remaining part of this financial year. 

53. Please note, as with normal Corporate Plan and Budget proposals, if Members are not 
supportive of any particular element(s) of the package, alternative item(s) achieving at 
least the same financial impact must be agreed. 

Risk Management Implications 

54. The strategic risks associated with the delivery of the proposals within this revised 
Corporate Plan will be considered in full in the usual way as part of the Council’s 
strategic risk management processes. Like all organisations, the Council is facing 
considerable uncertainty as a result of the crisis. Planning in such unprecedented and 
uncertain times, is very difficult. This report contains the best advice officers are able to 
give at the time of writing. 

Equalities Implications 

55. As in previous years the various proposals contained in this report are subject to 
consultation and equalities impact assessments where this is appropriate. The purpose 
of the assessment is to determine whether it is likely that there would be a negative 
impact on any protected groups as a result of any service changes and if so to consider 
whether these can be mitigated or under the proposal should be changed or dropped. 

Background Papers 

 Report to Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance on the Draft 
Corporate Plan and Budget 2020/21 – 15th January 2020 

 Report to Council on the Corporate Plan and Budget 2020/21 – 4th March 2020  

 Report to Cabinet on the impact of Covid-19 on the Council - 1st June 2020 

 Report to Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance on the financial 
impact of Covid-19 on the Council - 17th June 2020 

Council - 30 September 2020 23



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

1 

Council Priority: Sustainable Economic Growth – Recovery Plan 

National and Local Context  

1. The UK Gross Domestic Product (GDP) was down by 3.9% by quarter one 2020 when 
compared to quarter 1 in 2019. The International Monetary Fund (IMF June 2020) 
predicts that the world economy will shrink by 3% the worst since the Great 
Depression of the 1930’s and it predicts huge falls in GDP for 2020 of 6.5% for the UK.   

2. The Gross Value Added (GVA) for this District declined by 35 per cent at the peak of 
lockdown. Although the impact on the District’s GVA is significant, it is less severe than 
in other parts of the County. Estimates by the Centre for Progressive Policy suggest 
that Mid Sussex is the second least impacted district in West Sussex (after Worthing), 
with an estimated decline in GVA of 35 per cent, compared to 42 per cent in Crawley 
and 40 per cent in Horsham. 

3. Nationally, Mid Sussex ranks 247 out of 382 districts for the impact of the pandemic on 
GVA, placing it amongst the 35 per cent least affected districts. By comparison, 
Crawley ranks 57 out of 382, placing it amongst the 15 per cent most affected, and 
reflecting its economic dependence on Gatwick Airport.  

4. The aviation sector and wider supply chain are amongst the most exposed. Whilst 
business like Gatwick Airport Limited (GAL) and the major airlines can apply for the 
large business interruption loan scheme that is likely to be insufficient to safeguard 
jobs. GAL employs 24,000 staff on site and has a supply chain of around 80,000 jobs 
nationally. Some key supply chain businesses are located in the District (CAE in 
Burgess Hill for example). Of the surrounding districts, Mid Sussex is home to the third 
largest share of workers at Gatwick airport. However, overall dependency of residents 
on the airport for direct employment is comparatively low. Approximately 1,550 Mid 
Sussex residents are employed at Gatwick Airport, representing just 2 per cent of the 
District’s workforce.  

5. It is also well documented that the Covid-19 pandemic has accelerated what was 
already a challenging landscape for the ‘High Street’, with some reports suggesting 
changes that were predicted to take 5 years to come to fruition are now expected to be 
seen in 5 months as shopping habits change and people get used to shopping online. 

6. Nationally, the British Retail Consortium reports that the lockdown has cost non-food 
retailers £1.8bn in lost sales each week and that many retailers will not bounce back. It 
is too early to assess the impact on non-retail businesses operating in the district. If 
these businesses do not survive, there will be a further reduction of people using our 
high streets impacting on spend further during recovery. However, with home working 
ongoing this could result in longer term changes in commuting patterns and, a 
reduction in out-commuting and potentially more shoppers in our towns.  

7. The Institute for Fiscal Studies estimates that 10,560 jobs in Mid Sussex are in ‘shut 
down’ industries. Whilst this is a lower proportion of jobs (18.5%) than the West 
Sussex average (21.7%) Mid Sussex still has 29% of its work force furloughed 
(18,000) which raises significant concerns. Analysis of the job furlough scheme by the 
Office of National Statistics states that 24 per cent of residents in Mid Sussex are in 
jobs most ‘at risk’ from the impacts of Covid-19. Since the pandemic the Job Centre 
has recorded an increase in the claimant count from 2,800 clients to 5,800 as at June 
this year. 

Council - 30 September 2020 25



APPENDIX A 

2 

8. Covid-19 has also had unprecedented impacts on household finances, personal 
wellbeing and health. However, it difficult to predict the nature and scale of the impact 
on households at this stage, existing data suggests that inactivity and unemployment 
will rise quickly, with low-paid workers most at risk, particularly when the Government 
support such as furloughing comes to an end. The District is already experiencing a 
significant increase in unemployment, from March 2020 where unemployment has 
risen from 1.3 per cent to 3.9 per cent in May.  

9. Throughout the pandemic the Council has been responsible for rolling out immediate 
support and advice to businesses and residents and it is anticipated that there will 
continue to be pressure to provide this support for the next two to three years. 

10. Economic recovery and growth is a key government priority and they have made it 
clear that supporting the development industry will be a key part of this.  

(i) The government’s economic recovery strategy focuses on the following themes:  

(ii) Backing innovation and research and development; 

(iii) Green recovery: How to capture economic growth opportunities from the shift to 
net zero carbon emissions; 

(iv) How to make the UK the best place in the world to start and scale a business; 

(v) Increasing opportunity through skills and apprenticeships; 

(vi) How to secure high value inward investment. 

Financial Support to Businesses 

11. Since the start of the lockdown this Council has provided the following funding to 
support residents and businesses: 

(i) £22.95m for over 1,564 businesses in the Retail, Leisure & Hospitality sector has 
already been awarded as a business rates payment holiday for 2020/21. 

(ii) £367k to nurseries in business rates relief, giving them a business rates payment 
holiday in 2020/21. 

(iii) Over £25m of business grants paid to nearly 2,000 businesses and 
organisations. 

(iv) £1.463m Discretionary Business grants have been awarded. The criterion for the 
expanded Business Rate grants scheme has been developed in partnership with 
other councils across West Sussex. 

12. Despite this financial help it is apparent that there are many businesses affected by 
Covid-19 who have not received any Government help and many businesses are 
struggling to pay business rates.  A review of business rates is planned by the 
Government later this year and this is a significant risk to this Council with the potential 
loss of rates retention income. 

Regulatory Support and Advice to Businesses 

13. In addition to this direct financial support the Council is working with businesses to 
understand the impact and to provide support to businesses and has: 

Council - 30 September 2020 26



APPENDIX A 

3 

(i) Held regular liaison meetings with business associations, the Chamber of 
Commerce and businesses;  

(ii) Implemented a package of measures to ensure the re-opening of our High 
Streets safely. This has included a comprehensive business-facing campaign; 
the creation of a “Mid Sussex is open”; and a comprehensive package of public-
facing communications;  

(iii) Implemented public realm changes in the three town centres and five largest 
villages including signage to remind people of the importance of social 
distancing;  

(iv) Provided advice and assistance to 71 new food businesses; 

(v) Provided food operators with a ‘Covid-19 lockdown’ guidance special, which 
focuses on helping food businesses come out of lockdown; 

(vi) Assisted pubs, social clubs and other licensed premises to open safely.  

Support for the Development and Construction Industries 

14. The pandemic and subsequent lockdown restrictions have had an impact on the 
housebuilding and construction industry, requiring the Council to consider how these 
sectors can be supported by the planning process in recovery. The Council’s roles in 
these areas include: 

(i) As Local Planning Authority (LPA), in setting local planning policy, determining 
planning applications, ensuring compliance with planning permission and using 
compulsory purchase powers where appropriate; 

(ii) As Housing Authority, liaising with Registered Providers and private developers 
to secure affordable housing; 

(iii) As a landowner; and 

(iv) As a partner and community leader in the Burgess Hill Growth Programme. 

15. The Government recognises the importance that the Planning System will play in the 
economic recovery and since the beginning of the crisis has repeatedly emphasised 
the need for Local Planning Authorities to do all they can in ‘keeping the planning 
system running’, including policy making and the determination of planning 
applications. 

16. At the start of the pandemic the Government introduced a temporary relaxation of 
some procedures and planning requirements, including: 

(i) Permitted development changes from restaurants, drinking establishments to 
takeaway for a period expiring 23rd March 2021; 

(ii) A temporary relaxation of planning enforcement for overnight deliveries for food 
and essential products; 

Council - 30 September 2020 27



APPENDIX A 

4 

(iii) Increased flexibility for construction site working hours - the Government expects 
local planning authorities to approve requests to temporarily extend construction 
working hours, where they are controlled by planning condition, unless there are 
compelling reasons not to. There have been 12 formal requests to date; 

(iv) Extension of the ‘life’ of planning permissions enabling development to 
commence following delays caused by the pandemic. This affects 65 planning 
permissions totalling 365 units in Mid Sussex; 

(v) Flexible approach towards consideration of triggers for S106 payments. The 
Council has developed a protocol with WSCC to deal with these in a consistent 
manner and to date with have formally agreed to one request and are actively 
considering four others. 

(vi) Temporary changes to the statutory publicity requirements, including newspaper 
publicity and neighbour notification. This allows for other reasonable steps to be 
taken to publicise planning applications, for example, using social media and 
other electronic communication; 

(vii) In addition, the government has introduced a number of changes to the planning 
system to help facilitate and support the continuation of the construction and 
development industries and these are being formalised through legislation.  

17. The Business and Planning Act 2020 sets out minor changes to formalise the fast 
track route to amending planning restrictions on construction working hours and 
extending the life of certain planning permissions to be extended. 

18. On 20th July the government introduced radical changes to the 1987 Use Class Order 
which will take effect on 1st September 2020. Amongst the changes include the 
introduction of a new Class which is intended to offer more flexibility within town 
centres.  

19. The government has also introduced new permitted development rights which came 
into effect on 1st August 2020 and which allow for additional development, including 
upwards extensions, subject to a prior approvals process.  

20. On 6th August 2020 the Government issued the Planning for the Future White Paper 
which proposes a radical review of planning processes with the aim to streamline 
planning decisions. The intention of the White Paper is to encourage sustainable 
development, delivered faster and without the current ‘obstructions’ in the current 
system. These proposals if enacted will have the potential to dramatically impact on 
the Council’s planning service. Responses on the White Paper are required by 29th 
October 2020. This, together with the impact of the pandemic will result in the need to 
review the planning service and to revaluate the review of the District Plan and some 
of the emerging policies in the District Plan.  

21. Since the start of lockdown in March 2020, the total number of new planning 
applications submitted has fallen by 17%.  Although the Council has received 479 
planning applications in the first quarter of 2020/21 there has been a reduction in 
application fees in the first quarter of 48% as there has been a reduction in the number 
of applications for large housing and commercial schemes. 

Council - 30 September 2020 28



APPENDIX A 

5 

22. The development industry relies upon expedient and timely decision making to provide 
certainty for financial investment and delivery of development.  The future focus in 
relation to recovery will be on how the Council can streamline and support the planning 
process to be as efficient and effective as possible to ensure we are not a barrier to 
development. 

Council - 30 September 2020 29



APPENDIX A 

6 

Sustainable Economic Growth – Recovery Plan 2020/21 and 2021/22 

SHORT TERM 

1. Create a positive planning environment to attract inward investment:  

(i) Adopt a Masterplan for Haywards Heath to guide and optimise development; 

(ii) Prioritise progress on strategic development sites including the Science and 
Technology Park, Burgess Hill Growth Programme and the Northern Arc 
Strategic Development; 

(iii) Work with developers to ensure the optimisation of sites in line with the District 
Wide Design Guide; 

(iv) Work with developers to maximise and accelerate delivery of affordable 
housing by exploring opportunities to increase affordable housing provision on 
strategic sites, accelerate delivery and robustly challenge developers request 
to reduce affordable housing provision; 

(v) Prioritise applications for all commercial and major housing development;   

(vi) Enter into Planning Performance Agreements with developers to provide 
certainty over timeframes for consideration and determination of planning 
applications; 

(vii) Respond positively to requests to renegotiate Section 106 agreements and 
requests to amend conditions regarding construction working hours; 

(viii) Work with developers to review planning processes to improve efficiency; 

(ix) Review the Planning Application Validation ‘Local List’ to provide certainty to 
the development industry when submitting planning applications. 

2. Promote Mid Sussex District to new businesses and investors: 

(i) Launch a marketing strategy of Mid Sussex to capitalise early on investment 
opportunities, especially those sectors with the greatest growth potential. 

3. Support Business Investment, Change and Development: 

(i) Encourage early delivery of additional high-quality employment floorspace by 
working closely with promoters and developers of allocated employment sites 
and safeguarded existing employment sites;  

(ii) Support retailers in re-orienting their business models and approach to 
commerce to better respond to the economic climate; 

(iii) Update the Council’s Discretionary Business Rates policy for 2020/21 to make 
best use of Council resources; 

Council - 30 September 2020 30



APPENDIX A 

7 

(iv) Launch the micro-business grant scheme to allocate £72k to support approx. 
40 businesses to adapt to the post pandemic environment; 

(v) Support local businesses to aid their continuation and recovery by signposting 
details of government grant funding and services on the Council’s webpages 
and through the work with the District’s three Business Associations;  

(vi) Support restaurants, bars, takeaways and other licensed premises to 
successfully operate safely under Covid-19 guidance by providing local 
contextual advice specific to their business. 

4. Deliver the infrastructure necessary to enable businesses to flourish: 

(i) Deliver the Council’s Full Fibre digital connectivity projects to stimulate 
connectivity and innovation across the district. This includes over 80km of 
fibre, running through the district, funded through grants of £9.5m. The aim is 
to accelerate fibre and mobile connectivity deployment to towns, villages and 
rural communities. The work will connect the growth and innovation zones 
within the area, stimulating innovation and business growth; 

(ii) Continue to work with retailers, high street businesses, town and parish 
councils on implementing Government’s Reopening High Streets Safely Fund; 

(iii) Maximise all opportunities to secure external government grant funding to 
support businesses, innovation and research and development, green 
infrastructure and digital connectivity; 

(iv) Refocus the economic and community grants budget by adding £300k in the 
current year. The purpose would be to support businesses and the local 
community with Covid-19 recovery. This would be administered by the 
Council’s Cabinet Grants Panel, as currently. Criteria for the grants will be 
developed.  

(v) Support WSCC to deliver the Emergency Active Travel Fund to deliver an 
extension of cycle lanes in East Grinstead; 

(vi) Actively participate in the Government’s fundamental review of business rates. 

MEDIUM TERM 

5. Support the economy through planning: 

(i) Agree an Action Plan to unblock delays to issuing implementable planning 
permissions and ensuring sites with planning permission and allocated sites 
are developed at pace. 

Council - 30 September 2020 31



APPENDIX A 

8 

6. Create a Positive Environment to enable our Town and Village Centres to 
Flourish: 

(i) Develop an Interim Policy Statement for town centres, to support mixed use 
development, including additional residential above ground floor commercial 
uses, in advance of the District Plan review; 

(ii) Support towns centres by working with partners to bid for grant funding which 
supports economic recovery of town centres including the government’s 
Future High Street Fund and the new ‘Towns Fund’; 

(iii) Run a training programme to support retailers and the food and beverage 
sector in re-orienting their business models and approach to commerce; 

(iv) Recommence food hygiene inspection programme prioritising high risk 
premises to ensure businesses operate safely and provide consumer 
confidence through their Food Hygiene Rating scores; 

(v) Develop proposals for networks of walking and cycling routes and 
improvements to public transport to encourage alternative modes of 
sustainable transport and active travel and to deliver wider public realm 
enhancements; 

(vi) Adopt and implement the Council’s Parking Strategy. 

7. Directly Support Economic Recovery: 

(i) Refocus the economic and community grants budget by adding £300k in the 
current year. The purpose would be to support businesses and the local 
community with Covid-19 recovery. This would be administered by the 
Council’s Cabinet Grants Panel, as currently. Criteria for the grants will be 
developed. 

(ii) Develop an interim Economic Recovery Plan based on the pillars in the 
Government’s economic recovery plan with an emphasis on support for those 
sectors significantly impacted. 

LONG TERM 

(i) Explore the use of Local Development Orders (LDOs) to allow minor retail or 
commercial development or changes of use including temporary uses/works, 
without the need for further planning permission; 

(ii) Review the District Plan with a focus on allocating additional housing and 
commercial development and developing policies to encourage intensification 
of employment uses and town centre regeneration; 

Council - 30 September 2020 32



APPENDIX A 

9 

(iii) Respond to the Government’s economic recovery strategy by revising and 
merging the Economic Development and Sustainability Strategy to direct an 
emphasis on support for those sectors most significantly impacted and on 
driving a green recovery. It is proposed that this work will be overseen by a 
Member working group. 

 

Council - 30 September 2020 33



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 

Council Priority: Strong and Resilient Communities – Recovery Plan 

Shielding – Vulnerable people and the Voluntary Sector 

1. Since the onset of the pandemic, Mid Sussex has the third highest number of 
“Shielded” residents classed as “extremely clinically vulnerable” in West Sussex but, 
possibly, as a consequence of its resilient community, only the fourth highest number 
receiving government food deliveries and the second lowest number of vulnerable 
residents asking the Council for assistance. Of the District population, approximately 
16% are over 70. 

2. Mid Sussex had a significantly higher number of deaths in the first 2-3 weeks of the 
Covid-19 pandemic than the similar Districts of Horsham and Chichester and 
compared to the national average.  Proximity to London and Gatwick airport, a large 
number of care homes in the District and a mobile, commuting, population may all 
have contributed to this.   

3. Mid Sussex District Council has a long history of collaborative community development 
and engagement with a strong local Community and Voluntary Sector (CVS) as well as 
other local statutory and private sector partners. The impact and legacy of this work 
and the powerful relationships it has fostered, was realised in recent months as this 
Council, its partners and its communities, mobilised to respond, attend to the needs of 
and support the vulnerable communities of our District.   

4. The local community response to the pandemic saw a large upsurge in community 
volunteering through a variety of pre-existing and new platforms including referrals 
through Mid Sussex Voluntary Action (MSVA), the establishment of the nationally co-
ordinated NHS volunteer programme and the rapidly mobilised local groups. This has 
been particularly pertinent given the impact that the pandemic has had on the 
traditional volunteer base of many of our local third sector organisations which tend to 
rely on older people. 

5. The pandemic has, however, taken its toll on the resilience of the CVS. Depending on 
their scale and the level of use; some have, or will be, incurring unexpected costs that 
they will need to recover at a time when many will have lost significant funds through 
an inability to hold income generating and fundraising activities. For organisations that 
have not been directly involved in the Covid-19 response, they face a very new 
landscape when they remobilise with a need for new delivery models and a changed 
volunteer demographic. Some organisations face difficulties in using their traditional 
meeting places due to social distancing or a reluctance of clients to return to them.  
Financial assistance has been provided to many groups within the District with 138 
having accessed either Business or Discretionary Grants via the Council. 

6. The Council currently provides support to vulnerable members of our community: 

• Discretionary Housing Payments fund of £267,931 which provides support to 
households who are threatened with or are homeless; 

• Council Tax Support Scheme which provides support to working age people on 
low incomes and has paid an additional £500k to nearly 700 new working age 
recipients, as well as larger amounts to existing customers during the pandemic. 
The Council is not proposing to amend its Council Tax Support scheme in 
2020/21;  

Council - 30 September 2020 35



APPENDIX B 

• Money Advice and Pension (MAPS) Service pilot which assists people with 
independent debt advice. This prepares the Council for the introduction of 
Breathing Space, which will make the debt referral process legal from May 2021.   

7. As well as providing financial support we are mindful of the importance of providing 
wellbeing support to vulnerable residents through the work of the Council’s health and 
wellbeing team. In response to the pandemic the Council supported West Sussex 
County Council in its work to assist those in the Government’s ‘Shield’ and those in a 
Covid-19 vulnerable group. By the end of July there were 5,373 people in the shield 
and 384 Covid-19 vulnerable people receiving support in Mid Sussex.  

8. The District enjoys 470 hectares of open space spread across 590 open spaces, 123 
play areas and 11 outdoors gyms. With the restrictions and rules on social distancing 
in place, these facilities play an important health and wellbeing function for residents.  

9. There are several Council services which have and will continue to be, key to the 
District’s community response, recovery and future resilience in the aftermath of the 
pandemic. The following outlines some of the work undertaken to date to support our 
communities and most vulnerable residents together with the emergent priorities for 
the coming 18 months to ensure Mid Sussex has a positive legacy of community 
resilience from this most challenging time.  

Supporting those at risk of homelessness 

10. As reported to Cabinet on 1st June 2020 and Scrutiny on 17th June 2020, in March the 
Council responded to the Government requirement under the Coronavirus Act to bring 
“everyone in” who was either sleeping rough or at risk of rough sleeping.   

11. This provided a unique opportunity to address rough sleeping. However, it also 
presented a challenge in terms of providing temporary accommodation. Currently the 
Council, on Government’s advice, continue to provide accommodation to this cohort 
whilst working to find longer term sustainable solutions.  

12. At the height of the pandemic we accommodated 10 rough sleepers, a number 
comparable with Chichester, Horsham and the national average. MHCLG has 
announced that funding will be made available, subject to bids in August, for both 
capital and revenue monies to help the Council with its work to provide those rough 
sleepers with sustainable housing solutions.  

13. To assist in the work the Council has agreed to acquire 10 units of accommodation for 
vulnerable homeless persons which will also provide support. In addition to this we are 
working in partnership with Clarion Housing Association and Turning Tides to pilot a 
Housing First project to provide accommodation for vulnerable adults with complex 
needs.  

14. In March the Government also introduced regulations to mitigate the impact on 
homelessness by suspending all possession proceedings.  This suspension is due to 
be lifted at the end of August.  We know that both rent and mortgage arrears are 
building up due to the impact of the pandemic on household incomes and that these 
pressures will increase when furlough ends.  As a result, the Council is anticipating a 
spike in homelessness due to financial pressure and family breakdown. There has 
already been a 43% increase in those seeking Housing Benefit assistance.   

Council - 30 September 2020 36



APPENDIX B 

15. The Council has already seen an unprecedented demand for assistance from those 
threatened with homelessness or those already homeless and have over 100 
households in temporary accommodation, a 30% increase from the previous year. We 
have worked closely with agencies such as Turning Tides to ensure those in 
temporary accommodation and needing support have received it. 

16. The challenge now is in sustaining these arrangements and success will rely on the 
commitment from the Government and support from our partners, particularly the 
voluntary sector, to secure long-term arrangements for this vulnerable group.  

Supporting people into and back to work 

17. Significant numbers of young people between the age of 18 and 24 will be leaving full 
time education this summer. Traditionally, this age group is disadvantaged in the 
labour market and the pandemic will exacerbate this situation. Data indicates that the 
national claimant rate for 18-24 year olds has more than doubled since February from 
4.1% to 8.7%. This situation is likely to widen inequalities making the situation more 
difficult for vulnerable and disadvantaged young people. To assist local businesses to 
support job seekers, we are working in partnership with the Department for Work and 
Pensions and education establishments through the Journey to Work scheme. 

Council - 30 September 2020 37



APPENDIX B 

Strong and Resilient Communities – Recovery Plan 2020/21 and 2021/22 

SHORT TERM 

1. Enable the community infrastructure necessary for self -determined 
communities to flourish: 

(i) Work with the Mid Sussex Partnership (MSP) to provide systemic leadership 
that co-ordinates recovery efforts across all partners; 

(ii) Refocus the economic and community grants budget by adding £300k in the 
current year. The purpose would be to support businesses and the local 
community with Covid-19 recovery. This would be administered by the 
Council’s Cabinet Grants Panel, as currently. Criteria for the grants will be 
developed. 

(iii) In recognition of their important role for the health and wellbeing of the 
community, ensure the Council’s parks, open spaces, sports pitches and 
countryside sites can open and operate safely, and continue to actively 
promote their benefits; 

(iv) Actively work with Places Leisure to ensure indoor leisure facilities can reopen 
safely; 

(v) Extend the publicity of the advice and support services available to those who 
are facing financial and housing hardships. 

2. Support Communities and Build Resilience: 

(i) Establish a District Narrative of Need to fully understand the impacts of the 
pandemic on our communities and their needs and strengths both in the short 
and longer term; 

(ii) Continue to provide and promote the virtual delivery models of wellbeing hub 
services to individuals and businesses whilst concurrently developing new 
practice in preparation for a return of face to face delivery; 

(iii) Build on the pilot “Playdays@Home” programme to deliver summer 
programme of youth and family engagement and support; 

(iv) Prioritise Disabled Facility Grant work to the most vulnerable households 
which were delayed during lockdown; 

(v) Support WSCC in its role in the national test and trace system to extend the 
capacity of local Outbreak Control Teams, including mapping and monitoring 
specific at-risk sectors; 

(vi) Prioritise benefits and Council Tax support for those suffering from the impact 
of the pandemic over the next three years, including the award of up to £200 
Hardship for 2020/21. 

Council - 30 September 2020 38



APPENDIX B 

3. Support those who are homeless or at risk of homelessness: 

(i) Maximise the use of Discretionary Housing Payments to help vulnerable 
residents with housing costs not covered by benefits and other financial help; 

(ii) Develop personal pathways to settled accommodation for each rough sleeper 
placed under the Coronavirus Act 2020 as required by the Government; 

(iii) Ensure those accommodated under a Homelessness Reduction Act including 
both families with children and single vulnerable people are enabled to move 
on into settled accommodation as quickly as possible; 

(iv) Develop a robust bid for capital and revenue funding from the MHCLG funding 
programme to provide both accommodation and support to meet the ongoing 
needs of rough sleepers and single vulnerable households in Mid Sussex; 

(v) Use Flexible Homelessness Support Grant to prevent homelessness and 
alleviate homelessness to deliver the objectives in the Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping Strategy. 

MEDIUM TERM 

4. Enable the community infrastructure necessary for self-determined 
communities to flourish: 

(i) Proactively engage with CVS organisations where S106 funds or other 
external funds are available to encourage Covid-19 Secure building adaptation 
and improvement work to be delivered via the Facilities Grant Programme; 

(ii) Continue with the Parks Investment Programme, delivering the agreed 
programme of prioritised playground improvements, and implementing the 
masterplans for the district’s key destination parks. 

5. Support Communities and Build Resilience: 

(i) Develop a programme of targeted youth community development and support; 

(ii) Work collaboratively with the CCG and voluntary sector to provide targeted 
health and wellbeing interventions for those vulnerable to, recovering from or 
impacted by the pandemic; 

(iii) Complete a new community development framework to support the 
development and strengthening of community anchor organisations; 

(iv) Work with the CVS and local communities to ensure that the responsive social 
action seen during the Covid-19 response can be maintained and built into 
preventative action for the future; 

(v) Consider extending the Journey to Work scheme to continue to provide 
support to job seekers and local businesses.  

Council - 30 September 2020 39



APPENDIX B 

6. Provide support to those in financial need: 

(i) Consider the implementation of a more ethical collection of Local Taxation, 
including avoiding the use of Enforcement Agents. 

7. Support those at risk of homelessness: 

(i) Work with all households at risk of homelessness, including those who have 
lost their employment and/or come to the end of their furlough and who can no 
longer meet their housing costs to support them to retain their current housing 
or to obtain an affordable alternative; 

(ii) Establish sustainable housing pathways for rough sleepers including working 
with Brighton Housing Trust /Sussex Oakleaf to expand provision to enable 
rough sleepers as well as other single vulnerable people to be 
accommodated; 

(iii) Progress the expansion of the temporary accommodation project to provide 10 
units of accommodation for single vulnerable homeless people requiring 
support and 5 additional units for homeless families; 

(iv) Review the housing support and prevention provision including pathways for 
vulnerable people with complex needs to ensure vulnerable households 
receive the support they need to sustain settled housing; 

(v) Ensure a focus on support tenancy sustainment and prevention to minimise 
the use of temporary accommodation;  

(vi) Deliver the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 action 
plan. 

LONG TERM 

8. Enable and deliver the community infrastructure necessary for self-
determined communities to flourish: 

(i) Review Service Level Agreements and other commissioning arrangements 
with CVS organisations and Parish Councils, as they expire to co-design 
operational outcomes and diversify delivery channels such that they continue 
to support vulnerable people and communities. 

9. Support Communities and Build Resilience: 

(i) Deliver a programme of targeted, evidence-led community development and 
support; 

(ii) Deliver the Community Development and Engagement Framework in 
partnership with the Mid Sussex Partnership. 

Council - 30 September 2020 40



APPENDIX B 

10. Provide support to those in financial need: 

(i) Participate fully in the implementation of Breathing Space in May 2021, giving 
independent debt advice to residents and businesses facing financial 
challenges. 

11. Support those at risk of homelessness: 

(i) Review the Housing Register and Allocation Scheme to ensure it is 
appropriately prioritising and supporting move on for homeless households, 
including rough sleepers; and that there are no barriers to meeting their 
needs, including those of rough sleepers; 

(ii)  Ensure that the delivery of affordable housing is maximised through the 
effective application of planning policies; 

(iii) Continue to develop options to ensure a supply of gypsy and traveller 
accommodation. 

 

Council - 30 September 2020 41



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 

  

Council Priority: Effective and Responsive Services – Recovery Plan 

National and Local Context 

1. This Appendix sets out the efficiency challenge underpinning changes to our services and the 
systems, processes and structures that deliver them. It summarises the challenges the Council 
has responded to in ensuring services remain effective and responsive during the pandemic. It 
provides examples of the work the Council has done to adapt and develop new services that 
respond to changing requirements and the needs of residents, customers and businesses. It 
includes short, medium and long term actions to aid recovery and ensure the Council can 
respond to the continued challenges and opportunities it faces.  

2. The current Covid-19 pandemic has forced unprecedented change on the Council in the way 
that it operates. The Council has needed to adapt and respond to new and unforeseen 
risks while delivering at considerable speed. 

3. The financial challenge is considerable and means that we need to deliver revenue savings of 
£1m over four years in addition to the use of reserves. This means the efficiencies programme 
will need to deliver £250,000 per year (see Appendix D). In tandem with these savings, 
learning from the last 5 months strongly supports the need for the Council to have the 
structures, systems and processes that can shift strategic direction, adapt operationally and 
deliver to new needs and expectations.  

4. The pandemic has caused difficulties for residents, businesses and the Council. It has 
demonstrated some opportunities to work differently that could boost productivity and generate 
cashable efficiency savings. There are activities the Council will need to stop, changes in 
services it will need to respond to and systems and processes that will need to be more 
efficient. The challenge and opportunity is to take advantage of digital approaches and 
technologies so that the Council becomes increasingly effective in meeting changing 
customer, resident and government expectations. This means the need and opportunity is not 
simply to do things digitally but to do things differently and to do different things. The intention 
to bring together sustainability and economic development is a good example of this type of 
approach.  

5. The Council has begun to respond to changing user expectations and needs by exploiting the 
new technologies and capabilities it has developed over the last three years. Where possible, 
key line of business systems have moved to the cloud using open interfaces that make these 
systems more easily linked together. This means, for example, that data doesn’t need to be 
stored in multiple systems but can be shared so that there is just ‘one version of the truth’ 
reducing errors and improving efficiency. This has enabled more flexible working practices, 
simplified integrations with other systems and significantly improved resilience.  

6. In response to Covid-19, the Council has strengthened its digital capability, supporting a 
predominantly remote workforce. This brings benefits in terms of productivity, reduced travel 
time, and less time spent making offsite visits. Officers will be tasked with capturing these 
efficiencies to ensure they are not lost over time. 

Proposals to support recovery 20/21 to 21/22  

7. Our proposals to support recovery are intended to address four key efficiency issues. How 
does the Council: 

(i) change its operating model and methods of working to benefit from recent learning and 
deliver efficiencies? 

Council - 30 September 2020 43



APPENDIX C 

  

(ii) become more responsive to its environment, learn, adapt and develop services faster as 
expectations and needs change? 

(iii) become more efficient and effective in how it delivers services to residents, customers 
and businesses?  

(iv) deliver the change required while also responding to the financial challenges? 

8. The scale, breadth and technical requirements of the work will require a series of related and 
linked activities to be completed. These will be coordinated through an efficiency review 
programme which will be organised into key workstreams and include a strong focus on 
benefits realisation; it will draw on external experts working alongside our own staff.  

9. The service offer will need to be reviewed to consider opportunities to reduce or stop services 
where priorities have changed; of course, this may be offset by new requirements which have 
arisen from Covid-19. Operational processes will need to be developed to deliver efficiency 
based on effective use of technology and new ways of working. Contact with residents, 
customers and businesses will need to be revised to reflect changing needs and expectations 
enabled by effective use of technology and increased use of online processes for routine 
transactions. 

10. The planned phases of the efficiency review are shown below, with some activities running 
concurrently.  

Efficiency Review Programme in Outline:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council - 30 September 2020 44



APPENDIX C 

  

11. The review will broadly split into three phases each overlapping the other. The initial phases of 
the work will be Proposal and Discovery. Some of this is already under way and will enable 
detailed data gathering to inform the development of business cases and implementation 
plans. Business cases will define the new operating models and ways of working which guide 
the redesign of services over an 18-month period to March 2022. The Discovery work will also 
inform the Council’s approach to contracts and commissioning. This will identify contract, 
partnership and shared service opportunities. These will be implemented at a timetable to be 
agreed and dependent on recommendations and current contract end dates.  

12. During the Discovery process, some processes can be refined immediately, leading to 
potential future savings. The implementation will aim to engage with services in turn so that 
the maximum benefit can be achieved in service redesign. However, the implementation will 
also focus in its early stages on quick wins and organisation-wide improvement which can be 
delivered speedily.  

Efficiency Challenges 

Operating Model and methods of working 

13. Guidance on social distancing in the workplace has required a significant shift in the 
working arrangements for staff and the management of the Council. Since the start of the 
pandemic there has been a focus on reducing the number of staff in the office and enabling 
home working to ensure the safety of staff. In the first weeks of the outbreak, the Council 
accelerated the programme to issue laptops and other mobile devices, now covering over 85% 
of the workforce. Coupled with accelerated implementation of Office 365 in only a few weeks, 
this has enabled staff to access software and documents, and to collaborate from home. As 
the lockdown period has extended and changed, this has developed into more flexible working 
patterns for a range of staff.  

Examples: Flexible working 

Service Area Shift in flexible 
working  

Summary 

Revenues and 
Benefits  

 5.5% to 50% A range of home working efficiencies including 
reduced travel costs. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

 15% to 90% Use of Teams as a platform to deliver virtual 1-2-1’s 
and group sessions – saves on venue hire; 
Teams for meetings with partners has saved travel 
time; 

Planning   6% to 95% An increased home working pattern has not impacted 
productivity, performance or quality of work. Feedback 
from staff is that this flexibility is welcomed and 
beneficial 

Digital and 
Technology 

 12% to 60% New service management tools in the cloud now 
support remote working. This also provides resilience 
enabling digital support services to be delivered 24/7 
off site if needed. 

 
14. Similarly, responding to the pandemic has meant that senior managers within the Council have 

faced significant external and internal pressures. They have needed to ensure services 
continue to keep communities safe and healthy, revise resilience plans as guidance has 
changed and ensure the Council’s staff are supported and safe. This has meant, due to the 
limited size of Council’s workforce, that senior managers have been pulled into tactical and 
operational detail. In the short term this has enabled the operational changes needed but it is 
not sustainable given the continued pace of change. 

Council - 30 September 2020 45



APPENDIX C 

  

Responsive, learning and adapting services 

15. The initial lockdown and continued requirement to social distance has meant the Council has 
needed to adapt rapidly to different ways of providing existing services to meet changing 
resident, customer and business need. Some systems and processes have been adapted to 
respond to more service requests so that the customer is not required to come into the offices. 
This means digital channels have become increasingly important. 

16. In order to maintain social distancing, the Council’s reception has had restricted access from 
24th March 2020. The Council has continued to support many vulnerable groups including 
homeless people and households. Like many organisations nationally, the Council has seen 
significant channel shift with increased use of the website, other virtual channels and some 
reduced telephone contact.  

17. Over the course of the pandemic the Council has seen an overall 3% increase in 
communications with customers, residents and businesses. As lockdown measures have been 
implemented, we have seen a 76% drop in visits to reception. Reception has remained open 
for those unable to access Council services in any other way. This has predominantly been 
people presenting as homeless. 

18. Revenues and Benefits have received no visits to reception. One reason for this is that 
evidence for a claim can, temporarily, be accepted digitally. There has been a 16% increase in 
digitally received work items. Significantly, despite the challenges in setting up new grant 
schemes and the subsequent increase in workloads, the service has maintained the 4-week 
processing time for benefits casework.  

19. Housing Services have been able to concentrate on more casework by removing the drop-in 
service for all but the most vulnerable. This increased capacity is being focused on 
homelessness prevention. Even discounting discretionary Covid-19 cases, data shows that 
demand has increased following the crisis (approx. 13% more people in Temporary 
Accommodation). Since March this year the service has managed around 12% more 
homelessness prevention cases. 

20. Partners and businesses are also adapting and changing the ways in which they deliver their 
services. This can provide further opportunity for the Council to learn and adapt services. For 
example, West Sussex County Council has had feedback from young people that they prefer 
keeping in touch with their social worker or personal advisor by text, WhatsApp, or video calls. 
Many young people are much more responsive to this approach, so that visits are more 
productive and held more frequently. The County Council has also been able to use video 
technology to maintain contact visits for families who have been able to better engage with 
staff using virtual contact and appreciate shorter more frequent contacts. 

21. However, enabling the same processes and decision making through video conferencing and 
collaboration platforms is not the same as delivering efficient and scalable services. Further 
work is needed to ensure the Council has systems and services that will continue to adapt 
rapidly to needs internally and externally. There are opportunities to outsource some 
processes, as distinct from line of business systems, to use cheaper and highly interactable 
capabilities. This will also have the benefit of reducing duplicated capabilities and therefore 
costs in systems. For example, the Council is able to take advantage of joint development 
across Government to exploit the range of .Gov platforms. 

22. Streamlining the customer service experience and making all services accessible and easy to 
use for everyone is an opportunity to not only make services accessible, but to rethink how the 
Council provides services and whether it is the best placed to do so. This element of 
responsive services will be picked up in the review of contracting and commissioning. 

Council - 30 September 2020 46



APPENDIX C 

  

23. In doing so the Council will recognise the importance of digital inclusion, which has taken on a 
new urgency. All services have seen an increase in the willingness and expectation to engage 
digitally and by phone, however, a limiting factor is digital exclusion. For example, some clients 
for health and wellbeing programmes do not have the technology to access services and these 
are not easily adapted to work on the phone where demonstrations of exercises or techniques 
are critical. 

24. To ensure a focus on those in most need, moving routine transactions to digital processes will 
enable resources to be focused on those in most need where physical interactions are the only 
way of delivering the service.  

Efficient and effective 

25. The Council currently has contracted services in place for services including waste collection 
and recycling, cleansing, leisure and landscapes. Most of the larger contracts are managed in 
the Commercial Services & Contracts division. There are also a range of building related 
contracts in Corporate Estates & Facilities. Large, long term contracts are in place for Leisure 
Services (Places Leisure), Waste Collection & Street Cleansing (SERCO), and Landscapes 
maintenance (IDVerde). 

26. There is an opportunity to expand on this base of expertise with a focus on applying contract 
management disciplines rather than technical, service-related knowledge. This would be with 
the aim of identifying opportunities to leverage contracts to deliver savings and efficiency. 
There may be the opportunity, given changes in the contracting market, to work together with 
the market to improve performance through agreeing mutual objectives for continuous 
improvement and sharing gains. For example, we are already aware that ‘1-2-3’ cycle of waste 
disposal, including food waste, has increased recycling rates in other parts of the country as 
well as providing efficiencies in the costs of disposal. 

27. Expert advice will be sought to test the Council’s current contract management arrangements 
and to consider options. This may include merging similar services to achieve process and 
transactional savings in larger scale contracts (e.g. Public Realm/Environmental Services). 
Specialist work will be required to consider the future management of leisure services. Some 
areas of the Council’s business, which require but have a variable demand for specialist or 
technical skills, may also be considered. 

28. The Discovery work will include an appraisal of options for improvements in quality and 
efficiency in the Council’s management of procurement and contracts. This will propose 
strategy and improvement to ensure the Council is using the market effectively to achieve 
value for money in service provision, including: 

(i) opportunities for greater contract provision of services where this may deliver efficiency; 

(ii) use of shared services and partnering;  

(iii) maximising the benefits of framework contracts such as SCAPE;  

(iv) the opportunity and benefit of joining them up the Council’s existing contracts;  

(v) using procurement to deliver social value in line with its priorities, including use of local 
suppliers and using sustainable solutions.  

Council - 30 September 2020 47



APPENDIX C 

  

Examples: Service adaptions and efficiencies 

29. The rapid changes in our context have meant we have needed to develop and deliver new 
services with short notice and adapt and iterate as new requirements and guidance are 
developed. We have responded well, diverting resources from previous priorities. 

Service Area 
Service 
Adaptations 

Summary 

Revenues 
and Benefits  

Process 
changes to 
reduce need 
for customer 
visits 

Easing of DWP and MHCLG restrictions on original 
documents has enabled photographic proof to be 
submitted. This has reducing the need for customers to 
come (saving them time and money) and freed up 
customer services staff time.  

E-forms have improved to provide simpler workflows 
speeding up processes and improving the customer 
experience supporting them to transact more online which 
is cheaper for the Council 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Wellbeing 
coaches 

1:1 lifestyle support programme has been adapted to be 
delivered virtually. This has enabled a new channel for 
delivery reducing the need for participants to travel and 
reduced venue costs.  

Weight off 
workshop 

The first virtual 6-week group is halfway through the 
programme with improved retention - 100% of 
participants. A new platform also provides access to 
online exercise offering new services for minimal costs to 
participants. 

Planning 
(Development 
Control) 

Virtual 
meetings 

Pre-application advice meetings although more recently 
we have been transferring these to Zoom/Teams. 

Design Review Panel has been held via Zoom, rather 
than face to face. 

Notices Under temporary government guidance planning notices 
can be issued virtually and this has saved both time and 
money. 

Digital and 
Technology 

Increased 
integrations 
across back 
office systems 

Linking telephony and Teams to enable outbound calls to 
be made via Teams. This has enabled more flexible 
working and patching on of customers to meetings where 
they do not have the available technology. 

Revised web 
pages and 
use of .gov. 
processes  

Integration of Gov.notify to enable mass communication 
for services at a lower cost. This covers digital, print and 
messaging services. 

Reductions in internal emails and calls. Staff report more 
efficient collaboration – able to collaborate on documents 
and presentations in real time rather than sequentially.  

Rapid 
deployment of 
collaboration 
tools 

Supporting staff with remote support software that works 
on either personal or Council equipment. This means staff 
can be supported wherever they are and that software 
distribution methods don’t require Council equipment. 

 

Council - 30 September 2020 48



APPENDIX C 

  

Effective and Responsive Services – Recovery Plan 2020/21 and 2021/22 

SHORT TERM 

1. Operating model and methods of working 

(i) Identify additional capacity and expertise to assist with organisational design 

(ii) Managerial/functional review to: 

• Identify initial tranche of staff savings; 

• Support revised corporate plan medium and long term. 

(iii) Implement immediate learning from Covid-19 response to support operational 
effectiveness including working patterns and productivity, digital literacy, remote and 
flexible working: 

• Research with Senior Managers and staff survey. 

2. Responsive learning and adapting service 

(i) Identify additional capacity and expertise to assist with service design: 

(ii) Proposal for redesigning services using revised service plan work as template; 

• Initial data gathering on customer contacts, service volumes and performance; 

• Identify customer journeys and opportunities for channel shift; 

(iii) Identify learning from Covid-19 response: 

• BUL’s task and finish group; 

• Managers interviews and staff surveys. 

(iv) Plan and implement interim process and systems changes to support delivery of the 
revised Corporate Plan actions. 

3. Efficient and effective 

(i) Identify additional capacity and expertise to assist review of contract management and 
commissioning; 

• Initial candidates for opportunities for greater contract provision of services 
where this may deliver efficiency; 

• Maximising use of frameworks to reduce time to market. 

Council - 30 September 2020 49



APPENDIX C 

  

MEDIUM TERM 

4. Operating model and methods of working 

(i) Management restructure; 

(ii) Review of service need and impact on organisational structure to: 

• Support revised corporate plan;  

• Support new ways of working;  

• Reflect revised contract and commissioning strategy. 

(iii) Develop interim People Strategy to: 

• Identify capacity required to deliver 21/22 Service Plan with estimated income 
levels; 

• Support Covid-19 ways of working;  

(iv) Ensure staff have effective development and training programme to support new ways 
of working. 

5. Responsive learning and adapting service 

(i) Identify candidates to improve processes and use of digital tools; 

• Identify process outsourcing opportunities (.Gov capabilities – ‘Notify, Pay’); and 

• Further standardisation of digital tools (for example, partnering on web 
components, 

(ii) Develop and implement model for customer services improvement. 

6. Efficient and effective 

(i) Contracting and Commissioning Strategy to inform medium- and long-term efficiency 
objectives; 

(ii) Establish contract management operational changes to support new strategy; 

(iii) Use procurement to deliver recovery priorities for example, social value in line with 
priorities, including use of local suppliers and using sustainable solutions 

Council - 30 September 2020 50



APPENDIX C 

  

LONG TERM 

7. Operating model and methods of working 

(i) Review and implement further service structural changes to deliver second tranche of 
savings, reflect findings of service design, changing demands and contract and 
commissioning reviews to: 

• Support new corporate plan; 

• Support new ways of working;  

• Reflect revised contract and commissioning strategy. 

(ii) Complete new People Strategy including: 

• Revised Policies on Home and flexible working. 

8. Responsive learning and adapting service 

(i) Establish ongoing service redesign process and capabilities; 

• Design board to include all service representation; 

• Establish Product Management approach for joint ownership of systems and 
processes that support services. 

9. Efficient and effective 

(i) Implement strategy including revised contracting arrangements. 

 

Council - 30 September 2020 51



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D 

Council Priority: Financial Independence – Impact of the Covid-19 Crisis 

Summary 

1. The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is to ensure the effective 
planning and allocation of resources to enable the Council to meet the objectives it has 
set out in its Corporate Plan.  This review of the Plan has been prepared at a time of 
great uncertainty with regard to the Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on the 
economy.  

2. The revised Corporate Plan and MTFP will be considered by the Scrutiny Committee 
on 26th August 2020, and by Cabinet on 14th September 2020 before approval at 
Council on 30th September 2020. 

3. Although in a better financial position than many other local authorities, the Council 
has seen a significant drain on its budgets and reserves due to the impact of Covid-19.  
Although lockdown is now eased slightly, the full impact of the virus is still to be seen 
but the current estimated net cost to the Council is £8.3m over the MTFP. 

4. The financial position over the medium term shows an annual revenue budget deficit of 
around £2m (before use of General Reserve for Covid-19) for four years, before falling 
to £218k by 2024/25. The deficit has been reduced by the forecast delivery revenue 
savings (Appendix C refers).  

5. The revised MTFP assumes a new and significant level of revenue savings in order to 
assist the Council in addressing the financial impact of the pandemic. These revenue 
savings are profiled at £250k per annum over the MTFP.  

6. Levels of deficit are dependent upon underlying assumptions around income and 
expenditure changes.  Work to implement these savings and ensure a balanced 
budget for 2021/22 onwards will continue and be reported as part of the 2021/22 
budget process. 

7. Before the pandemic the Council budgeted to generate £13.2m of income through 
rents, fees and charges annually with a further £10.5m from Council Tax. This 
relatively high level of fees and charges has increased the Council’s financial exposure 
to Covid-19. 

8. Capital Funding – The capital programme is relatively modest and can be continued 
without revision.  The Capital Strategy has been reviewed and does not need 
amending as written; however, attention will be needed to reflect the greater call on the 
General Reserve and the need to increase our financing from other sources where that 
is available. 

9. Reserves - The Council’s general reserves (both earmarked and unearmarked) were 
£14.3m at the start of 2020/21, of which the majority are earmarked.  The risk 
assessment proposes that the Council should maintain general reserves at a minimum 
of circa £1.5m. Current projections suggest unearmarked reserves will be almost 
£3.4m above that level by March 2021, falling to £2.3m by 2024/25. 

10. The Council is financially very secure and is able to accommodate a significant budget 
gap on a temporary basis but will need to rebalance its income and expenditure over 
the term of the MTFP. 

Council - 30 September 2020 53



APPENDIX D 

The role of the MTFP 

11. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of the financial 
management structure of local authorities which seeks to ensure there are sufficient 
resources available to deliver the Council priorities. 

12. The medium-term financial planning process has been in place for a number of years 
and is an established part of the budget setting process.  It provides a forecast of the 
cost of continuing to provide existing levels of service and the resources, both capital 
and revenue, that are likely to be available to the Council over the period.  It also 
shows any shortfalls and sets out how this will be managed.   

13. The MTFP considers the Council’s major service strategies and plans, the external 
financial environment, the financial demands of services and the Council’s existing and 
projected financial resources.  The MTFP is reviewed annually but covers a rolling 5-
year period. It was last reviewed in September 2019 as part of the 2020/21 budget 
setting process and the financial model was last updated and approved alongside the 
Council’s budgets in February 2020.  It is therefore a key element of the financial 
management cycle: 

14. The MTFP is supported by: 

• The annual revenue budget; 

• The Capital Strategy and capital programme; 

• The Reserve Strategy and risk assessment of the level of reserves; 

• The Treasury Management Strategy (including the Investment Strategy and 
Borrowing Strategy); 

• The Council’s Constitution, in particular the Financial Procedure Rules and 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

15. All of these documents are reviewed annually in order to guide the Corporate Plan and 
Budget for the following year.  This year we are adjusting the MTFP in-year to show 
the dramatic effect that the Covid-19 pandemic is having, and is forecast to have, upon 
the Council’s finances. 

The impact of the pandemic on 2020/21 finances 

16. This section summarises the main impacts to date and the uncertainties around 
estimating the financial impact on the Council. 

Income from customers 

17. The greatest impact to date has been the reduction in income from fees and charges, 
but especially the management fee from the Leisure Contract due to the closure of 
facilities by government direction.  This table shows the position as part of the first 
Budget Management report: 

Council - 30 September 2020 54



APPENDIX D 

 
Table 1: Key income/expenditure to the end of May 2020 

 INCOME    2020/21   Profiled   2020/21 
Pressure/ 
(Saving)   Projected 

    Actual to   2020/21   Original To end   Year-end 

    May   Budget   Budget May   Variance 

    £’000   £’000   £’000 £’000   £’000 
               

Car Park Charges     (22)   (386)   (2,151) 364   949 

Development 
Management Fees  

  
(149) 

  
(250) 

  
(1,494) 101 

 
 598 

Building Control Fees    (44)   (113)   (549) 69   264 

Land Charges    (15)   (30)   (153) 15   0 

Licensing Act Fees    (10)   (8)   (145) (2)   0 

Hackney Carriage Fees    (10)   (23)   (139) 13   0 

Outdoor Facilities Income    7   (56)   (279) 64   114 

Garden Waste    (156)   (170)   (1,459) 14   113 

Leisure Contract Income    (0)   (241)   (1,444) 241   1,487 

Industrial Estates Rents    (274)   (279)   (1,344) 5   88 

Town Centre Rents    (501)   (567)   (2,867) 66   200 

Depot Rent    (19)   (20)   (80) 1   0 

General/Miscellaneous 
Property   

  
(57) 

  
(73) 

  
(291) 16 

 
 0 

               
               

               

Total Income    (1,250)   (2,216)   (12,395) 966   3,813 
               

               

  

  

           
               

 
18. Although income has started to recover it is currently unclear when, if ever, income will 

return to former levels.  

19. For the current year there is some relief.  On 2nd July 2020 the Government 
announced a new scheme to help to reimburse lost income during the pandemic and 
boost cash flow.  Where losses are more than 5% of a council’s planned income from 
sales, fees and charges, the Government will cover them for 75p in every pound lost.  
The scheme expressly does not cover rental income. 

20. Based on a calculation of forecast losses the potential lost income from fees and 
charges to be recovered is: 

 £’000s £’000s 

Total forecast loss 3,525  

Floor @ 5% 443  

Net loss  3,082 

@ 75% recovery  2,311 

 
21. The effect of this would be to change the forecast loss set out in the last Budget 

Management report to Cabinet of 6th July 2020 of £2.9m to £600k.  However, this does 
not take into account the full expected costs of reopening leisure centres and some of 
the closure costs, together presently estimated to be £2.5m. There is at present no 
firm indication that this expenditure will be refunded from some central source. 

Council - 30 September 2020 55



APPENDIX D 

22. It is also expected that the income loss will continue into 2021/22 onwards although 
the income protection scheme will end with the current financial year.  We are 
therefore having to forecast forward on the basis that income is reduced over the 
medium term, and for the purposes of planning will allow a reduction of £2m per year 
from 2021/22 for three more years.  

Council Tax 

23. The Council budgeted to collect £117m of Council Tax in 2020/21 on behalf of the 
preceptors.  The level of tax takes into account the number, occupation and type of 
properties across the District, the expected level of collection and the expected level of 
claim for Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS). 

24. The Council faces two major challenges around Council Tax due to the decreased 
level of employment and increased claimants for Universal Credit and other support.  
The number of claims for support through CTRS have increased from an expected 
level of 5,362 to 6,147 at 31st July 2020.  However, we have also seen a reduction in 
levels of payment but only around 0.2%. This could be because some 21,000 workers 
in Mid Sussex are currently furloughed and therefore still being paid.  It is not currently 
possible to predict with any certainty how much of this will be irrecoverable due to 
default. 

25. Currently officers predict an increased cost of £500k for the CTRS and a non-
significant reduction in collection for 2020/21.  Any deficit on Council Tax collection is 
split between preceptors based on their share of the Council Tax and normally has to 
be charged to the following financial year.   

26. As part of the funding package announced on 2nd July 2020 the Government has 
proposed any deficit may be spread over three years rather than the usual one year. 
The Government will determine if there is to be any additional support to councils to 
offset lost income from Council Tax as part of the next Spending Review. 

Business Rates 

27. The Council collects Non-Domestic Rates (usually known as business rates) and 
shares the income with Government (50%) and West Sussex County Council (10%) 
after reductions for reliefs, discounts and bad debts. 

28. The Government has made funding available for additional Retail, Hospitality and 
Leisure reliefs and Nursery reliefs given to business rate payers.  

29. The total amount of rates expected to be collected in 2020/21 has been reduced by 
over 60% from £50m to under £20m. The Government will reimburse the Council for 
the additional relief granted.  This relief gives a very significant financial boost to 
eligible businesses and will cushion the Council’s financial impact for 2020/21. 

30. The financial impact on business rates is especially hard to predict as the large 
number of reliefs will temporarily obscure the potential number of businesses who will 
either not be trading or will be unable to pay their business rate bill from April 2021.  
Presently we are 4.5% down in collection (as at 30 June). 

31. There may also be reductions in the rates payable due to appeals against the rateable 
value of individual properties where there is a material change in circumstances arising 
from Covid-19. 

Council - 30 September 2020 56



APPENDIX D 

Expenditure 

32. The full additional costs are still being accumulated and will not be complete until the 
end of the year.  The greatest additional costs relate to homelessness, where more 
people than forecast have been accommodated; green waste collection costs where 
the service was suspended for a month, and ICT equipment like laptops and screens.  
The requested support to the leisure provider for the closure of the centres is by far the 
largest expense item for the year, at £2.5m. 

33. Much of the more service related additional costs will be fully offset by the additional 
Government grant received to date of £1.5m which was taken in to account within the 
last Budget Management Report. 

 
 
34. However, the financial position of the leisure service is our most significant and 

pressing concern and this was fully explained in the report to the special Council 
meeting of 19th August 2020. 

35. We now need to take these factors into account and set this out in the usual format. 

Reworking the MTFP 

Process and assumptions 

36. Fundamental to our planning over the medium term is that at some point, the wider 
economy at some point, returns to near-normal levels; where normal means pre-
pandemic levels.  We are assuming this means that over the period of the medium 
term (i.e. to 2024/25), some intervention and financial assistance is necessary, but that 
after that, the budget can be balanced with income matching expenditure again. 

37. As part of the general update the MTFP has had entries added to show new pressures 
shown in the last Budget Management report to Cabinet in July.  These were outlined 
in the report and further explained below. 

 

Table 2 COVID 19 Related Pressures 2020/21 

         Pressure   Projected 

        To end   Year-end 

        May   Variance 

Expenditure / Income         £’000   £’000 
  

          

Digital & Technology – IT equipment and temporary member of 
staff for the IT Helpdesk  

      
27 

 
 27 

Corporate Facilities - additional cleaning of offices and securing 
of outdoor facilities  

      
3 

 
 3 

Housing Rough Sleepers        14   26 

Refuse Collection (cost of social distancing additional trucks)        29   29 

Leisure Centres – costs of closure        365   520 

Leisure Closure Consultancy        0   10 
  

       

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

            

Total         438   615 
            

  

       

 
 

   

 
 

 

Council - 30 September 2020 57



APPENDIX D 

38. Similarly, we are assuming that inflation drops away in 2020/21 but returns to 2% or so 
in future years.  This figure is recalculated annually and the MTFP can therefore be 
adjusted as per our usual practice.   

39. Importantly, and fundamentally, this review of the MTFP assumes that there is no 
further grant towards our increased costs or our lost income in future financial years 
over the life of the plan.  Note that this is a prudent assumption based only on the 
announcements made thus far.  In the event that the scheme is extended we can 
revise our forecasts. 

Basic adjustments 

Council Tax Base 

40. There are some factors that can be adjusted now, for situations that we know about.  
One of these is the Council Tax Base.  Members will recall that this generally 
increases each year, mainly as a result of new properties being added.  This increase 
can be tempered by discounts, both single adult and the range of other discounts 
(mental impairment disregard etc) and by the effect of the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS).  The CTRS replaced Council Tax Benefit in 2013 with a discount on 
a Council Tax bill but, rather than having a cash effect, it actually manifests as a 
reduction in the Tax Base and a consequent reduction in tax raising powers.  It should 
be noted that this affects all tiers of local government that use the Tax Base to set their 
taxes and have percentage constraints on the tax increases.  It follows then that towns 
and parish councils are unaffected.  

41. We had previously forecast an increase of 1.4% in the Tax Base but now feel that 
growth will be more subdued and the increased numbers of CTRS claims (mentioned 
above) may mean that we need to reduce the forecast growth to 1% for next year.   

42. Future years will be left as previously but these assumptions are tested and amended 
as necessary each year. 

Vacancy savings 

43. The Plan includes a significant level of savings within the financial year.  These arise 
because of posts left unfilled due to a reduction in workload in several business units.  
Members should be aware that these savings are for 2021/21 only and the need for 
the posts will be reviewed as part of the normal budget process.  

Use of Specific Reserves 

44. Many business units have built up funds within Specific Reserves which would be used 
for certain specified purposes rather than general revenue expenditure.  However, 
where circumstances allow, the budget holders are being encouraged to use these 
reserves in order to relieve the pressure on revenue spending in this year.  This is 
expected to total £250k in this year. 

Revenue savings 

45. The impact of the crisis on the finances of the Council is severe. In addition to the 
anticipated impact on the Council’s reserves, the revised MTFP has been adjusted to 
include revenue savings of £250k per annum over the next four years. (Appendix C 
provides detail of the work to support this). 

Council - 30 September 2020 58



APPENDIX D 

Movements to reserves 

46. To aid clarity and transparency we have assumed that all previously agreed 
movements to reserves (e.g. Contribution to Development Plan Reserve) remain.  For 
modelling purposes, we are making any further adjustments via new lines on the Plan. 

47. It would also be prudent to look ahead for other factors that may influence the Plan 
over the next few years. 

Economic Outlook 

48. The full extent of the impact of the pandemic has still to be fully reflected.  In the short 
term there has been a severe global downturn, with mass job losses and declines in 
output.  Massive central bank and Government support has eased some of the pain 
but will not prevent business closures, especially in the already troubled high street.  
The ONS published its ‘Business Impact of Coronavirus Survey’ which reported that 
the number of firms ceasing trading has slowed from 25% in early April to 18% in the 
first half of May.  

49. The furlough scheme will be pared back in August, which will put businesses into a 
position of whether to retain staff or release them.  This could force the Bank of 
England to loosen policy further in order to generate demand and push inflation back 
towards the 2% target.  The easing of the lockdown on 13th May 2020 generated only 
modest recovery in activity.  Data shows that GDP declined by 5.8% m/m in March, 
even though lockdown was only in place for nine days.  Worst hit sectors were those 
where social distancing was a fundamental problem such as hotels/restaurants, 
education and transport/leisure.  

50. Consumer spending will be helped by the lifting of restrictions, but it will take time to 
recover.  Retail sales dropped by a record 18.1% m/m in April, pulling sales to 2005 
levels.  Online sales benefited but clothing and petrol sales were badly hit, both falling 
by more than 50% m/m, and even food and drink spending suffered, but to a far lesser 
degree.  With hotels/restaurants/car sales falling outside of retail sales, overall 
consumption contraction will be even sharper over Q2, possibly up to 25%. On the 
plus side, with nothing to spend on, household debt was reduced by a record £7.4bn.  
Consumers remain pessimistic about their financial position, indicating that a return to 
normality remains a way off, even though shops are starting to open. 

51. The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme should ensure that the rate of unemployment 
has not run away during the pandemic.  Nationally, the claimant count unemployment 
rate increased to 5.8%, but with Universal Credit claims having fallen back nationally, 
the rate of joblessness might peak at around 9%, which would be lower than had been 
initially feared.  Average earnings growth fell to 2.4% in March but was set to fall 
further in April. 

52. Consumer price inflation (CPI) has fallen and will remain subdued as it will likely take 
demand some time to fully recover.  April saw CPI ease to 0.8%, after the largest 
monthly decline since December 2008.  Underlying core inflation has dipped, while 
output price inflation is in negative territory for the first time in nearly four years.  With 
demand having collapsed, core deflation will deepen, particularly in the hardest hit 
industries.  Analysts do not see CPI inflation getting too close to the 2% target in the 
next 18 months. 

53. Equity markets have continued to reverse losses and are expected to gradually climb 
over the coming years.  At the end of July, the FTSE 100 had recovered 18% from the 
March crash. 

Council - 30 September 2020 59



APPENDIX D 

54. Governments have increased levels of debt to unprecedented levels, which will likely 
take some time after the pandemic clears to bring down to more manageable levels. 
Central banks are maintaining stability and viability of their financial markets with 
massive asset purchasing programmes.  These also help to suppress upside rate 
pressures, having followed interest rate policies that have seen all major central banks 
slash interest rates to, or almost zero percent.  The Bank of England base rate is 
currently 0.1%.  This low level has had a major impact on the Council’s investment 
income.  Interest rates have been predicted to increase beyond 0.5% in 18 months for 
the last eight years and have not.  The financial model prudently assumes base rate 
remains at the current level for the duration of the model. 

National Policy 

2020 Comprehensive Spending Review 

55. The Chancellor has launched the 2020 Comprehensive Spending Review, which will 
report in the Autumn and will set out the Government’s revenue spending plans for 
2021-22 to 2023-24 (and capital plans to 2024-25).   

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/chancellor-launches-comprehensive-spending-
review 

56. No “spending envelope” has been set by the Chancellor in advance of the spending 
because of the “unprecedented uncertainty” caused by Covid-19.  He has, however, 
“confirmed that departmental spending (both capital and resource) will grow in real 
terms across the CSR period”. 

57. On the face of it, this suggests that there will be no return to austerity but the 
redirection of resources within the public sector means that there will still be cuts in 
lower-priority services. The Chancellor refers to the “tough choices in other areas of 
spending” and that “departments have been asked to identify opportunities to 
reprioritise and deliver savings”.  Local government will certainly not be immune to 
these cuts, although we should expect funding increases (alongside reform) in adult 
social care. 

58. Various other tax changes and reviews have been announced by the Financial 
Secretary to the Treasury via a written statement, including announcements affecting 
business rates:  

https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-
statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-07-21/HCWS400/ 

Business Rates review 

59. A review of business rates was previously announced in the Spring 2020 Budget.   The 
effect of COVID19 on the economy and on business rates has made fundamental 
change to business rates – or even replacement with a different business tax – much 
more likely.   Responses on proposals for the multiplier and rate reliefs are required by 
18 September (for an interim Autumn report) and on the remaining questions by 31 
October 2020 (for the review’s conclusions in Spring 2021).     

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/hm-treasury-fundamental-review-of-
business-rates-call-for-evidence 

60. In the meantime we are forecasting existing levels of business rates income within the 
MTFP. 

Council - 30 September 2020 60

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fnews%2Fchancellor-launches-comprehensive-spending-review&data=02%7C01%7CPeter.Stuart%40midsussex.gov.uk%7C65ad439e71df4018831f08d82e1c1139%7C248de4f9d13548cca4c8babd7e9e8703%7C0%7C0%7C637310045365293004&sdata=lJqiPjOVbLvwF%2Fkp6ECMnS3sm3eUABte4bdHNar6zR4%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fnews%2Fchancellor-launches-comprehensive-spending-review&data=02%7C01%7CPeter.Stuart%40midsussex.gov.uk%7C65ad439e71df4018831f08d82e1c1139%7C248de4f9d13548cca4c8babd7e9e8703%7C0%7C0%7C637310045365293004&sdata=lJqiPjOVbLvwF%2Fkp6ECMnS3sm3eUABte4bdHNar6zR4%3D&reserved=0
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-07-21/HCWS400/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2020-07-21/HCWS400/
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Fhm-treasury-fundamental-review-of-business-rates-call-for-evidence&data=02%7C01%7CPeter.Stuart%40midsussex.gov.uk%7C65ad439e71df4018831f08d82e1c1139%7C248de4f9d13548cca4c8babd7e9e8703%7C0%7C0%7C637310045365302965&sdata=PgiyoSLFJ0ZEZG592130%2BIh9l71CSOdr0sIPS%2FU%2BSgI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Fhm-treasury-fundamental-review-of-business-rates-call-for-evidence&data=02%7C01%7CPeter.Stuart%40midsussex.gov.uk%7C65ad439e71df4018831f08d82e1c1139%7C248de4f9d13548cca4c8babd7e9e8703%7C0%7C0%7C637310045365302965&sdata=PgiyoSLFJ0ZEZG592130%2BIh9l71CSOdr0sIPS%2FU%2BSgI%3D&reserved=0


APPENDIX D 

Business rate revaluation 

61. The next revaluation was going to take effect on 1st April 2022 (based on a valuation 
date of 1st April 2019).   A postponement of revaluation was announced in May 
2020.   This statement confirms that the next revaluation will take place a year later, on 
1st April 2023, and it will be based on property values as of 1st April 2021 “so that it 
better reflects the impact of Covid-19”. 

New Homes Bonus (NHB) 

62. This scheme was introduced in 2011/12 as a way to encourage local authorities to 
facilitate housing growth.  The grant is top sliced from Revenue Support Grant and 
paid as an un-ringfenced revenue grant.  The Government has indicated NHB is not 
delivering the policy objective of increasing new houses and will cease from 2020/21 
with only legacy payments made after April 2021.  These total £1.425m in 21/22 and 
£548k in 22/23. 

63. Whilst Mid Sussex does not use NHB to finance day to day spending, the ending of the 
scheme does affect the build up of the General Reserve over the longer term. 

Welfare Reforms and Universal Credit 

64. Universal Credit was to be introduced between 2013 and 2017 through the Welfare 
Reform Act.  Universal Credit is an integrated working-age credit that will provide a 
basic allowance with additional elements for children, disability, housing and caring.  It 
will support people both in and out of work.  For local authorities, this means the link 
between Housing Benefit and Council Tax discounts will be broken and that Universal 
Credit will be administered by the Department of Work and Pensions.  As Universal 
Credit currently only applies to new working age claims it is assumed the Council will 
continue to administer Housing Benefit for the duration of the MTFP. 

Homelessness 

65. For the whole of 2019/20 the maximum number of households in nightly paid 
temporary accommodation at any one time was above the target of 17.  For Q4 the 
monthly average was 45.  This rise is partly due to the increase in cases presenting 
during the Covid-19 pandemic.  This trend has continued into Q1 2020/21, with the 
monthly average being 48.  The main reasons for homelessness are: the reduced 
benefits for people of age under 35 years; high rents and loss of private sector 
tenancy; lack of affordable housing; and family relationship breakdowns with young 
adults leaving home (sometimes leaving home due to abuse).  The implementation of 
the Homelessness Reduction Act in April 2018 has also influenced outcomes, and this 
is reflected both regionally and nationally.  While additional grants will assist with the 
additional costs relating to Covid-19 cases there is a potential additional cost in the 
future. 

Environment Bill 

66. The Government is proposing a consistent set of materials to be recycled by each 
authority from households and businesses, including weekly collection of food waste. 
The Council currently collects cans, plastics, paper and card, glass and green waste 
free of charge fortnightly.  The financial impact of the proposals has not yet been 
evaluated. 

Council - 30 September 2020 61



APPENDIX D 

Council Tax 

67. The Council is committed to do all it can to reduce the financial burdens placed upon 
its residents and the Council was able to freeze its average Band D Council Tax for the 
five consecutive years from 2010/11 to 2015/16.   

68. Since 2016/17 there is now an expectation from Government that annual increases in 
Council Tax will form an integral part of the resources supporting local authorities. 
There is also an assumption, built into the Government’s calculation of Spending 
Power, that Councils will increase tax by the maximum permissible amount. 

69. The MTFP assumes the Council’s average Band D Council Tax will increase by £4.95 
per annum for a Band D equivalent property (from £170.46 at 1st April 2020).  Were the 
flexibility to increase by £5 or 3%, whichever is higher, to be available, this would be 
considered on a year by year basis. 

Income Generation 

70. The Local Government Association has long campaigned for local freedom for 
authorities to set fees based on local circumstances. 

71. The Council relies on a number of external income sources.  For example, car park 
charges contribute 20% of our overall income from rents and sales, fees and charges.  
Overall the fees for pay and display car parking have not increased since 2011/12.  A 
car parking strategy has been completed which includes several considerations, 
including a possible review of tariffs linked to location, but this needs revisiting for the 
post-Covid environment. 

72. The financial model assumes income from external charges in general increases by 
2% annually with the exception of parking charges, green waste and planning fees or 
other fees set by other bodies. 

73. The budget setting process for 2021/22 will recommend annual price rises for all sales, 
fees and charges where circumstances allow. 

Service Demand and Other Budget Pressures 

74. The Government expects local authorities to play a major part in revitalising the local 
economy and at the same time bear a share of the costs of Covid-19.  Nationally the 
greatest pressure on demand for services is due to the aging population profile and is 
mainly affecting immediate health and social care budgets.  There has been little 
concentration on longer term preventative measures such as housing, employment 
and leisure, where many of these services are provided by district councils in two tier 
areas, like Mid Sussex. 

75. Councils have increased requirements to prevent homelessness and have also seen 
an increase in the number of cases. 

76. The 2020/21 – 2024/25 financial model assumes levels of demand remain constant, 
with the exception of the homelessness service outlined above.  Other increases in 
demand will be addressed as a service budget pressure within the annual budget 
setting process. 

Council - 30 September 2020 62



APPENDIX D 

Overall impact 

77. The changes set out above have been included within the MTFP at Annex B.  

78. This shows that Mid Sussex will need to finance a deficit over the life of the plan of 
some £8.3m, in other words, the overall impact of Covid-19, over the life of this plan, is 
just over £12.3m with forecast Government funding of £4m taken into account. 

Effect on the General Reserve (GR) 

79. With this level of GR being used for 4 years (£6.3m) the outlook is as shown below 
(extract from Annex A): 

 
 
Note that this includes the minimum GR level of £1.5m 

 
Other matters 

Capital 

80. The Council’s Capital Strategy sets out how the Council will manage its capital 
investments in the future.  It is agreed on an annual basis and sets out how capital 
contributes to the achievement of the Council’s corporate objectives, how capital 
resources are allocated and how capital projects should be managed and monitored to 
ensure the outcomes are delivered.  The Capital Strategy was approved by Council in 
February 2020. 

81. The Strategy has been reviewed and given that it is relatively modest there is no need 
to amend it prior to its next programmed review in March 2021.  

Reserves 

82. As part of the review of the cash balances, Interest income has been shown at pre-
Covid levels.  This calculation uses sizeable capital receipt income as the principal for 
future investment and at rates that had been forecast prior to the pandemic.  In all 
likelihood this will need adjusting downwards as economic conditions become clearer.  
The effect of this is to reduce our general reserve on a year on year basis; a factor that 
will increase in importance were levels to drop towards the minimum. 

83. As outlined elsewhere in these papers, it is proposed to draw on the general reserve to 
both augment an existing reserve (£300k) and set up a further specific reserve (£300k) 
to assist with our Covid-19 response (see below).  These have been included within 
the reserves forecast set out earlier. 

Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance

Note 01-Apr-20 31-Mar-21 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25

£ £ £ £ £ £

General Reserve

TOTAL GENERAL RESERVE6,132,556.63 6,132,557 5,555,756 5,280,819 4,700,357 3,637,251 4,462,145

Council - 30 September 2020 63



APPENDIX D 

Reserve to support work planned under Effective and Responsive Services 

84. The purpose of this reserve is to act as seed funding towards the cost of making 
efficiency savings over the next four years.  (Appendix C). It is expected that it will pay 
for external reviews and data gathering in order to better inform service efficiency.  It 
will not be used to finance the cost of implementing review outcomes – which should 
be the subject of a Business Case before proceeding. 

Economic and Community Covid-19 Recovery Grants 

85. It is proposed to allocate an additional £300k to the existing grant funding used by the 
Capital Grants Panel for economic and community grants. The purpose of this 
additional funding and a refocus of the economic and community grants will be to 
support businesses and the local community with modest grants to assist with Covid-
19 recovery work. As currently, the administration of these grants will be overseen by 
the Capital Grants Panel. Of course, the criteria for these new grants will need to be 
agreed by the Panel and this work can begin once Council agrees the whole package 
at its September meeting. (Also see action plan in Appendix A). 

Conclusion and Way Forward 

86. The financial model will be fully updated as we go into the budget cycle in the autumn.  
However, our preliminary forecasting shows that a deficit will be a feature of the MTFP 
over the next four years due to the impact of Covid-19. 

87. The most significant variables in the financial model are the nature and the extent of 
disruption from Covid-19 across many business units and the timing and nature of 
change in Government funding. 

88. The Council is now in a very serious financial position, although the adequate 
General Fund balances and reserves before the pandemic, robust financial 
management practices and excellent track record in achieving efficiency savings 
should assist in mitigating the worst of the effects. 

89. Further significant key decisions will still be needed to deliver savings while 
safeguarding frontline services to maintain a balanced budget. Members will note the 
proposal to achieve £1m of revenue savings over the next four years (£250k per 
annum). This is outlined in the revised MTFP (Annex B) and Appendix C provides 
detail of the work to support this. 

90. Significant changes were expected to the local government finance system from April 
2021, which are expected to reduce income available to the Council.  The timing of 
these changes is now very uncertain but do have the potential to destabilise our 
position quite significantly. 

91. The modest capital programme can continue into the future although other sources of 
funding other than the General Reserve will be investigated for their suitability 
wherever possible.  

Sensitivity analysis and scenario planning 

92. Risk Management is a key feature of the Council’s financial planning process. The 
Council is very aware of the need for effective risk management and considers that the 
assessment and minimisation of all types of risk to be vital.  It has an adopted Risk 
Management Strategy in place, and the financial risks to the Council are assessed in 
the context of the Council’s overall approach to risk management. 

Council - 30 September 2020 64



APPENDIX D 

93. To mitigate risk the Council regularly monitors its budgets.  The corporate Risk 
Management process is used by Mid Sussex to identify, monitor and report on risks. 
Quarterly performance monitoring reports provide a platform for the Members to 
scrutinise the financial and non-financial performance (e.g. local and national 
indicators). 

Council - 30 September 2020 65



APPENDIX D 

Annex A – Forecast Reserves Balances 

 
Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance

31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24 31/03/25

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Usable Reserves

General Reserve:

Non-Earmarked General Reserve 1 5,262 4,868 4,593 4,013 2,950 3,775 

Total Earmarked General Reserve 2 870 687 687 687 687 687 

Total General Reserve: 6,133 5,556 5,281 4,700 3,637 4,462 

Specific Reserve :

Housing 1,010 358 308 158 8 (95)

Planning Policy  & Economic Development 3,069 472 472 472 472 472 

Development Management 21 0 0 0 0 0 

Parking Services  94 (0) (0) (0) (0) (0)

Cleansing Services  141 83 83 83 83 83 

Landscapes and Leisure 407 168 168 168 168 168 

Community Services, Policy & Performance  375 556 525 525 525 525 

Corporate Estates and Facilities 5,566 5,566 5,566 5,566 5,566 5,566 

Finance Accountancy 14 19 24 28 33 37 

Finance  Corporate 134 701 1,093 1,625 2,219 2,813 

Revenues & Benefits  283 696 696 696 696 696 

ICT 74 74 74 74 74 74 

Human Resources & Payroll  1 1 1 1 1 1 

Democratic Services  148 191 235 279 322 366 

Land Charges 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Planning and Building Control Service Support 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Environmental Health 5 5 5 5 5 5 

Corporate Funds 3 4,363 4,383 4,383 4,383 4,383 4,383 

Total Specific Reserve: 4 15,709 13,273 13,632 14,062 14,555 15,094 

Total Revenue Reserves 21,842 18,829 18,913 18,763 18,192 19,556 

Total Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 5 1,145 12,873 22,823 32,773 32,723 32,673 

Total Capital Grants Unapplied Account 6 5,669 6,208 5,875 6,625 7,375 8,125 

Total Usable Reserves 28,655 37,910 47,611 58,160 58,289 60,353 

Other Balances

Total Capital Grants & Contributions -Receipts in 

Advance 9,061 8,448 8,448 8,448 8,448 8,448 

Total Other Balances 7 9,061 8,448 8,448 8,448 8,448 8,448 

Total Reserves and Other Balances 37,716 46,358 56,059 66,609 66,738 68,802 

NB. Figures to nearest £'000 therefore totals subject to rounding variations

Council - 30 September 2020 66



APPENDIX D 

Annex B – Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

 
 

Year 0 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4

Revenue Spending 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Base Net Expenditure  13,984  13,994  13,669  13,685  13,716 

Benefits (119) (119) (119) (119) (119)

Drainage levies  -  -  -  -  - 

Base Revenue Spending  13,865  13,875  13,550  13,566  13,597 

Balance Unallocated 28 20 20 20 20 

Council Net Expenditure  13,893  13,895  13,570  13,586  13,617 

Contribution to Rate Retention Scheme Equalisation Reserve  -  -  -  -  - 

Contribution to ICT Reserve (Digital)  -  -  -  -  - 

Contribution to Burgess Hill Growth Reserve  -  -  -  -  - 

Contribution to Orchards Reserve  -  -  - 

Contribution to Development Plan Reserve  436  300  300  300  300 

Contribution to Waste Reserve  40  -  -  -  - 

Contribution to Job Evaluation Reserve  267  392  532  594  594 

Income reduction as a flat figure inc leisure  600  2,000  2,000  2,000  - 

Loss of leisure income

Increased cost of leisure  2,000 

Net General inflation 569 1,138 1,707 2,276 

Savings from vacancies (300)

Savings from efficiency programme (250) (250) (250) (250)

Other savings - use of SR (250)

Total Revenue Spending  16,686  16,906  17,290  17,937  16,537 

External Funding (RSG)  -  -  -  -  - 

Rates Retention Scheme (RRS) funding (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) (3,400)

HB Admin Grant / LCTS Grant (315) (315) (315) (315) (315)

Council Tax Requirement @  3.0% in 20/21 (10,519) (10,933) (11,399) (11,876) (12,364)

Dividend income LAPF (240) (240) (240) (240) (240)

Collection Fund:

- Council Tax deficit / (surplus) (162)  -  -  -  - 

 -Rates Retention Scheme deficit / (surplus)  581  -  -  -  - 

Contribution from Rate Retention Scheme Equalisation Reserve (581)  -  -  -  - 

Use of General Reserve to balance budget (2,050) (2,018) (1,936) (2,106) (218)

 0 (0)  0  0  0 

 0  0  0  0 

Financing Revenue Spending
Year 0 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Council Taxbase  61,711.6  62,329  63,201  64,086  64,983 

Change in Taxbase 1.65% 1.00% 1.40% 1.40% 1.40%

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Revenue Budget 16,686 16,906 17,290 17,937 16,537

% change in Formula Grant /External Funding -100.0%

External Funding (RSG) 0 0 0 0 0

Rates Retention Scheme (RRS) funding (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) (3,400)

HB Admin Grant / LCTS Grant (315) (315) (315) (315) (315)

Council Tax Requirement (10,519) (10,933) (11,399) (11,876) (12,364)

Dividend income LAPF (240) (240) (240) (240) (240)

Collection Fund:

- Council Tax deficit / (surplus) (162)  -  -  -  - 

 -Rates Retention Scheme deficit / (surplus)  581  -  -  -  - 

Contribution from Rate Retention Scheme Equalisation Reserve (581)  -  -  -  - 

Use of General Reserve to balance budget (2,050) (2,018) (1,936) (2,106) (218)

Total Financing (16,686) (16,906) (17,290) (17,937) (16,537)

Balance [(deficit); /surplus] 0 0 (0) (0) (0)

(16,686) (16,906) (17,290) (17,937) (16,537)

Council Tax at Band D 170.46£    175.41£       180.36£       185.31£       190.26£       

Change from previous year 3.00% 2.90% 2.80% 2.75% 2.65%

Cumulative Balance deficit; / (surplus)

Difference year on year

Council - 30 September 2020 67



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E 
 

 

Governance at Mid Sussex 

Background 

1. The Local Government Act 2000 introduced a requirement for Councils with a 
population of over 85,000 to introduce a Cabinet/Executive model.  The Act also 
introduced recommended Standing Orders and the requirement to have a Constitution 
with some prescribed information. 

2. The reason for the Cabinet or Executive model was to improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of decision taking.  The previous committee system, all reporting to the 
Council, sometimes produced some very long delays in decisions being taken. The 
2000 Act also provided for individual Cabinet Members to take decisions. All such 
Cabinet decisions are subject to a 5 day call in period to the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee. A Forward Plan highlights when decisions are likely to be made. There is 
also an Urgency procedure, involving consultation with the Chairman of the relevant 
scrutiny committee, to ensure decisions can be made very quickly if necessary. 

3. To complement the work of the Executive, Overview and Scrutiny Committees were 
also introduced. Their role can involve both policy formulation and scrutiny and the Act 
envisages a clear separation of roles between the Executive and Scrutiny Committees. 
Councils are required to have at least one Scrutiny Committee. Scrutiny Committees 
make recommendations but do not take decisions. They can enable back bench 
members to take a longer term view of the work and responsibilities of the Council 
through policy development and review.   

4. Full Council is responsible for setting the Budget and Council Tax levels and the 
making of new policies. All functions, excluding planning and licencing, are the 
responsibility of the Executive unless specified otherwise. The planning and licensing 
committees deal with applications in those areas that require determination. Their 
decisions can be challenged within a fixed time by the courts and not by any scrutiny 
process. The Audit Committee has a specific role in relation to the accounts and 
investments and reports to Council. The Standards Committee is charged with 
promoting high ethical standards and determining any Code of Conduct complaints. 

5. The Constitution creates a governance framework to ensure good administration and 
decision-making. It sets out the separation of the duties of officers and members, 
accountability to full council, and the scrutiny and audit processes. Importantly this 
framework has a number of checks and balances built in to safeguard against poor 
ethical standards and protect against impropriety. These arrangements are overseen 
by the officers of the Council and in particular the Monitoring Officer.   

6. The formal structures of councils provide an excellent infrastructure to support 
effective governance. These mechanisms also work most effectively when there is a 
good understanding of the different roles of officers and members and when elected 
members have a solid skill set and experience.  

7. Political group leaders and other key members also have an important leadership role 
to play. They set the tone for how new councillors will engage with each other. They 
set expectations for how new councillors will work with officers and ensure political 
groups understand the Constitution, for example by attending training and briefings. 
Leaders of political groups not only need to model high standards themselves but 
should be quick to address poor behaviour when they see it. 

Council - 30 September 2020 69



APPENDIX E 
 

 

At Mid Sussex 

8. This Cabinet system has operated for the past 18 years.  The current Cabinet 
comprises 7 Members and meets at least 9 times annually. Cabinet decisions can be 
taken by the Cabinet or by individual Cabinet Members. In both cases the decisions 
are subject to call in. The call in period is 5 working days after the publication of the 
decision. Decisions are published in MIS on Wednesday or Friday.  

9. A called in decision can either be referred back to the Cabinet, the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee or to full Council.  The Constitution sets out reasons for calling in decisions.  
These mainly relate to the way a decision was taken rather than the substance of the 
decision itself.   

10. The Cabinet does not deal with planning, licensing and standards issues. At Mid 
Sussex these are dealt with by the Planning Committees, the Licensing Committees 
and the Standards Committee. Of these Committees, the heaviest burden are the 
Planning Committees. There are currently two Planning Committees with 12 members 
each, and approx. 30 meetings annually. This is of course driven by the strict 
timescales for the consideration of planning applications. 

11. Decisions of the Planning Committees, the Licensing Committees and the Standards 
Committee are not subject to call in but can be reviewed by the High Court via the 
judicial review process or by statutory appeal to other courts. 

12. Finally, the Council has an Audit Committee. Its role is to independently review the 
Council’s finances and investments and sign off the Council’s accounts.   

13. The Council currently has three Scrutiny Committees of 15 members each. There is a 
direct relationship between them and the portfolios of Executive Members. They 
undertake the dual role of both scrutinising activities within portfolios and also 
supporting policy development within them. The Council’s corporate performance is 
scrutinised by the Leader, Finance and Performance Scrutiny Committee. More 
detailed work on the specific service areas is carried out by the two remaining Scrutiny 
Committees. There are approx. 15 meetings annually across the three committees. 
Scrutiny Committees can play a useful role in developing new policies or strategies. If 
operated effectively, this can add a richness to the work of the Executive. They also 
scrutinise the effectiveness of the Council’s work and can offer recommendations for 
improvement. 

14. Our standing orders are common to most Councils in the Country given they are based 
on the original recommendations made by the Local Government Act 2000.  Formal 
meetings of the Council are conducted in public and the papers published and 
accessible to the public. The Access to Information Act governs these processes. 

15. Both the Scrutiny Committees and Council can set up task and finish working groups 
and provide them with terms of reference. Their purpose is to enable a small group of 
Members to work alongside officers to achieve a particular piece of work. They work 
best when the work is complex and benefits from technical advice from officers and 
community based perspectives from Members. If operated effectively they can add a 
richness to the policies and strategies developed by the Council. However, they are 
very resource intensive; so do need to operate effectively and with a minimum of 
bureaucracy. They require strong chairing skills. The outcome of their work can form 
the basis of advice to the relevant portfolio holder or be presented back to the 
sponsoring body (Scrutiny Committee or Council) for detailed debate. 

Council - 30 September 2020 70



APPENDIX E 
 

 

16. Finally, it is essential that all the complementary components of governance operate 
efficiently and effectively. Compared to the private sector, they are very resource 
intensive. As all our work is funded by local tax payers, it is essential that governance 
operates effectively, transparently and using the Council’s finite resources to very best 
effect. 

Review of Formal Governance 

17. Given the very significant resource restraints that will apply to the Council going 
forward, it is important that the Council’s governance is proportionate to the resources 
available. In addition, and like other areas of Council activity, there is some useful 
learning from the introduction of virtual meetings and other effects of the pandemic, 
that should be reflected upon. 

18. The Covid-19 crisis has precipitated a highly dynamic operating environment for the 
Council. This is unlikely to change, certainly in the short to medium term and so the 
Council’s governance needs to reflect the agility required to operate in this 
environment. 

19. Governance in local government has some unique characteristics which differentiates 
it from the private and third sectors and central government. This includes the political 
neutrality of officers, the demanding nature of the Access to Information and Freedom 
of Information legislation and the varied portfolio of regulatory, statutory and 
discretionary services and duties. 

20. Developing a governance structure that matches this unusual mixture of 
characteristics, is difficult and the changed operating environment (that Covid-19 has 
created) makes this more important. 

21. The Council has a good track record of keeping its governance arrangements under 
regular review and annual amendments are made to reflect changing needs. However, 
the impact of the crisis has the potential to be so significant, that a more fundamental 
review is needed.  

22. The Council currently averages 104 formal meetings per year. In addition, each formal 
meeting also has a briefing meeting for the Chairman and Vice Chairman (approx. 90 
per year). Despite the demanding nature of the requirements of local government 
governance (transparency, accessibility etc) this is a very considerable time 
commitment for officers and members alike and is not sustainable going forward. 

23. Consequently, it is recommended that an external review is commissioned with a view 
to its findings be reported in time for implementation in the 2021/22 year. In terms of 
methodology, the review will be commissioned from expert advisors and enable full 
participation of all Members and relevant officers.  

24. Overarching principles for the review could be: 

(i) Assisting Members to achieve a good balance between their responsibilities: 
representing ward issues and case work, policy making and scrutiny; 

(ii) Maintaining the highest standards of conduct and ethics; 
(iii) Enabling full participation and enabling the council’s membership to be 

representative of its communities; 
(iv) The potential of technology to assist facilitate access and ensure efficiency; 
(v) A governance framework that is flexible and agile; 
(vi) Draws on best practice; 
(vii) Is highly efficient and effective; 

Council - 30 September 2020 71



APPENDIX E 
 

 

(viii) Considers the current Scheme of Delegation; 
(ix) Considers options for the timing of meetings (bearing in mind the points above). 

 
Short term Changes 

25. The Constitution Working Group 2020 was able to agree some modest changes to the 
operating of the Council’s Planning Committees. They are aimed at simplifying the 
schedule of meetings for the public and other stakeholders. 

26. The Working Group recommended that Planning Committee meetings be scheduled 
for the 2nd and 3rd Thursday each month, rather than the current arrangement.  

27. It is recommended that these changes be implemented for the remainder of the 
financial year but that these arrangements are reviewed by the external review 
recommended above. 

Council - 30 September 2020 72



APPENDIX F 

 

Review of Council Priority Projects (CPPs) for 2020/21 

1. The Council Priority Projects (see Corporate Plan 2.4, pp4-6) were identified in 
planning for 2020/21 because they are projects which directly support the Council’s 
priorities and are likely to involve multiple services and stakeholders, and have 
additional budget needs.  

2. The CPPs have been reviewed as part of the work to revise the Corporate Plan. This 
review has challenged the need for the work in each case and its continuing priority. It 
has then considered, in the context of the Council’s financial position, the scope of the 
work, its timing and the required cost/capacity to enable delivery.  

3. This has enabled the following proposals for revisions to CPPs’ scope and timetable: 

 
1. Local Plan Review:  

(i) This work remains a continuing priority for adoption by 2023 in line with 
commitments in the District Plan and because it is a key enabler of Sustainable 
Economic Growth.  

(ii) The project team are undertaking an initial evaluation to assess the scope of 
review required in the light of the Planning for the Future white paper. 

(iii) The project team will take into account changes in government policy and 
legislation regarding planning. 

2. Household Waste Recycling:  

(i) This work remains a continuing priority because of the need to respond to the 
government Resources & Waste Strategy and required changes in waste 
recycling, including 55% recycling by 2025.   

(ii) A full service redesign – also including the contracted street cleansing services – 
will continue as planned. This will be a comprehensive review of the waste 
collection offer and will draw on the corporate approach to service redesign as 
outlined in the main report.  

(iii) This work, in partnership with the contractor Serco, will deliver a business case 
for the future operation of the service addressing legislative requirements and 
enabling improved value for money. The business case will be brought forward 
for consideration by Members in the usual way. 

(iv) The planned trial collection of food waste and absorbent hygiene products as 
part of a 123 collection arrangement will no longer be delivered, but the 
approach will be included in the service redesign (see (ii) above). 

3. The Orchards Shopping Centre:  

(i) This work remains a continuing priority in support of Sustainable Economic 
Growth and for council income generation. Specific reserve for this project to be 
retained and expected capital expenditure of up to £5m to be retained in the 
medium term financial plan.  

(ii) Work will continue to deliver a feasibility study and business plan for the Centre, 
and to propose physical and commercial development at the site. 

Council - 30 September 2020 73



APPENDIX F 

 

(iii) The outputs of this work will be presented for decision during this financial year, 
enabling future plans and revenue and capital costs to be confirmed.  

(iv) This work must take account of emerging trends within the retail sector as the 
impact of the pandemic on it becomes clearer. 

4. Enabling Full Fibre Infrastructure:  

(i) This work remains a key priority in support of Sustainable Economic Growth by 
delivering Full Fibre digital connectivity infrastructure which enables business to 
flourish.  

(ii) The fibre programme has expanded in scope over time, including a recent 
successful bid to the Government’s ‘Getting Building Fund’ for the Rural 
Connectivity Programme of £3.2m. The projects overall now include over 80km 
of fibre, running through the district, funded through grants of £9.5m. This very 
significant inward investment has been secured via the Council’s successful 
bidding strategy and its reputation for expertise in this area within Government 
and the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  

(iii) The aim is to accelerate fibre and mobile connectivity deployment to towns, 
villages and rural communities. The work will connect the growth and innovation 
zones within the area, stimulating innovation and business growth; 

(iv) This work is vital to support businesses in Mid Sussex and the Covid-19 recovery 
effort. 

5. Sustainability Action Plan:  

(i) The existing actions in the Sustainability Strategy for this year will be delivered 
as planned.  

(ii) In reviewing the Sustainable Economic Growth priority, it is proposed to respond 
to the Government’s economic recovery strategy by revising and merging the 
Economic Development and Sustainability Strategy to direct an emphasis on 
support for those sectors most significantly impacted, and on driving a green 
recovery.  

(iii) Having scoped the project in 2020/21, the detailed work will be delivered in 
2021/22.  

6. Parks Investment:  

(i) The work planned for 2020/21 will be delivered as planned because of the role 
parks and open spaces play in the health and wellbeing of local people and in 
supporting Covid-19 recovery.   

(ii) Improvements are funded from s106 allocations and are not expected to require 
any additional capital allocation.  

(iii) Project progress is good in spite of the challenges brought by Covid-19; phase 1 
park masterplans are moving to implementation and phase 2 commencing; 
playground improvements in progress at three parks and planned for a further 
four.  

(iv) The project is scheduled to complete in June 2021.  

Council - 30 September 2020 74



APPENDIX F 

 

7. Provision of Sites for Gypsies & Travellers:  

(i) This work remains a continuing priority project because of its importance to 
maintaining strong and resilient communities and in meeting the Local Plan 
objective to provide the amount and type of housing that meets the needs of all 
sectors of the community. 

(ii) Continuing to progress the planning application for Copthorne site and to 
improve the site at Bedelands.  

(iii) Work at Copthorne and Bedelands will be funded by s106 contributions secured 
for this purpose and from Homes England grant funding. There will be a limited 
call on the Council’s capital funds. 

8. Temporary Accommodation:  

(i) The work will continue as planned. Given the issues highlighted throughout this 
report, this is vital.  

(ii) Demand has increased as a result of Covid-19 and is likely to increase further 
once the restrictions on possession orders are lifted. 

(iii) Acquisition of TA provision provides a benefit in mitigating the additional revenue 
cost of nightly paid temporary accommodation provision.  

(iv) The project has entered a new phase since the agreement by the Council on 24th 
June 2020 to fund the acquisition of a further five properties – four have since 
been acquired and to acquire ten units of accommodation for vulnerable single 
homeless people. A capital bid will be made later in the year to support the 
acquisition of the ten further units. 

Council - 30 September 2020 75



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX G 

 

 
Quarter 1 2020/21 Performance Report 
 
 

 

PI Status 

 
OK – on target 

 
Warning –slightly off target (up to 10%) 

 
Alert – off target (over 10%) 

 
Data Only 

 

 

 
   

 
 

Community Portfolio - Cllr Norman Webster 

 

Building Control 
 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

The percentage of plans received 

by Building Control which are 

checked within 15 working days 

87% 99% 87%  99% 87%  

Q1 20/21 - 197 plans checked  

Q1 19/20 – 251 plans checked 

Building Control Site inspections 

carried out within 24 hours of 

date requested. 

99% 99% 99%  99% 99%  

Q1 20/21 – 1,063 inspections 

Q1 19/20 – 2,143 inspections 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

77



APPENDIX G 

 

 

Community Services, Policy and Performance 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Anti-social behaviour cases 

resolved within 3 months as a 

percentage of those referred 

Data 

only 
60%   59.4%   

41 out of 64 ASB cases in Q1 were resolved 

within 3 months. 
 
 

Overall Crime Rate per 1000 
Data 

only 
12.79   N/A   

Crime data for June is awaited from the Home 

Office. 

Number of health and wellbeing 

interventions delivered 
1,700 624 520  151 150  

The revised Q1 targets for health and wellbeing 

interventions in 2020/21 have been agreed with 

West Sussex Public Health.  Due to implications 

of COVID-19 social distancing, face to face 

interventions are not possible and the Wellbeing 

Team are adapting to provide phone and virtual 

support. 

Proportion of health and wellbeing 

interventions resulting in health 

improvement 

80% 87% 80%  92% 80%   

Number of families worked with 

for the Early Intervention Project. 

Data 

only 
14   14    

Environmental Health 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Proportion of Environmental 

Health service requests which are 

actioned and resolved within 3 

months of receipt 

96% 95% 96%  96% 96%  

Q1 20/21 – 764 service requests 

Q1 19/20 – 656 service requests 

 

Percentage of Environmental 

Health service requests responded 

to within 5 working days 

97% 100% 97%  98% 97%  

Q1 20/21 – 1,420 service requests 

Q1 19/20 – 1,512 service requests 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

78



APPENDIX G 

 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Disabled Facilities Grants 

completed 

Data 

only 
137   35    

Land Charges 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

The percentage of Local Authority 

Searches replied to within 5 

working days 

96% 100% 96%  99% 96%  

Q1 20/21 - 514 searches 

Q1 19/20 – 688 searches 

Legal and Member Services 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

The percentage of agendas which 

are published on the website 5 

days before a meeting 

100% 100% 100%  100% 100%   

Number of legal cases which are 

live as at the end of each month 

Data 

only 
434   503    

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

79



APPENDIX G 

 

 

Customer Services Portfolio - Cllr Ruth de Mierre 

Customer Services and Communications 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Number of Complaints received 
Data 

only 
56   39   

A breakdown of the main services in receipt of 

complaints in Q1 is shown below, together with 

an indication of their major causes: 

Waste = 13 (temporary suspension of the garden 

waste service, alleged crew behaviour, problems 

with collections of recycling and communal bins) 

Revenues = 12 (calculation of Council Tax 

liability, Business Rates relief, payment schedule) 

Parking = 4 (reintroduction of parking charges) 

Planning = 2 (tree removal application, lack of 

planning enforcement) 

Recovery = 2 (alleged incorrect summons and 

court costs) 

Housing Needs = 2 (allocation of temporary 

housing). 

Average waiting time (in seconds) 

to speak to a customer services 

officer for all services answered in 

the Customer Contact Centre, 

including switchboard. 

30 20 30  16 30  

The Customer Services Centre received: 

Q1 20/21- 15,717 calls. 

Q1 19/20 – 20,809 calls. 

As well as switchboard, the Centre receives 9 

Council services direct line calls, including 

Building Control, Electoral Services, Parking 

Services and Waste Management.  In addition, 

Centre staff also dealt with 1,995 personal callers 

to reception, compared to 8.753 in Q1 last year.  

Due to the pandemic, reception at Oaklands has 

been closed to visitors except for those needing 

emergency support such as Housing Needs. 

Percentage of enquiries resolved 

at point of Contact 
75% 93% 75%  92% 75%   

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

80



APPENDIX G 

 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Number of Compliments received 
Data 

only 
117   174   

Breakdown of the main services in receipt of 

compliments in Q1: 

Customer Services & Communications = 67 

Waste and Outdoor Services = 52  

Development Management = 19  

Revenues = 18  

Corporate Estates & Facilities = 4  

Benefits = 3  

Digital = 3 

Number of e-forms submitted 

directly by the public 

Data 

only 
6,082   4,906    

Monthly customer satisfaction 

scores 
80% 100% 80%  100% 80%  

Customer satisfaction is being measured by 

phoning back a sample of customers who had 

contacted the Customer Service Centre to gain 

their feedback on how the call was dealt with. 

Percentage of complaints 

responded to within published 

deadlines 

100% 93% 100%  89% 100%  

The deadline for responding to complaints is to 

acknowledge within 5 days and respond within 10 

working days.  Performance was affected by the 

impact of COVID-19 arrangements in April. 

Human Resources 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Staff sickness absence rate (days 

cumulative) 
8 7.61 8  1.35 2.25   

Staff turnover 12% 10.16% 12%  1.62% 2.5%   

Ethnic Minority representation in 

the workforce - employees 

Data 

only 
3.8%   4.0%    

Percentage of Employees with a 

Disability 

Data 

only 
7.0%   7.0%    

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

81



APPENDIX G 

 

 

ICT and Digital 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

The percentage of ICT help desk 

service requests completed within 

the target time agreed with the 

customer 

95% 94% 90%  95% 95%  

Q1 20/21 – 1,352 service requests 

Q1 19/20 – 1,499 service requests 

Percentage of ICT helpdesk calls 

outstanding 
20% 21% 20%  20% 20%   

Freedom of Information Requests 

responded to within 20 working 

days 

100% 98% 100%  100% 100%  

Q1 20/21 – 141 FOI requests 

Q1 19/20 - 181 FOI requests 

Revenues and Benefits 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Speed of processing - new 

Housing Benefit claims 
20 19 20  20.7 20  

Q1 20/21 - 135 claims processed 

Q1 19/20 – 115 claims processed 

Speed of processing - new Council 

Tax Support claims 
20 18.6 20  17.2 20  

Q1 20/21 – 1,205 claims processed 

Q1 19/20 – 323 claims processed 

Speed of processing - changes of 

circumstances for Housing Benefit 

claims 

8 4.3 8  5.9 8  
Q1 20/21 – 4,532 adjustments  

Q1 19/20 – 4,356 adjustments 

Speed of processing - changes of 

circumstances for Council Tax 

Support claims 

8 7.7 8  6.2 8.0  

Q1 20/21 – 5,689 adjustments 

Q1 19/20 – 4,621 adjustments  

A revised Council Tax Reduction Scheme based on 

a banded income approach has been introduced 

for 2020/21. 

Percentage of Council Tax 

collected 
98.9% 98.3% 98.9%  29.1% 29.9%  

Q1 20/21 - £34,119,254 collected 

Q1 19/20 - £32,708,279 collected 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

82



APPENDIX G 

 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Percentage of Non-Domestic 

Rates Collected 
98.1% 95.3% 98.1%  24.3% 28.1%  

Q1 20/21 - £7,158,598 collected. 

Q1 19/20 - £13,824,727 collected. 

Business Rates collection has been affected by 

local businesses closed or impacted by the virus 

and social distancing.  Some businesses have 

received grants and a business rates payment 

holiday for 2020/21. 

LA Overpayment Error 
£112, 

799 

£44, 

121 

£119, 

209  £9,325 £28,199   

Accuracy in Assessment 92.0% 93.6% 92.0%  94.3% 92.0%   

 

Deputy Leader Portfolio – Cllr Judy Llewellyn-Burke 

 

Finance 

 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Percentage of undisputed invoices 

paid within 10 days of receipt 
95.0% 96.1% 95.0%  96.4% 95.0%  

Q1 20/21 - 828 invoices 

Q1 19/20 -1,326 invoices 
 

Property and Asset Maintenance 

 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

The percentage of rent due 

collected 
97% 95% 97%  84% 97%  

Collection rates reflect difficulties experienced by 

the Council’s commercial property tenants due to 

the lockdown, especially the retail sector. 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

83



APPENDIX G 

 

 

Economic Growth Portfolio – Cllr Stephen Hillier 

 

Economic Development 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Footfall in the Orchards Shopping 

Centre, Haywards Heath 

Data 

only 
-4.6%   -57.5%   

Footfall reduced from 1,198,505 in Q1 of 19/20 

to 509,508 in Q1 20/21.  The decline reflects the 

impact of the COVID-19 lockdown and is 

consistent with the decline in footfall nationally 

during that period. 

Micro business grants – funds 

awarded compared to total grant 

received 

100% 100%   Scheme not yet available 

It has been agreed with West Sussex County 

Council and other District and Boroughs to delay 

the launch of the microbusiness grant scheme, 

which is likely now take place in the Autumn.  It 

has also been agreed to remove any time limit on 

spending the grant funding, reflecting the delayed 

start and giving the flexibility for the scheme to 

continue into the next financial year if needed. 

Parking Services 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Cancellation rate of Penalty 

Charge Notices 
7% 8% 7%  3% 7%  

 

 
 

The percentage of pay and display 

transactions made by cashless 

payments 

39% 38% 37%  45% 39%   

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

84



APPENDIX G 

 

 

Environment & Service Delivery Portfolio – Cllr John Belsey 

 

Landscapes 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

% Satisfaction with the grounds 

maintenance service 
95% 96% 95%  N/A 95% N/A 

Contractor IdVerde was unable to carry out 

satisfaction surveys due to COVID-19 and social 

distancing restrictions 

Leisure Services 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

The number of visits made to the 

Leisure Centres and Civic Halls 

1,709, 

000 
423,135 305,526  

Facilities closed and 

memberships suspended. 

The Council’s leisure centres closed on 21st March 

on Government instructions. By the end of June a 

reopening date has not been agreed. 

Sustainability 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Greenhouse gas emissions from 

Council buildings (kg) 
310,340 164,919 125,861  48,754 77,585  

Targets are for a 3% reduction per annum. A 

temporary significant reduction in gas and 

electricity use has occurred due to partial or 

complete closure of sites due to COVID-19 in Q1. 

Usage of Council-owned electric 

vehicle charging points in public 

car parks (in kWH)  

Data 

only 
5,033   4,309    

Number of Electric Vehicle 

Charging Points per 100,000 

population 

34 14.7 14.7  14.7 14.7  

There are currently 22 charging points across the 

District. The target for 2020/21 takes account of 

the programme of 26 additional charging points 

to be provided in Council car parks in quarter 4. 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

85



APPENDIX G 

 

 

Waste and Street Cleansing Services 

 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

% satisfied with refuse collection, 

recycling collection and street 

cleansing 

89% *N/A 87% N/A 93% 89%  *No survey in Q4 last year. 

Amount of waste per household 

which is disposed of in landfill 

sites (kilos) 

410 108 102  114 102  

The amount of waste going to landfill has been 

affected by an increase in kerbside tonnages 

collected, which is due to COVID-19 and more 

people at home.  Litter collection also increased 

in June compared to previous months. 

Percentage of household waste 

sent for reuse, recycling and 

composting 

47% 40% 45%  45% 47%  

Performance in Q1 was affected by the four-week 

suspension in the garden waste service between 

13 April and 11 May. 

Number of subscriptions to green 

waste composting 

Data 

only 
20,008   20,079    

Number of missed collections per 

100,000 
50 41 75  48 50   

% of relevant land assessed as 

having below acceptable levels of 

litter 

6% 9% 4%  N/A 6% N/A 
These indicators are not reported in quarter 1 as 

the condition assessments are completed over 4 

months, 3 times a year. % of relevant land assessed as 

having below acceptable levels of 

detritus 

8% 4% 6%  N/A 8% N/A 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

86



APPENDIX G 

 

 

Housing and Planning Portfolio – Cllr Andrew MacNaughton 

 

Development Management 

 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Validation of planning applications 

within 5 working days 
98% 96% 98%  72% 98%   

The average time taken to 

process planning applications 
65 64 65  62 65  

Q1 20/21 - 479 total applications processed 

Q1 19/20 - 680 total applications processed 

Costs awarded against the Council 

where the decision of the Council 

is overturned at Planning appeal 

Data 

only 
£00   £00    

Processing of planning 

applications: Major applications 
85% 100% 80%  100% 85%  

Q1 20/21 – 8 major applications 

Q1 19/20 – 13 major applications 

Processing of planning 

applications: Minor applications 
85% 100% 85%  99% 85%  

Q1 20/21 – 83 minor applications 

Q1 19/20 – 96 minor applications 

Processing of planning 

applications: Other applications 
94% 99% 94%  100% 94%  

Q1 20/21 – 256 other applications 

Q1 19/20 – 291 other applications 

Planning appeals allowed 33% 19% 33%  0% 33%   

Planning Enforcement site visits 

made within 10 days of complaint 
90% New Performance Indicator  82% 90%  

This has proved to be a challenging target in Q1 

due to the Covid-19 pandemic, including 

difficulties visiting some sites due to the 

Government restrictions. 

 
 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

87



APPENDIX G 

 

 

Housing 

 

 
2020/21 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21 

Latest Note 
Target Value Target Status Value Target Status 

Number of households assisted to 

access the private rented sector 
76 77 75  9 19  

Performance against targets for homelessness 

and use of temporary accommodation in Q1 have 

been affected by the of COVID-19 pandemic.  

These include Government directions for the 

Council to house all rough sleepers and to extend 

the provision of temporary accommodation to all 

homeless households including those where there 

is no longer a legal requirement to assist.  

Number of households accepted 

as homeless 
90 26 20  21 22  

Number of households living in 

temporary accommodation 
85 83 85  92 85  

Number of households in nightly 

paid temporary accommodation 
35 48 17  44 35  

The average amount of time a 

household has spent in temporary 

accommodation overall when they 

leave following the acceptance of 

a full homelessness duty (days) 

300 273 250  223 300  

Number of affordable homes 

delivered (gross) 

Data 

only 
214   2    

The % of policy compliant section 

106's signed in the year on sites 

that meet the affordable housing 

threshold 

90% 89% 85  100% 90%   

 
 
  

 

 

 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

88



APPENDIX H 

 

Proposed changes to Performance Indicator Targets for 2020/21 

Service Area  
 

Performance Indicator Original 
target 

Revised 
target 

Reason for Proposed Change  

Revenues and 
Benefits 

Percentage of Council Tax collected 98.9% 98.6% Predicted impact of Covid-19 on collection of Council Tax from 
residents not working; noting also the challenge of enforcement, 
including lack of access to and backlog experienced by magistrate 
courts. 

Percentage of Non-Domestic Rates 
collected  

98.1% 92.0% Predicted impact of Covid-19 on collection of Business Rates from 
local businesses closed or impacted by the virus and social 
distancing.  Whilst many businesses have received grants and a 
business rates payment holiday for 2020/21 many have not.  
Examples of this are businesses around Gatwick Airport.  As with 
Council Tax collection, there are implications for enforcement action 
and use of court action as the Council cannot currently obtain a 
Liability Order to enforce. 

Speed of processing new Housing Benefit 
claims 

20 days 23 days Covid-19 has seen a large intake in people on Benefits, which is 
likely to continue through the year considering the numbers 
furloughed or made redundant.  This will have implications for the 
number of complex Housing Benefit claims the Council still has to 
administer despite the roll out of Universal Credit.  This will mean 
that processing will take longer. 

Housing 
Needs 

Number of households accepted as 
homeless 

90 

Change all 
PIs to data 

only 
without 
targets 

Government directions for the Council to house all rough sleepers 
and to extend the provision of temporary accommodation to all 
homeless households will have an impact on housing performance.  
It is proposed that the original targets for homelessness and use of 
temporary accommodation are removed, while retaining reports of 
performance for each indicator for monitoring purposes. 

Number of households living in temporary 
accommodation 

85 

Number of households in nightly paid 
temporary accommodation 

35 

The average amount of time a household 
has spent in temporary accommodation 
overall when they leave following the 
acceptance of a full homelessness duty 

300 days 

Number of households assisted to access 
the private rented sector 

76 

Community Number of Health and Wellbeing 2,250 1,700 Covid-19 social distancing requirements have meant that face to face 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

89



APPENDIX H 

 

Services, 
Policy and 
Performance 

interventions delivered interventions are not currently possible.  The Wellbeing Team are 
adapting to provide phone and virtual support. The change to the 
target has been agreed with West Sussex Public Health who 
commission the service. 

Development 
Management 

Planning enforcement site visits made 
within 10 days of complaint 

90% 80% This is a new indicator for 20/21.  The target originally proposed is no 
longer achievable due to Covid-19, including difficulties visiting some 
sites under the current Government restrictions.  

Leisure 
Operations 

The number of visits made to the Leisure 
Centres and Civic Hall 

1,709,000 Data  
only 

The Government instructed leisure facilities to close from 21st March 
2020.  The timing of their reopening and the capacity of the centres 
at that time means that the original target is no longer relevant.  
Reporting of performance will be maintained. 

Waste & 
Street 
Cleansing 
Services 

% satisfied with refuse collection, 
recycling collection and street cleansing 

89% 87% Feedback on the level of service during the first quarter has been 
mixed with those surveyed satisfied with the response to the 
pandemic significantly elevating quarter one results. Indications are 
that this level of positivity has not been maintained as services have 
been suspended or pared back during the pandemic. A drop in 
satisfaction levels is expected overall.  

 Percentage of household waste sent for 
reuse, recycling and composting 

47% 46% It is expected that this figure will drop as a result of the four-week 
suspension in garden waste service (between 13 April and 11 May) 
and the postponement of the 1-2-3 collection trial. We do not expect 
the additional recycling generated as more people stay at home to 
close this performance gap.  

 Amount of waste per household which is 
disposed of in landfill sites (kilos) 

410 460 As more people stay at home during the pandemic, the amount of 
waste going to landfill has increased. We expect the amount of waste 
collected to remain high as social distancing measures continue into 
the autumn. 

Landscapes % Satisfaction with the grounds 
maintenance service 

95% 93% This measure will not be taken for the first quarter of 2020/21 as 
surveys are conducted face-to-face. There has been a slight 
increase in complaints early in the pandemic; but support for and 
enjoyment of parks and open spaces has flourished as the pandemic 
has progressed. A slight drop in satisfaction is a possibility.  
 

Economic 
Development 

Micro business grants – funds awarded 
compared to total grant received 

100% Data  
only 

It has been agreed with West Sussex County Council and other 
District and Boroughs to delay the launch of the microbusiness grant 
scheme.  It is expected to be launched in Autumn 2020.  It has also 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

90



APPENDIX H 

 

been agreed to remove any time limit on spending the grant funding, 
reflecting the delayed start and giving the flexibility for the scheme to 
continue into the next financial year if required.  

Property The percentage of rent due collected 97% Data  
only 

Rent collection to the target is being affected by difficulties 
experienced by the Council’s commercial property tenants, especially 
the retail sector, due to the Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown.  
Reporting of performance will be maintained. 

Land Charges, 
Building 
Control & 
Planning 
Support 

Validation of planning applications within 
5 working days.  Change to Validation of 
planning applications within 7 days. 

98% 96% Changes are proposed to extend validation to within 7 working days 
and reduce the target to 96% due to reduced staff availability from 
Covid-19, including vulnerable staff members unable to work from 
home. 

Environmental 
Health 

Proportion of Environmental Health 
service requests which are actioned and 
resolved within 3 months of receipt 

96% 94% Covid-19 has introduced new areas of responsibilities for the 
Environmental Team and together with Test and Trace prevention 
and outbreak work, there has been an increase in service requests.  
Work will be prioritised to manage capacity.  Percentage of Environmental Health 

service requests that are responded to 
within five working days 

97% 95% 

 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

91



APPENDIX H 

 

 
Performance Indicators where no changes to targets for 2020/21 are proposed 

Service Area  
 

Performance Indicator Target 

Revenues and 
Benefits 

Speed of processing - new Council Tax Support claims 20 days 

Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for Housing Benefit claims 8 days 

Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for Council Tax Support claims 8 days 

LA Overpayment Error £112,799 

Accuracy in Assessment 92% 

Housing Enabling Number of affordable homes delivered Data only 

The % of policy compliant section 106's signed in the year on sites that meet the affordable housing 
threshold 

90% 

Community 
Services, Policy and 
Performance 

Proportion of health and wellbeing interventions resulting in health improvement 80% 

Anti-social behaviour cases resolved within 3 months as a percentage of those referred Data only 

Number of families worked with for the Early Intervention Project Data only 

Sustainability Greenhouse gas emissions from Council buildings (kg) 310,340 

Number of Electric Vehicle Charging Points per 100,000 population 34 

Usage of Council-owned electric vehicle charging points in public car parks (in kWH)  Data only 

Development 
Management 

The average time taken to process planning applications 65 days 

Processing of planning applications: Major applications within 13 weeks 85% 

Processing of planning applications: Minor applications within 8 weeks 85% 

Processing of planning applications: Other applications within 8 weeks 94% 

Planning appeals allowed 33% 

Costs awarded against the Council where the decision of the Council is overturned at Planning 
appeal 

Data only 

Cost to the Council for Planning Applications not determined within 26 weeks Data only 

Planning Policy & 
Economic 
Development 

Footfall in the Orchards Shopping Centre, Haywards Heath Data only 

Waste & Street 
Cleansing Services 

Number of subscriptions to green waste composting Data only 

Number of missed collections per 100,000 50 

% of relevant land assessed as having below acceptable levels of litter 6% 

% of relevant land assessed as having below acceptable levels of detritus 8% 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

92



APPENDIX H 

 

Land Charges, 
Building Control & 
Planning Support 

The percentage of Local Authority Searches replied to within 5 working days 96% 

Parking Cancellation rate of Penalty Charge Notices 7% 

The percentage of pay and display transactions made by cashless payments 39% 

Environmental 
Health 

Disabled Facilities Grants completed Data only 

Building Control The percentage of plans received by Building Control which are checked within 15 working days 87% 

Building Control Site inspections carried out within 24 hours of date requested. 99% 

Customer Services 
& Communications 

Number of Complaints received Data only 

Percentage of complaints responded to within published deadlines 100% 

Monthly customer satisfaction scores 80% 

Number of Compliments received Data only 

Average waiting time (in seconds) to speak to a customer services officer for all services answered in 
the Customer Contact Centre, including switchboard. 

30 seconds 

Percentage of enquiries resolved at point of Contact 75% 

Number of e-forms submitted directly by the public Data only 

Legal, Member 
Services and 
Elections 

The percentage of agendas which are published on the website 5 days before a meeting 100% 

Number of legal cases which are live as at the end of each month 
Data only 

Finance Percentage of undisputed invoices paid within 10 days of receipt 95% 

ICT & Digital The percentage of ICT help desk service requests completed within the target time agreed with the 
customer 

95% 

Percentage of ICT helpdesk calls outstanding 20% 

Freedom of Information Requests responded to within 20 working days 100% 

Personnel & 
Training 

Staff sickness absence rate – days per full-time equivalent 8 

Staff turnover 12% 

Ethnic Minority representation in the workforce Data only 

Percentage of employees with a disability Data only 

 

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, 
Finance and Performance on  26 August 2020 

from 4:00 p.m. to 6:19 p.m. 
 
Present:   

Alison Bennett Jim Knight 
Heidi Brunsdon Andrew Lea 
Roger Cartwright Chris Phillips 
Phillip Coote* Mike Pulfer 
Rachel Cromie* Lin Stockwell 
Anne Eves* Colin Trumble 
Simon Hicks Rex Whittaker 

 Rodney Jackson 
 
 

Anne Boutrup 
 
 

    John Dabell                    Paul Brown 
 
* Absent 
 
Also present : Cllrs Chapman, Clarke, de Mierre, Gibson, Hatton, Henwood, MacNaughton 
and Webster.  
 
Also present (as Cabinet Member): Cllr Ash-Edwards and Cllr Llewellyn-Burke. 
 
1. ROLL CALL AND VIRTUAL MEETING EXPLANATION 
 
 The Chairman carried out a roll call to establish attendance at the meeting. The 

Solicitor to the Council provided information on the format of the virtual meeting. 
 
2. TO NOTE SUBSTITUTES IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE 

RULE 4 - SUBSTITUTES AT MEETINGS OF COMMITTEES ETC.  
 

Councillor Brown substituted for Councillor Eves,  Councillor Dabell substituted for 
Councillor Cromie and Councillor Boutrup substituted for Councillor Coote. 

 
3.  TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 
 

Apologies were received from Councillors Coote, Cromie and Eves. 
  
4. TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS FROM MEMBERS IN RESPECT 

OF ANY MATTER ON THE AGENDA. 
 
Councillor Heidi Brunsdon and Councillor Andrew Lea declared an interest in Item 7 
as they are Members of West Sussex County Council. 
 

 
5. TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS HELD ON 17 JUNE 2020. 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 June 2019 were agreed as a 

 correct record and electronically signed by the Chairman. 
 
6. TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS THAT THE CHAIRMAN AGREES TO TAKE AS 

URGENT BUSINESS. 
  

Council - 30 September 2020 95



 None. 
 
7. REVISED CORPORATE PLAN 2020/21. 
 

The Chairman noted the effect of the pandemic on the residents of Mid Sussex. He 
highlighted that through sound budget management the Council was in a better 
position than some other councils.  

  
 Kathryn Hall, Chief Executive introduced the report and noted that it is unprecedented 

to revise the Corporate Plan and Budget during the financial year.  She highlighted the 
four main impacts of the pandemic: additional duties were placed on the Council by 
the Government as a direct result of the pandemic and these had not been planned 
for; there had been noticeable change in service demand, an unanticipated shift in how 
residents access the Council’s services, and significant impact on the Council’s 
finances, primarily significant income reduction. It is essential to revise the Plan and 
financial strategy to account for the impact of the pandemic.  The Plan has been 
revised using the Council’s priorities as a framework and includes recovery plans for 
remainder of the current year and as a basis for the Corporate Plan for 2021/22. 

 
 The Leader of the Council reminded Members that the budget had been agreed in 

March just before lockdown.  The environment planned for was very different to the 
current circumstances and it was right to make changes.  The Council has performed 
well during the crisis and this must be built on. The Council must be able to respond to 
changes in how residents access the services, continue to support community groups 
and vulnerable residents. He confirmed the revised Corporate Plan and Budget is a 
covid recovery plan and also sets the ground work for next year’s plan. 

 
 APPENDIX A – SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC GROWTH & APPENDIX B – STRONG 

AND RESILIANT COMMUNITIES  
 
 Judy Holmes, Assistant Chief Executive introduced Appendix A and confirmed that the 

Plan used the Council’s current corporate priorities and is a blend of refocussed work 
and some modest new activities, to support post Covid recovery. 

 
 Discussion was held on joint ventures for town centre regeneration, progress on the 

Full Fibre project, prioritising housing development, the Orchards marketing strategy, 
renegotiations of Section 106 agreements and  food hygiene inspections.  

 
The Assistant Chief Executive commented that a flexible approach to regeneration was 
vital.  She confirmed that the Full Fibre project has been tendered and is in the process 
of being delivered.  The marketing strategy was an aim for the Council pre Covid-19.  
It aims to secure inward investment to support a growing, recovering economy. In 
relation to s106 renegotiations the Government asked local authorities to work 
positively with developers to renegotiate Section 106 agreements. 
 

 The Leader confirmed the Council is open to proposals but needs to be able to balance 
the ability to leverage investment and risks to tax payer. He noted viability concerns 
with projects at the current time and reiterated that the Council has a good track record 
of partnership working.    

 
 The Chief Executive reminded Members that the funding of the Full Fibre project had 

been secured from the Government and the LEP.  The route starts north of Brighton 
and passes through Burgess Hill and Haywards Heath, Horsham and ends in Crawley.  
She confirmed that some private providers are looking to provide full fibre in East 
Grinstead.  The project is stimulating the market. 

Council - 30 September 2020 96



 
Tom Clark, Head of Regulatory Services highlighted that the Food Safety Team had 
been working with food establishments to ensure they were Covid secure before 
reopening.  

 
Discussion was held on extended working hours and delivery of affordable  housing, 
progress on green infrastructure projects,  governance,  future funding for town centre, 
high street projects, village growth and employment opportunities.   
 
The Assistant Chief Executive noted that the Council maximises opportunities for 
affordable housing.  She confirmed that the Council encourages development to 
provide more than policy compliance in the provision of affordable housing, for 
example, one development on Council owned land will be 100% affordable housing. 
The Council works with other statutory bodies to bring forward their land.  The 
Emergency Access Travel Fund was made available for Highways Authorities to work 
with local Councils across West Sussex to identify projects that could be completed 
quickly as part of Covid19 recovery to encourage people to return to work and school.  
A range of proposals were put forward and West Sussex selected the East Grinstead 
project in Mid Sussex.  She noted that the Government issued a tranche of funding to 
improve High Streets to make them safer, and to encourage the return of shoppers, 
no further funds were expected.  
 

 Several Members congratulated Officers on producing the report whilst dealing with 
the pandemic.  

 
 The Chief Executive highlighted that as an employer, the Council supports its staff to 

re-skill as situations change and provides opportunities for apprenticeships.  The 
Council works with many agencies and key education establishments across West 
Sussex to provide facilities for young people and adult learners.  She noted that 
included the Chichester College Group who will reopen Haywards Heath College next 
month.  The Chief Executive and Leader also sit on the Greater Brighton Economic 
Board.  She advised that private investors prefer to invest in the housing market rather 
than undertake commercial investment as the returns are higher.  The Council does 
promote employment sites in the villages and provides support for the Parish Councils.   

 
 Members discussed the future planning white paper, merging economic and 

sustainability strategies, changes in working practices, the resilience to withstand a 
second wave of the pandemic, further revisions to the Corporate Plan, enforcement 
action for debts, and recognition of the Armed Forces in allocating housing  
 
The Chief Executive advised that Officers will produce a technical response to the 
future planning white paper as this was normal practice.  It would then be published in 
MIS.  The merging of economic and sustainability strategies will raise the profile of 
work on sustainability and produce a more rounded perspective.  She confirmed that 
there are a range of appropriate governance processes in place to enable the Council 
to keep the revised Plan under review.  The committee was informed that this was a 
high-level report on refocussed objectives.  
 
The Assistant Chief Executive advised that Breathing Space is a national initiative 
which allows debtors 60 days to pay the Council or agree a repayment schedule before 
enforcement action starts.  She confirmed that the Council does recognise the Armed 
Forces community in the housing allocation scheme and would continue to do so in 
any review. 

 

Council - 30 September 2020 97



 The Chairman permitted a question from an observing Member, who asked how the 
Council could encourage developers to use green energy in housing schemes.   
 
The Assistant Chief Executive confirmed that District Plan policy DP39 requires 
developers to incorporate sustainable development in their schemes.  The Mid Sussex 
Design Guide also encourages sustainable development.  
 
APPENDIX C- EFFECTIVE AND RESPONSIVE SERVICES 
 
The Chief Executive introduced the report by advising that the Council’s services to 
the community needed to be redesigned in light of changing demands and preferences 
highlighted by the pandemic.  The pandemic has meant that work in this area has been 
accelerated.  Officers are seeking to address the impact on the Council’s finances by 
using a blend of reserves and reduction in costs, the latter saving £1m over the next 4 
years.  
 
Discussion was held on the how the changes in employee working practices would be 
embedded, service provision, potential for digital fraud, the white paper on unitary 
authorities, shared services and choice of suppliers.  
 
The Chief Executive confirmed that under the Covid Secure guidelines it was not 
possible for all Council employees to work from the offices and some would 
permanently change to working from home some of the week.   She noted that remote 
working has been highly effective, indeed productivity gains had been achieved. She 
highlighted that  the Management Team are surveying staff and would consult fully 
with Unison, the public sector union.   The Members would receive a further update 
later in the year, the intention is to promote the positive aspects and minimise any 
negative perceptions of home working.  It was acknowledged that not all staff would 
have suitable facilities to work from home, and some might have a mix of office and 
home working. The social aspect of going to work was acknowledged. 
 
It was highlighted that the use of reserves would ensure no cut in services this year. 
As a result of the pandemic the Council would carry out different activities and work 
differently.   She acknowledged that the waste food pilot could not proceed as planned 
because of the extra duties the pandemic placed upon West Sussex County Council 
and Serco.  It was confirmed though, that a redesign of waste services would 
incorporate the option of a food waste service for the whole District.  In respect of e-
forms the Committee were informed that the Revenues and Benefits Department have 
systems to identify and to deal with potential fraud.  
 
The Leader noted the Government’s view on unitary authorities and advised that the 
white paper would be carefully scrutinised.   
 
A Member thanked the Democratic Services team for their very considerable work in 
support of virtual meetings. The Chairman agreed with the Member.  
 
The Chief Executive noted that the benefits to users of the new model for working 
should be viewed in the longer term in order to provide services at the best value to 
the tax payer.  The Council already operates shared services with other local 
authorities. 
 
The Head of Regulatory Services advised that choosing a supplier is a legal exercise 
and local suppliers can be added.  The Council looks at the most economically 
advantageous bid.  
 

Council - 30 September 2020 98



As there were no further questions the Chairman moved to recommendation (i) that 
the Committee consider and comment on the Recovery Plans outlined in Appendices 
A to C, which was agreed unanimously by e-vote. 
 
At 5:31pm the Committee took a 2-minute recess, the meeting resumed at 5:33pm. 
 
APPENDIX D – FINANCIAL INDEPENDENCE – IMPACT OF THE COVID-19 
CRISIS 
 
Peter Stuart, Head of Corporate resources introduced the report. He noted that the 
Corporate Plan and Budget had been agreed just prior to lockdown.   The appendix 
sets a new base line for 2020/21 and a budget guidelines report for 2021/22.  He 
confirmed that the figures did not include inflation, the tax base would be re-
calculated once figures were updated, and that the Government policies are still 
emerging.  The issue is the significant reduction in income.  The strategy is to 
assume a return to a new stable position over the medium term, the funding gap 
would be bridged using general reserves and revenue savings. He confirmed the 
Council has reserves to fund the shortfall and the Council has chosen to support the 
leisure operator over the next four years.  He noted the Council’s track record 
regarding fraud, there had been none since 1993 apart from a minor occurrence last 
year.   The risk of fraud to the Council is low as the cash handling contracts are 
outsourced, the Council has good internal and external audit processes  and robust 
controls are in place.   He reminded Members that some Specific Reserves are there 
to finance particular projects 
 
Discussions were held on the useable capital receipts reserves, clarification of the 
accumulation of reserves by Business Units and the income reduction figure for leisure,  
specific reserves, the health of the town centres, effect of the end of the furlough 
scheme on Council Tax  receipts, the predicted pre-pandemic budget deficit, risk 
reporting and the corporate risk register.    
 
The Head of Corporate Resources commented that there are some assets which will 
yield capital receipts.  The reduction in income will be partially mitigated by the 
Government income protection scheme but for this year only. 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources confirmed that the pandemic had been added to 
the corporate risk register.  The deficit that had been previously predicted was due to 
the Fair Funding Review and review of Non-Domestic Business Rates, and it was 
doubtful it would be implemented in the current circumstances.  The gross figures 
were correct at the end May 2020 but had now changed, due to the income 
protection scheme. 
 
The Chairman for the Audit Committee commented that he had discussed the matter 
of fraud with the Head of Corporate Resources and he reassured Members that the 
Council has robust systems in place.  
 
As there were no further questions the Chairman moved to recommendation (ii): that 
the Committee consider and comment on the Council’s financial strategy and 
Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) outlined in Appendix D, which was agreed 14 
votes in favour and 1 abstention as the Member lost connectivity during the debate.  
 
APPENDIX E – GOVERNANCE AT MID SUSSEX 
The Chief Executive briefly introduced the report.   
 

Council - 30 September 2020 99



As there  were no questions the Chairman moved to recommendation (iii) : that the 
Committee consider and comment on the proposed Governance Review (Appendix 
E) and its overarching principles, which was agreed unanimously by an e-vote. 
 
APPENDIX F – REVIEW OF COUNCIL PRIORITY PROJECTS FOR 2020-21 
 
Discussion was held on including sports pitches in the parks investment programme, 
the sustainability action plan and capturing changes in carbon emissions. 

 
As there were no questions the Chairman moved to recommendation (iv): that the 
Committee consider and comment on the Council’s Corporate Priority Projects 
(Appendix F), which was agreed by an e-vote with 14 votes in favour and 1 abstention.  
 
APPENDIX G – QUARTER 1 2020-21 PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 
Discussions were held on changes to the performance targets, surveying customers 
using online services and complaint monitoring, data for EVCs, changes in residents 
recycling habits and site visits by planning officers. 
 
The Chief Executive advised that the performance indicator was only listed in the 
appendix if it had been amended.  Any learning from complaints is fully embedded. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive advised that due to Government  restrictions unless 
there was an urgent need to attend site visits, these were avoided on the grounds of 
safety.  However, this did depend on the nature of the site and officers had to continue 
to practise social distancing measures.   The performance indicator is only a target and 
it was hoped to exceed the target.  
 
A Member commented that the Council has a refined suite of indicators and they 
remain appropriate even though there has been a change in the working practices. 

 
As there were no questions the Chairman moved to recommendation (v): that the 
Committee consider and comment on the proposed changes to performance indicators 
as outlined (Appendix H), which was agreed unanimously by an e-vote. 
 

8. QUESTIONS PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 10, DUE NOTICE OF 
WHICH HAS BEEN GIVEN. 

 
 None. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 6.19 pm. 
 

Chairman.  
 

Council - 30 September 2020 100



 
 

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Mid Sussex District Council Cabinet 
held on Monday 14 September 2020 

from 4.00 pm – 5:38pm 
 
 

Present: J Ash-Edwards (Chair) 
J Llewellyn-Burke (Vice-Chair) 

 
 

J Belsey 
R de Mierre 
 

S Hillier 
A MacNaughton 
 

N Webster 
 

Also Present: Councillors  P Brown, P Chapman, R Eggleston, A Eves, R 
Bates, R Salisbury and I Gibson 

 
The Leader introduced the meeting and advised that only Cabinet Members and 
Senior Officers have their cameras turned on but other Democratic Services Officers 
and observers are present at the meeting.   
 

1. VIRTUAL MEETINGS EXPLANATION  
 
The Leader conducted the roll call to confirm the Members present. 
 
Tom Clark, Head of Regulatory Services, advised that new regulations have been 
introduced to enable the Council to hold its meetings to include those participants 
attending remotely. To ensure the smooth running of such remote meetings it has 
been necessary to amend some of the Council procedure rules and such rules have 
been amended in accordance with urgency powers in the scheme of officer 
delegation to keep the Constitution legally updated. 
 

2. TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FROM MEMBERS IN RESPECT OF 
ANY MATTER ON THE AGENDA.  
 
No declarations were made. 
 

3. TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  
 
No apologies were received. 
 

4. TO CONFIRM MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 19  AUGUST 
2020.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 August 2020 were agreed as a correct record.  
 

5. TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS THAT THE LEADER AGREES TO TAKE AS URGENT 
BUSINESS.  
 
The leader had no urgent business. 
 

6. REVISED CORPORATE PLAN AND BUDGET 
 
Kathryn Hall, Chief Executive, introduced the report which set out revisions to the 
Council’s Corporate Plan 2020/21 to reflect the impact of the Covid-19 crisis. She 

Council - 30 September 2020 101



 
 

 
 

noted that the report was subject to debate at the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, 
Finance and Performance with the minutes of meeting attached as an appendix to 
the report.  
 
The Deputy Leader referred to the debate at the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, 
Finance and Performance. She noted the financial impact of the crisis on the Council. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Community supported the report. He commented that as the 
nation rebuilds both nationally and locally there are opportunities to create a society 
with a less negative environmental impact than previously and welcomed the 
inclusion of environmental responsibilities alongside economic responsibilities in the 
report.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment and Service Delivery welcomed the revision of 
the waste service provision targets and looked forward to both the waste service 
redesign and proposals to improve the walk and cycle routes in the District.  
The Cabinet Member for Economic Growth outlined that he has seen a greater sense 
of community amongst residents. He was pleased and impressed to see the 
sustainable economic growth programme appear in the report and to still see the 
aspiration to develop the A2300 travel corridor in Burgess Hill.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning commended the comprehensive and 
well written document. He drew attention to the impact of the crisis on the planning 
and housing services. 
The Leader believed that the Council needs the Recovery Plans. He mentioned the 
need to learn lessons to see how people have changed in their interaction with the 
Council. He too highlighted the financial impact of the crisis on the Council. He 
proposed an amendment to Recommendation 4ii on P.7 of the report adding at the 
end ‘and ask officers to review the level of these aspects and report to the 21/22 
Corporate Plan process’. He explained that the additional wording was included as 
work will be starting shortly on the Corporate Plan 21/22 which will be able to provide 
better information on the revenue savings and use of reserves. 
 
He took the Members to the recommendations, contained in the report and amended 
recommendation which were agreed unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
The Cabinet considered and commented on: 

 
(i) The Recovery Plans outlined in Appendices A to C; 
(ii) The advice and suggested changes to the Council’s financial strategy and 

Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) outlined in Appendix D, specifically the 
use of reserves and revenue savings to help deal with the impact of the crisis; 
and ask officers to review the level of these aspects and report to the 21/22 
Corporate Plan process. 

(iii) The proposed Governance Review (Appendix E) and its overarching 
principles; 

(iv) The advice about the Council’s Corporate Priority Projects (CCPs) in 
Appendix F; 

(v) The performance of the Council during the first quarter of this year (Appendix 
G) and proposed changes to performance indicators as outlined in Appendix 
H; and 

(vi) The comments of the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and 
Performance. 

Council - 30 September 2020 102



 
 
 
  PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS 2020/21 
 

REPORT OF: Tom Clark, Head of Regulatory Services and Monitoring 
Officer 

Contact Officer: Lucinda Joyce – Senior Democratic Services Officer  
 Email: lucinda.joyce@midsussex.gov.uk  Tel: 01444 477225 
Wards Affected: All 
Key Decision No 
Report to Council – 30 September 2020 

 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To approve the revised Programme of Meetings for the remainder of 2020/21. 
 
Recommendations  
 
2. It is recommended that the Programme (attached to this report as Appendix 1) be 

approved.   
 
 
 
Background  
 
3. Each year the Council sets a Programme of Meetings, which has been prepared on the 

same basis as the previous year unless otherwise instructed. In December 2019 the 
Council agreed the Programme for 2020-21.  
 

4. In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, new regulations came into effect on 4 April 2020 
to allow Councils to hold meetings remotely via electronic means. As such, Council and 
Committee meetings currently occur with appropriate Councillors participating via a 
remote video link, and public access via a live stream video through the Mid Sussex 
District Council’s YouTube channel. 
 

5. It has been necessary to review the Programme of Meetings to accommodate the 
additional administrative requirements needed to facilitate remote meetings successfully 
and to address urgent business needs against the constantly changing backdrop of the 
pandemic. 
 

6. Recent months have demonstrated that meetings now have a longer duration.  In light of 
Government Covid-19 restrictions for the coming months, the programme of meetings is 
based on the requirement for virtual meetings to continue for the remainder of 2020-21. 
 

7. The Counsitutional Working Group 2020 agreed some modest changes to the operating 
of the Council’s Planning Committees, and their recommendation is that the Planning 
Committee’s be scheduled on the 2nd and 3rd Thursday of each month from October 
2020 onwards.   
 

 
 

Council - 30 September 2020 103

Agenda Item 9

mailto:lucinda.joyce@midsussex.gov.uk


Financial and Other Material Implications 
 

8. This report has no financial or other material implications.   
 
 

Background Papers 
 

9. None 

Council - 30 September 2020 104



APPENDIX 1 

 
                   Programme of Meetings October 2020 to May 2021           

 2020-2021 Programme 

Date Meeting Time 

Wed 7 Oct Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic 
Growth 

4.00 pm 

Thu 8 Oct Planning Committee 4.00 pm 

Mon 12 Oct Cabinet 4.00 pm 

Thu 15 Oct District Planning Committee 2.00 pm 

Mon 19 Oct Cabinet Grants Panel  4.00 pm 

Tue 3 Nov Member Training 6.00 pm 

Wed 4 Nov Council 6.00 pm 

Wed 11 Nov  Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance 4.00 pm 

Thu 12 Nov Planning Committee 4.00 pm 

Tue 17 Nov Audit Committee 6.00 pm 

Wed 18 Nov Scrutiny Committee for Community, Customer Services and 
Service Delivery 

4.00 pm 

Thurs 19 Nov District Planning Committee 2.00pm 

Mon 23 Nov Cabinet   4.00 pm 

Mon 23 Nov Standards Committee  6.00 pm 

Wed 25 Nov Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic 
Growth 

4.00 pm 

Wed 9 Dec Council 6.00 pm 

Thu 10 Dec Planning Committee 4.00 pm 

Mon 14 Dec Cabinet Grants Panel 4.00 pm 

Thu 17 Dec District Planning Committee      2.00 pm 

Mon 11 Jan  Cabinet 4.00 pm 

Tue 12 Jan Member Training 6.00 pm 

Wed 13 Jan Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance 4.00 pm 

Thu 14 Jan Planning Committee 4.00 pm 

Wed 20 Jan Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic 
Growth 

4.00 pm 

Thu 21 Jan District Planning Committee 2.00 pm 

Wed 27 Jan Charity Trustees (if required) 5.45 pm 

Wed 27 Jan Council 6.00 pm 

Tue 2 Feb Licensing Committee 6.00 pm 

Wed 3 Feb Scrutiny Committee for Community, Customer Services and 
Service Delivery 

4.00 pm 

Mon 8 Feb Cabinet   4.00 pm 

Thurs 11 Feb Planning Committee 4.00 pm 

Thu 18 Feb District Planning Committee     2.00 pm 

Tue 23 Feb Cabinet Grants Panel  4.00 pm 

Tue 2 Mar Audit Committee 6.00 pm 

Wed 3 Mar Council (budget)   6.00 pm 

Mon 8 Mar Cabinet  4.00 pm 

Mon 8 Mar Standards Committee  6.00 pm 

Tue 9 Mar Member Training 6.00 pm 

Wed 10 Mar Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance  4.00 pm 

Thurs 11 Mar Planning Committee 4.00 pm 

Wed 17 Mar Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic 
Growth 

4.00 pm 

Thu 18 Mar District Planning Committee 2.00 pm 

Wed 24 Mar Scrutiny Committee for Community, Customer Services and 
Service Delivery 

4.00 pm 

Wed 31 Mar Council     6.00 pm 

Thu 8 Apr Planning Committee      4.00 pm  

Council - 30 September 2020 105



APPENDIX 1 

 
Thurs 15 Apr District Planning Committee 2.00 pm 

Mon 10 May Cabinet 4.00 pm 

 

Council - 30 September 2020 106



 

 

PROPOSED TOILET PROVISION ON LINDFIELD COMMON 
 
REPORT OF: Head of Corporate Resources 
Contact Officer: Christopher Coppens, Property Lawyer and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

and Katarina Luksic, Graduate Estates Surveyor 
Email: christopher.coppens@midsussex.gov.uk Tel: 01444 477213 
Email: katarina.luksic@midsussex.gov.uk Tel: 01444 477577 

Wards Affected: Lindfield 
Key Decision No 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to: 

 
a. To consider a request from Lindfield Parish Council (“Parish Council”) for 

consent from the District Council, as statutory managers of Lindfield 
Common under the Scheme of Management made on 8th June 1900 
(“the Scheme”), to build a public convenience block on the Common in 
accordance with planning permission issued by the Local Planning 
Authority under DM/19/0071; and to place two grit bins, two noticeboards 
and a lamp post on the Common (‘the proposed works’); 
 

b. To consider a request from the Parish Council to support the Parish 
Council in an application to the Planning Inspectorate for consent 
required under Section 38 of the Commons Act 2006 in respect of the 
proposed works; and 
 

c. To note the implications of giving consent under the Scheme, the effect of 
consent from the Planning Inspectorate and the principal of granting a 
lease of the areas on Lindfield Common required for the construction of 
the public convenience block and the placing of the grit bins, the 
noticeboards and the lamp post on the Common, which will be 
considered by the Cabinet at a later date. 

  
Summary 
 
2. Lindfield Common is a registered Common, owned by the District Council and 

managed by the District Council under a Scheme of Management made 
under the Commons Act 1899.  

 
3. The Parish Council have obtained planning permission for the construction of 

a public convenience block on Lindfield Common to the north of the Car Park 
at Lindfield Bowling Club on Backwoods Lane in the area edged in blue on 
the plan. The Parish Council also wish to place one grit bin in each of the two 
locations marked with a red “G” on the attached plan, to install two 
noticeboards in the location marked with a red “I" on the plan, and to install a 
lamp post in the location marked with a green “L” on the plan.   Lindfield 
Common has not had any public conveniences since 2005. The closest public 
conveniences to the Common are located in Denmans Lane. The Parish 
Council requires consent from the District Council under the Scheme of 
Management and as owners of the Common. 

 
4. The District Council has to consider the impact of the proposed development 

of the public conveniences and the placing of the grit bins, the noticeboards 

Council - 30 September 2020 107

Agenda Item 10

mailto:christopher.coppens@midsussex.gov.uk
mailto:katarina.luksic@midsussex.gov.uk


 

 

and the lamp post with regard to the rights and privileges under the Scheme 
of Management and has to decide whether to support the Parish Council’s 
application to the Planning Inspectorate and whether to consent to the works 
under the Scheme of Management and as owner of the Common. As owner 
of the Common the District Council’s consent is integral to the Parish 
Council’s application, as the Planning Inspectorate will not issue consent 
without it. 

 
5. If the District Council, is minded to support the application, and if the Planning 

Inspectorate issue consent, it will be necessary to grant a lease of the land 
required to accommodate the public convenience block, the grit bins, the 
noticeboards and the lamp post. However, the final decision on whether the 
proposed works can proceed rests with the District Council’s Cabinet, as they 
will need to consider the grant of the proposed lease, at a later date, once the 
District Council has complied with its statutory duties under Section 123 of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 

 
6. Members are recommended to approve the proposed works under the 

Scheme of Management, to support the Parish Council’s application to the 
Planning Inspectorate and to agree, in principle, a lease of land to 
accommodate the proposed works. 

 
Recommendations  
 
7. It is recommended that: 

 
a. The District Council, as manager of the Common under the Scheme 

of Management, approve and consent to the works detailed in the 
planning permission issued by the Local Planning Authority under 
reference DM/19/0071 and to the installation of two grit bins; two 
noticeboards; and a lamp post in various locations on the Common 
as detailed on the plan;  
 

b. The District Council, as owner of the Common, supports the Parish 
Council’s application to the Planning Inspectorate in respect of the 
proposed works and to advise the Planning Inspectorate 
accordingly; 

 
c. Subject to (b) above the District Council, as owner of the Common, 

agree, in principle, to the grant of a long lease of the areas of land at 
Lindfield Common to the Parish Council to accommodate the 
proposed works as detailed in the planning permission issued by 
the Local Planning Authority under reference DM/19/0071 and this 
report, subject to a report to the District Council’s Cabinet on the 
detailed terms of the lease and subject to compliance with the 
requirements of Section 123(2A) of the Local Government Act 1972; 

 
d. The Head of Regulatory Services and Solicitor to the Council be 

authorised to make further representations to the Planning 
Inspectorate as required in line with the District Council’s decision 
in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Council; 
and 

 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

Council - 30 September 2020 108



 

 

Background  
 
8. Lindfield Common is statutory common land. It was originally owned by the 

Earl of Chichester and was known as the waste of the Manor of South 
Malling, Lindfield.   On 8th June 1900, the District Council’s predecessor, the 
Cuckfield Rural District Council, made a Scheme of Management pursuant to 
the Commons Act 1899, which was approved by the Board of Agriculture on 
21st June 1900.  A copy of the Scheme of Management and a copy of the 
Plan of registration showing the extent of the Common subject to the Scheme 
of Management are annexed to this report Appendix 1. 
 

9. On the 15th April 1924 the Earl of Chichester conveyed ownership of the main 
body of the Common, but not Lindfield Pond and the verge to the north of 
Black Hill Road to Lindfield Parish Council.   Lindfield Parish Council was 
abolished in 1934 by virtue of an executive order of Parliament namely, the 
East Sussex Review Order 1934 and the ownership of the Common vested in 
Cuckfield Rural District Council, as the statutory successors to Lindfield 
Parish Council. 
 

10. The Scheme of Management and ownership of the Common vested in Mid 
Sussex District Council on 1st April 1974, as the statutory successor to 
Cuckfield Rural District Council, by virtue of Local Government Re-
organisation brought about by the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

11. There are three distinct areas of decision making for the District Council to 
consider in respect of this the Common and it use: 
a. as the Local Planning Authority; 
b. as the Scheme Manager; and 
c. as the Landowner. 
 

12. The matter before Members at District Council relates to that second function, 
that as the Scheme Manager. 

 
Parish Council’s Proposals 

 
13. The Parish Council would like: 

 
a. to construct a Public Convenience block on Common Land to the north of 

the car park at Lindfield Bowling Club on Backwoods Lane as detailed in 
the Parish Council’s planning consent, copy of which is annexed to this 
report in Appendix 2; 

 
b. to install a lamp post at the top of the Common by the logs car park. The 

Parish Council would pay for the column, installation, electric charges and 
maintenance for the lamp post, which would match the existing lamp 
posts in the area;  

 
c. to install two oak display boards on the Common. One would display a 

street map of the village and the other would display a list of local by-laws. 
It is proposed that they are located next to the existing display board by 
the logs car park. The Parish Council would pay for the boards, 
installation and any ongoing maintenance and repair; and 

 
d. to place 2 additional grit bins on the Common. 
 

Council - 30 September 2020 109



 

 

Works on the Common 
 

14. On 29th March 2019, the Parish Council was granted planning permission by 
the local planning authority for the construction of a Public Convenience block 
on Common Land to the North of the car park at Lindfield Bowling Club on 
Backwoods Lane. Planning reference: DM/19/0071. The proposed public 
convenience block would measure approximately 5 metres in depth and 7.3 
metres in width incorporating a men’s toilet, a women’s toilet, a disabled toilet 
with baby changing facilities, a unisex toilet, a unisex toilet with baby 
changing facilities, and a storage room. 
 

15. Prior to 2006, in order to carry out development and other works to Lindfield 
Common all that was required was planning permission from the local 
planning authority (or permitted development rights) and the District Council’s 
agreement, as landowner, and as managers of the Common under the 
Scheme of Management. This involved the consideration of a disposal of part 
of the Common for the facilities being provided and compliance with the 
District Council’s statutory duties under the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

16. All that changed on 19th July 2006 when the Commons Act received Royal 
Assent.    Under Section 38 of the Commons Act 2006, all significant works 
on registered Common Land  e.g. any that prevent or impede access to or 
over the Common, and also any resurfacing works, such as a new car park or 
access road require the consent of the appropriate national authority, but 
minor repairs are permissible provided that there is no material change in the 
general appearance of or access to the Common.   In the Commons Act 
2006, works that require consent are referred to as ‘restricted works’ and 
include the erection of fencing; the construction of buildings and other 
structures and the digging of ditches and trenches and the building of 
embankments, so any such works of operations require the consent of the 
appropriate nation authority.    In England the appropriate national authority is 
the Secretary of State, but these powers have been delegated to the Planning 
Inspectorate. 

 
17. The Planning Inspectorate have provided guidance on works and processes 

that do no require Section 38 consent.   Generally, these will be works or 
processes that are so small or of such short duration that they do not impede 
access; do not constitute a new impediment to access; facilitate access or are 
processes (rather than works) that do not need consent because they do not 
impede access.   Examples of such works and processes are: new gates and 
stiles in existing boundaries; erecting small direction signs and information 
boards; setting out areas for sports and games, where these are in keeping 
with the character and traditional use of the land, but excluding any 
permanent structures, and placing seats which are in keeping with the 
character and use of the land. 
 

18. As a result, in addition to obtaining planning permission (or permitted 
development rights), the District Council's consent under the Scheme of 
Management and as owner of the Common, the Parish Council now requires 
the consent of the Planning Inspectorate before they can progress the 
proposed works on the Lindfield Common authorised by their planning 
permission (or permitted development rights). 
 

19. The lamp post will not need planning permission as Part 12 Class A of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 

Council - 30 September 2020 110



 

 

Order 2015 as amended allows for the Parish Council to install lamp posts 
(lamp standards) without the need for formal planning permission provided 
they meet the criteria, specifically they do not exceed 4 metres in height. The 
proposed lamp post will not exceed this height.  However, notwithstanding 
that planning permission will not be required, any works that change the 
general appearance of the Common or impede the rights of access to each 
and every part of the Common fall within the scope of restricted works and 
therefore, consent from the Planning Inspectorate will be require for the 
erection of the lamp post on the Common. 
 

20. There already exists, information signage about the Common, that has been 
erected by the District Council and the proposed signage is concerned about 
providing information about the village as opposed to the Common and 
therefore, there is a question mark as to whether the proposed noticeboards 
fall within the scope of works and processes that do not need Planning 
Inspectorate consent.   The Parish Council will be making an application for 
Planning Inspectorate consent for the proposed Public Convenience block 
and the lamp post, so it would be prudent for the Parish Council to include 
request for consent for the noticeboards. 
 

21. Any works that change the general appearance of the Common or impede the 
rights of access to each and every part of the Common fall within the scope of 
restricted works and therefore, consent from the Planning Inspectorate will be 
required for the placing of the grit bins on the Common.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
22. There are no costs associated with this report save for some minor Estates 

and Legal costs. 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 
23. Construction of the Public Convenience block will lead to a temporary 

disturbance to the Common during construction works but this will be set out 
in the Parish Council’s agreement and will be fully reinstated to the District 
Council’s satisfaction upon completion. 

Equality and customer service implications  
24. An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and whilst the proposals 

to increase the “bulk” on the Common, there are retained many access points 
to the Common for those using wheelchairs and pushchairs. The grit bins and 
lamp post and the notice boards, given their size and location, will marginal 
impact on users of the Common. The provision of the public convenience 
block to be situated on the Common will impact on the accessible open space 
available for public use, but given the size of the public convenience block in 
relation to the overall size of the Common the loss of accessible open space 
is very small and will be counteracted by the provision for public 
conveniences including the provision of disabled toilets which will enhance 
and make the Common more accessible and a more pleasant place for users 
of the Common. 

 
Legal Implications 

 
Scheme of Management 
 

Council - 30 September 2020 111



 

 

25. Paragraph 5 of the Scheme of Management provides that the inhabitants of 
the district and neighbourhood have a right of free access to each and every 
part of the Common, for air and exercise, and the privilege of playing games 
and enjoying other species of recreation on the Common, subject to any bye-
laws affecting the Common. 
 

26. Paragraph 3 of the Scheme of Management provides that the Council may 
execute works of drainage, raising, levelling, or fencing or other works for the 
protection or improvement of the Common so far as is necessary for the 
purposes of the Commons Act 1899.   The Scheme also provides that the 
Council may otherwise make the Common more pleasant as a place for 
exercise and recreation, but shall do nothing that may otherwise vary or alter 
the natural features or aspect of the Common, or interfere with free access to 
ever part thereof.  Officers believe the proposed toilets are in compliance with 
the Scheme of Management because they facilitate the use of the common by 
the public. 
 

27. It should be noted however, that Section 42 of the Commons Act 2006 
provides that where a Scheme of Management under the Commons Act 1899 
is in place and works that require the consent of the Planning Inspectorate 
under Section 38 of the Commons Act 2006 are prohibited under the Scheme 
of Management, and the Scheme of Management does not allow for any 
person (other than the owner of the soil) to give consent, works carried out 
under a consent issued by the Planning Inspectorate will not contravene the 
prohibition contained in the Scheme of Management.   This does not remove 
the requirement for the Parish Council to seek the Council’s consent under 
the Scheme of Management or requirement for the Council to consider their 
request, as managers of the Common under the Scheme of Management, but 
it would seem to make the Council’s decision on whether or not the Council is 
able to authorise the works under the Scheme of Management academic, as 
any consent from the Planning Inspectorate would override the restrictions, if 
any, in the Scheme of Management.   This is a logical outcome of the 
Commons Act 2006, as the applications to the Planning Inspectorate are 
subject to advertising and public consultation, whereas applications under the 
Scheme of Management are not.   This being the case, all that the Council 
need do is decide whether the Council supports the Parish Council’s 
proposals. 
 

Public Open Space 
 
28. As with any other formal recreation land, Lindfield Common is public open 

space for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972.   This being the 
case, any proposed lease of land to the Parish Council will be subject to the 
Council complying with Section 123(2A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
which provides that the Council must advertise its intension to dispose of land 
consisting or forming part of an open space for two consecutive weeks in a 
local newspaper inviting comments from those who may object to the 
proposed disposal.   The Council’s Cabinet must then consider those 
comments very carefully and must decide whether or not to grant the lease. 
 

 
 

Council - 30 September 2020 112



Council - 30 September 2020 113

katarina.luksic
Text Box
APPENDIX 1



Council - 30 September 2020 114



Council - 30 September 2020 115



Council - 30 September 2020 116



Mr Andrew Funnell
Mr Stephen Manning
Gould And Company
2 Lucastes Mews
Paddockhall Road
Haywards Heath
West Sussex
RH16 1HE

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE) 
(ENGLAND) ORDER 2015

PERMISSION

REFERENCE: DM/19/0071

DESCRIPTION: THE CONSTRUCTION OF A PUBLIC CONVENIENCE BLOCK ON 
COMMON LAND TO THE NORTH OF THE CAR PARK AT 
LINDFIELD BOWLING CLUB ON BACKWOODS LANE.

LOCATION: LAND NORTH OF, LINDFIELD COMMON BOWLING GREEN CAR 
PARK, BACKWOODS LANE, LINDFIELD

DECISION DATE: 29 MAR 2019

CASE OFFICER: HAMISH EVANS - HAMISH.EVANS@MIDSUSSEX.GOV.UK

The Council hereby notify you that they GRANT planning permission for the above 
development to be carried out in accordance with the submitted application and plans and 
subject to compliance with the following conditions:-

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Approved Plans

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans
listed below under the heading "Plans referred to in consideration of this application".

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

Oaklands Road
Haywards Heath
West Sussex
RH16 1SS

Switchboard: 01444 458166
Fax: 01444 477461

DX 300320 Haywards Heath 1
www.midsussex.gov.uk

Council - 30 September 2020 117

katarina.luksic_1
Text Box
APPENDIX 2



Pre-commencement conditions

3. The development hereby permitted shall not commence unless and until details of
the proposed foul and surface water drainage and means of disposal have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The building
shall not be occupied until all the approved drainage works have been carried out in
accordance with the agreed details.

Reason: To ensure that the proposal is satisfactorily drained and to accord with the
NPPF requirements and Policy DP41 of the Mid Sussex District Plan (2014 - 2031)
and the Lindfield and Lindfield Rural Neighbourhood Plan.

4. No development shall commence unless and until there has been submitted to an
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority sample and details of facing
materials and finishes to be used for external walls, roof and doors of the proposed
building.

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail
in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve buildings of visual quality and
to accord with Policy DP26 of the District Plan 2014 - 2031

5. The toilet block hereby permitted shall not be open for use except between the hours
of:

           0700 to 2100 hours from 1st March to 1st October and;
           0700 to 1800 hours from 2nd October to the end of February.

           unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: to protect the amenity of local residents and to comply with Policy DP26 of 
the Mid Sussex District Plan 2014 - 2031.

INFORMATIVES

1. In accordance with Article 35 of the Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has
acted positively and proactively in determining this application by assessing the
proposal against all material considerations, including planning policies and any
representations that may have been received and subsequently determining to grant
planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable
development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. Your attention is drawn to the requirements of the Environmental Protection Act 1990
with regard to your duty of care not to cause the neighbours of the site a nuisance.

Accordingly, you are requested that:

- Hours of construction/demolition on site are restricted only to: Mondays to Fridays
0800 - 1800 hrs; Saturdays 0900 - 1300 hrs; No construction/demolition work on
Sundays or Public Holidays.
- Measures shall be implemented to prevent dust generated on site from crossing the
site boundary during the demolition/construction phase of the development.
- No burning of materials shall take place on site at any time.

Council - 30 September 2020 118



If you require any further information on these issues, please contact Environmental 
Protection on 01444 477292.

Human Rights Implications
The planning application has been considered in light of statute and case law and any 
interference with an individual's human rights is considered to be proportionate to the aims 
sought to be realised.

Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application
The following plans and documents were considered when making the above decision:

Plan Type Reference Version Submitted Date
Location and Block Plan H3739.1.101 08.01.2019
Proposed Floor Plans H3739.1.110 08.01.2019
Proposed Floor and Elevations Plan H3739.1.111 08.01.2019
Topographical Survey 001 08.01.2019
Topographical Survey 002 08.01.2019
Topographical Survey 003 08.01.2019
Topographical Survey Layout 08.01.2019

Divisional Leader for Planning and Economy

NB: IT IS IMPORTANT THAT YOU SHOULD READ THE NOTES ACCOMPANYING THIS 
FORM

PEFULZ

Council - 30 September 2020 119



APPEALS TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Notes for Applicants

If you are aggrieved by the decision of your Local Planning Authority to refuse permission for 
the proposed development or to grant it subject to conditions, then you can appeal to the 
Secretary of State for the Environment under Section 78 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

If you want to appeal against your local planning authority’s decision then you must do so 
within 6 months of the date of this notice.

However, if

(i) this is a decision on a planning application relating to the same or substantially the same
land and development as is already the subject of an enforcement notice, and you want
to appeal against your local planning authority’s decision on your application, then you
must do so within 28 days of the date of this notice; or

(ii) an enforcement notice is subsequently served relating to the same or substantially the
same land and development as in your application and if you want to appeal against
your local planning authority’s decision on your application, then you must do so within:

 28 days of the date of service of the enforcement notice, or
 within 6 months (12 weeks in the case of a householder appeal) of the date of this

notice, whichever period expires earlier.

Appeals can be made online at: https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate.
If you are unable to access the online appeal form, please contact the Planning Inspectorate 
to obtain a paper copy of the appeal form on tel: 0303 444 5000.

The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal but will not 
normally be prepared to use this power unless there are special circumstances which 
excuse the delay in giving notice of appeal.

The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if it seems to the Secretary of State that 
the local planning authority could not have granted planning permission for the proposed 
development or could not have granted it without the conditions they imposed, having regard 
to the statutory requirements, to the provisions of any development order and to any 
directions given under a development order.   

Council - 30 September 2020 120

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Council - 30 September 2020 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Title:
Comment:

MID SUSSEX DISTRICT COUNCIL
CONVEYANCING PLAN

Printed: 17-5-2019 Map Centre (Easting:Northing): 534749:125053 Scale: 1:2700

© Crown copyright and database right. All rights reserved (100021794) 2019 © Contains Ordnance Survey Data : Crown copyright and database right 2019

APPENDIX 3

C
ouncil - 30 S

eptem
ber 2020

123

katarina.luksic_2
Text Box
L



T
his page is intentionally left blank



RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CABINET – 14 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 

1. BUDGET MANAGEMENT 2020/21 – PROGRESS REPORT APRIL TO JULY 2020 

Cabinet considered the progress on the Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and Revenue 

Projects and Treasury Management for 2020/21. 

Summary 

1. The forecast revenue outturn position for 2020/21 at the end of July is showing a 
projected net overspend of £4,241,000 against the original budget, after the use of 
Covid-19 Emergency Funding totalling £1,708,000, as outlined in paragraph 26 of The 
Cabinet report. 

2. As previously reported, this level of overspend is unprecedented for Mid Sussex, but is 
not uncommon for shire districts this year as a direct result of the Covid pandemic 
adversely affecting all sources of income.  However, since the last Budget Management 
Report to Cabinet in July, the Government has announced the Local government income 
compensation scheme for lost sales, fees and charges to help fund these losses.  Based 
on our latest forecast we estimate to receive £2,176,000 (to the nearest £’000) in 
Government funding in 2020/21, which will partly mitigate the net overspend highlighted 
above, reducing the net overspend for the year to £2,065,000. Further detail is set out 
in paragraph 30 of the Cabinet report. 

3. Lastly, following a review of the planned use of Specific Reserves it is proposed that a 
further £1,851,000 (to the nearest £’000) is transferred back to General Reserve to help 
mitigate the forecast overspend.  Officers will continue to look at ways to mitigate the 
remaining forecast net overspend as the year progresses. 

 

Recommendations  

4. That Council approval: 

(i) that £504 grant income relating to New Burdens funding to meet costs of 
implementing Local Allowance changes be transferred to General 
Reserve as detailed in paragraphs 33 of the Cabinet report; 

(ii) that £11,630 grant income relating to Rough Sleepers Initiative be 
transferred to Specific Reserve as detailed in paragraph 34 of the Cabinet 
report; 

(iii) that. £40,000 grant income relating to Neighbourhood Planning be 
transferred to Specific Reserve as detailed in paragraph 35 of the Cabinet 
report; 

(iv) that. £45,000 grant income from the Business Rates Pool received in 
respect of Journey to Work funding be transferred to Specific Reserve as 
detailed in paragraph 36 of the Cabinet report; 

(v) that £10,870 grant income relating to the costs of the move to Individual 
Electoral Registration be transferred to Specific Reserve as detailed in 
paragraph 37 of the Cabinet report; 

(vi) that £46,230 grant income relating to the Planning Performance 
Agreement be transferred to Specific Reserve as detailed in paragraph 38 
of the Cabinet report; 

Council - 30 September 2020 125

Agenda Item 11



(vii) that Specific Reserves be re-designated as detailed in paragraphs 39 to 
44 of the Cabinet report; 

(viii) that Specific Reserves totalling £1,850,959 be transferred to General 
Reserve as detailed in paragraph 29 and Appendix B of the Cabinet report; 

(ix) the variations to the Capital Programme contained in paragraph 52 of the 
Cabinet report in accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure rule 
B3. 

 

 

2. DEMOLITION OF BURGESS HILL LIBRARY  

Cabinet considered the case and arrangements for the demolition of the redundant and empty 

building that housed Burgess Hill Library.   

Background 

1. Burgess Hill Library relocated to a new unit within the town centre and opened in 
December 2019.  Whilst closed due to Covid restrictions, it has quickly established 
itself as a popular and well used facility that makes the most of its town centre location. 

2. The building remains and is clearly now redundant.  The construction and demolition 
industry is now back at work post lockdown and the demolition of this building can 
proceed as previously agreed in principle at a previous meeting of Cabinet. 

3. Officers have worked with specialist advisors, Gardiner and Theobald (G&T), to 
develop a project plan, tender for contractors and advise on all aspects of this 
demolition. 

4. We have worked on the basis of de-risking the project as much as possible through 
pre-contract intrusive surveys and transferring as much remaining risk as possible to 
the contractor, with a view to obtaining a fixed price for the works and minimising the 
possibility of cost over-runs. 

5. The specification for the works also covers the reinstatement of a hard surface to the 
entirety of the site where the Martlets Hall stood and the footprint of the library building.  
This base course layer will mean the site is left safe, clean and tidy and will enable 
other uses such as informal car parking, pedestrian traffic etc to take place. 

6. Longer term, the whole area will form part of the town centre regeneration project and 
will be subsumed into those works. 

Recommendation 

That Council approve: 

(i) the Capital Programme be amended in the sum set out within the 

Cabinet report, to be financed from the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

 

Council - 30 September 2020 126


	Agenda
	4 To confirm Minutes of the meeting of Council held on 19 August 2020.
	8 Revised Corporate Plan 2020/21.
	Appendix A Sustainable Economic Growth
	Appendix B Strong and Resilient Communities
	Appendix C Effective and Responsive Services
	Appendix D Financial Outlook
	Appendix E Governance
	Appendix F CPP Review
	Appendix G Qtr 1 performance report
	Appendix H Proposed PI changes
	Minutes of the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Resources - 26 August 2020
	Minutes of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance on  26 August 2020
	from 4:00 p.m. to 6:19 p.m.

	Extract from the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting - 14 September 2020

	9 Programme of Meetings 2020/21.
	Appendix 1 - Programme of Meetings Oct 2020 to May 2021

	10 Proposed Toilet Provision on Lindfield Common.
	Appendix 1 - Commons Scheme of Management
	Appendix 2 - Decision Notice
	Appendix 3 - Lindfield Common Plan

	11 Recommendations from Cabinet held on 14 September 2020.



